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CORPORATE KILLING 

Accident or corporate killing? The Bhopal disaster has been widely seen as an 

accident whose recurrence could and should be prevented by better safety 

measures. Yet it can hardly be called an accident, in view of the technological 

design and management policies that made the poison gas leak almost 

inevitable. 

Official claims reassured us that such a disaster could not occur in an 

advanced industrialized country. Yet the chemical industryôs crisis soon 

deepened with a similar leak at the Union Carbide Corporation plant at 

Institute, West Virginia, and again with a toxic fire in Basle. 

In this book Tara J ones analyses the crisis management of this relentless 

ócorporate killingô. The first part looks at how the Bhopal disaster was managed, 

in the face of determined popular protest. The second part surveys subsequent 

disasters to document the more general problem of chemical hazards. Jones 

argues that they arise from an industrial system whose priorities ensure the 

recurrence of slow Bhopals and mini-Bhopals, if not full-scale disasters. 

Author of many articles on the chemical industry, óTara Jonesô has been 

involved in campaigns against toxic hazards in Ireland. 
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INTRODUCTION 

óUntil Bhopal the world talked about large-scale chemical disasters as 

a hypothesis - now they are a reality.ô-A senior executive, Chemical 

Industries Association Ltd (quoted in Public Relations, Autumn 1985, 

p. 25) 

The leak of toxic gases at Bhopal, India, in 1984 was the worst chemical disaster 

the world has yet seen. Estimates of those who died in the immediate aftermath 

of the disaster vary from 2,500 to 10,000 people. Apart from the immediate 

casualties, it has been reported that two people still die each week in Bhopal 

from the after-effects of the disaster. The disaster caused not only death but also 

lingering diseases: tens of thousands of people continue to suffer ill effects and 

diseases caused by the toxic gases released on the fateful night of 3 December 

1984. 

Bhopal is the latest in a long line of disasters associated with toxic chemicals: 

Minamata, Flixborough, Seveso, Michigan State, Love Canal, Ixhuatapec, 

Cubatao óand places that never make headlines. The list never endsô.1 These 

toxic disasters are certain to continue as the use of toxic chemicals throughout 

industry increases. New variations on these disasters can also be expected with 

the coming massive use of biotechnology and biochemicals. 

The threat of future Bhopals is in no way confined to peripheral or Third 

World countries. While the three major toxic accidents in 1984 occurred in 

Brazil (Cubatao), Mexico (Ixhuatapec) and India (Bhopal), major accidents in 

process plants occurred in 1985 in the USA at Institute, West Virginia, and in 

the USSR in Chernobyl; more followed in 1986, in the USA (Gore, Oklahoma) 

and Switzerland (Basle), and in 1987 in the USA 
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(Texas City). Thus the hazards associated with toxic chemicals threaten not 

only the peripheral countries but also the metropolitan heartlands of the USA, 

Europe and Japan. 

This book presents an analysis of toxic chemical óaccidentsô from Bhopal to 

Basle, and the changing response to these óaccidentsô by industry and the state. It 

suggests that the source of these óaccidentsô is to be found in the economic and 

management perspectives that control the design and operation of chemical 

process plants. Given that these perspectives still control not only chemical 

process plants, but also other industries which use massive amounts of toxic 

chemicals, it argues that further toxic disasters on the scale of Bhopal are 

inevitable. In places as distant as Killala, Co. Mayo (Ireland), Institute, West 

Virginia (USA), Bombay (India) and Beziers (France), the continued use of toxic 

chemicals poses the threat of future Bhopals. Nor is this threat simply confined 

to petrochemical plants: it also includes the transport and storage of these toxic 

chemicals, and the many other industries that use them. 

However, a full evaluation of the threat that toxic chemicals pose cannot stop 

simply at spectacular outrages such as Bhopal or Seveso. It is necessary also to 

consider not only ópossible Bhopalsô, but also ómini-Bhopalsô and óslow-motion 

Bhopalsô. The former are the smaller leaks of toxic chemicals, which generally 

result in the deaths of only a handful of people, mainly workers and 

fire-fighters. The latter include the normal releases of toxic chemicals into air 

and water, the slow poisoning associated with toxic dumps, and long-term 

exposure of workers and the general population to low levels of toxic chemicals. 

Particularly worrying here are the toxic chemicals, such as teratogens, mutagens 

and transplacental carcinogens, which cross generational barriers, and the 

widespreadpoisoning of mothersô milk. 

The bookôs structure is as follows. It begins with a case study of the 

management of Bhopal as a crisis for both the chemical industry and the Indian 

state. It describes the medical, legal and political struggles that dogged that 

management. It examines the effects of Bhopal on the chemical industry 

world-wide. It then shows how the industryôs attempt to limit the resulting 

crisis to peripheral countries was undermined by the toxic leak at Union 

Carbide Corporationôs plant at Institute, West Virginia, in August 1985. This 

plant was a show-case of supposedly accident-proof technology -yet the analysis 

here reveals the similarities between this leak and the one at Bhopal eight 

months earlier. 
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The book continues with an examination of the chemical industryôs safety 

record. It argues that the complexity of chemical process plants, combined with 

management practices which take workers farther and farther away from any 

control over the work process, makes yet more accidents inevitable. Such 

accidents are ónormalô to the industry. It then returns to further case studies of 

struggles over toxic chemicals and accidents in the USA, South-East Asia and 

Europe. It ends by drawing some tactical lessons for future anti-toxic opposition 

and presenting, in traditional Irish fashion, óa modest proposalô to remedy the 

problems that toxic chemicals pose. 

BHOPAL AS A CRISIS 

Bhopal wasnôt only a disaster, it was also a crisis, a period of change and 

instability requiring careful management. Among the possible consequences of 

Bhopal were the wiping out of Union Carbide Corporation (UCC), major 

expensive regulation of the chemical industry globally, and a drop in the flow of 

capital from metropolitan to peripheral countries for investment in industrial 

production. The crisis Bhopal created was one which required both immediate 

and long-term management. In the management of this crisis, the victimsô needs 

were totally neglected: the predominant priorities were the economic and other 

interests of UCC and the Indian state. In the ensuing macabre dance of death, 

the dead and the walking wounded were left by the wayside, while the main 

protagonists acted to minimize damage to their own interests. 

While Bhopal most obviously created a threat to UCCôs continued existence, 

making it unquestionably a crisis for that company, it also raised problems for 

the whole range of industries using toxic chemicals. Bhopal presented these 

industries with a public-relations crisis. They needed to reassure the general 

public that Bhopal was a rare, chance occurrence that would not be repeated. 

Closely related to this public-relations crisis was a possible economic crisis, as 

lowered public confidence in industryôs ability or willingness to operate safely 

could result in further, expensive state regulation of industry. 

Bhopal represented a major crisis for that vast sector of capitalist production 

whose continued profitability depends on untrammelled use of toxic chemicals. 

Obviously the major sector immediately affected was the petrochemical one, 

though the agricultural sectorôs persistent massive use of toxic chemicals also 

came under immediate attack. The chemical industry had to reassure the 

general public of the industryôs safety and reliability and protect its operations 
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from increased government regulation. The chemical industry had to face the 

danger that it would become óthe nuclear industry of the eightiesô. It had to 

ensure that óWe all live in Bhopalô did not become a rallying cry in the same way 

óWe all live in Harrisburgô became a rallying cry after the Three Mile Island 

nuclear disaster. Bhopal immediately raised public fears regarding the industryôs 

safety to a level never previously reached. The slow poisoning of Seveso and 

Love Canal paled beside the immediate impact of the toxic chemicals released at 

Bhopal, which many commentators compared to Hiroshima or Nagasaki. 

Thus Bhopal required a reaction from the industry not only in India but 

globally. How much energy and money it was necessary to expend to manage 

the crisis varied from country to country. It was in the USA, where opposition 

to toxic industry was greatest and most consistent, that most energy and money 

was expended. The US Chemical Manufacturersô Association (CMA) estimated 

in 1986 that it had spent some quarter of a million dollars on analysing the 

possible effects of Bhopal. In Europe, by way of contrast, the crisis did not 

become of much concern until the fire at Sandozôs Basle plant in November 

1986. In the peripheral countries, the impact of Bhopal was slighter still, though 

the burning to the ground of a possibly polluting industrial plant at Phuket in 

Thailand indicated that the crisis did not pass by the peripheral countries. 

The industryôs strategy was to limit the crisis and to deny the possibility of 

Bhopal recurring. Its immediate response was an attempt to limit the crisis to 

India itself, and if necessary to the peripheral countries in general; at all costs 

the crisis had to be excluded from the metropolitan countries. Thus the industry 

argued that standards - of operation, labour and regulation - were higher in 

metropolitan countries than they were in India; it claimed these higher 

standards would ensure safety even if toxic leaks did occur. When these 

reassurances faltered following the almost-identical leak at Institute, it 

continued to argue that its technology was the best available, but that it was 

impossible to remove human error. Thus the industry attributed the problem to 

inefficient humans screwing up superb technology; that is, the technology was 

faultless, the workers were to blame. 

Bhopal also represented a crisis for the Indian state. In Bhopal itself, it was 

essential that the crisis be limited, that the situation return to normality as soon 

as possible, that the peopleôs anger be contained, mollified and ultimately 

repressed, and that financial cost to the state be minimized. But the crisis was 

more than a public-health crisis and it was not limited to Bhopal. It was also an 
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economic and political crisis for the Indian state. On the political front, the state 

had to maximize UCCôs culpability to minimize its own complicity in the 

killing. This required the state to move away from its hitherto close connections 

with UCC, but the move was complicated by the presence of firm UCC loyalists 

within the state and bureaucratic elites. On the economic front, Bhopal 

represented a possible obstacle to the high-technology, pro-multinational 

development policy recently introduced by the Indian Prime Minister Rajiv 

Gandhi. 

Bhopal thus presents us with the opportunity to investigate the management 

of a chemical and public-health crisis resulting from the unrestrained use of 

toxic chemicals. It exemplifies the source of toxic catastrophes in economic 

decisions taken by cost-conscious and loss-fearing companies. Bhopal contains 

within it most of the major aspects of toxic industry that have been contested 

separately over the past two decades: lack of information on toxicity, complicity 

of the state in toxic outrages, longterm effects, the operation of double standards 

by chemical companies in metropolitan and peripheral countries, the closeness 

of chemicals for peace to chemicals for war, genetic and reproductive effects on 

women and men, occupational safety and health and the hazards of pesticides. 

Bhopal also allows us to see the various functions that the state, the medical 

establishment and scientific experts play in managing toxic crises. In their 

response to a major toxic crisis, the role played by these various bodies is shown 

more starkly than in their normal functioning. Thus Bhopal and its management 

exposed the political nature of scientific information and research. The different 

versions of the causes and results of the toxic gas leak reflect the interests of the 

various groups that put them forward. In Bhopal it was impossible to maintain 

that science and technology were neutral, when they were so obviously 

controlled and manipulated to the benefit of various interests, some of which 

did not even bother to conceal the strings to which their puppets were attached. 

Finally, the supposed omniscience of science and technology was once again 

undermined by the constant squabbling among specialists, while the state and 

the mass media accepted the expertsô baseless reassurances rather than the 

peopleôs experience and the evidence that was available for all to see. 

BACKGROUND TO BHOPAL: THE GROWTH OF TOXIC CAPITAL  

The reason for the increase in both chemical disasters and chemical crises in the 

past two decades is not hard to locate. In the period since the Second World 
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War, the use of highly complex synthetic chemicals has become of crucial 

importance in industrial production. According to the Organization for 

Economic Co-operation and Development: 

The importance of chemicals in modern societies cannot be denied. The 

twentieth century has witnessed a chemical revolution which has led to the 

integration of chemicals into all aspects of everyday life. It is a revolution which 

has transformed our physical surroundings and has changed our food, our 

medicines, clothing and construction materials. Indeed it is often difficult to 

identify manufactured articles which do not incorporate chemicals unknown or 

in limited use before the turn of the century. More than 50,000 chemicals are in 

current commercial production and a thousand new chemicals or more are 

introduced each year. They are produced in volumes which range from less than 

a tonne up to millions of tonnes per year. In many cases they are essential inputs 

to production processes in other sectors of industry. (OECD, 1983, p. 13) 

The introduction of this chemical technology, with its related work processes, 

was a great leap forward for capital in terms of productivity, profitability and 

removing control over work processes from the hands of workers, but it proved 

to be a leap into the abyss for the rest of us. This massive spread of the use of 

chemicals has resulted in an increased exposure to toxic chemicals through all 

stages of what may be described as the toxic cycle (though it is no more a 

complete cycle than the nuclear cycle). This exposure occurs during 

mining/extraction, refining, production,  
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Science helps build a new India 

Oxen working the fields ... the eternal river Ganges . . . jeweled elephants on parade. Today these symbols of ancient India exist side 

by side with a new sight - modei.i industry. India has developed bold new plans to build its economy and bring the promise of a bright 

future to its more than 400,000,000 people. But India needs the technical knowledge of the western world. For example, working 

with Indian engineers and technicians. Union Carbide recently made available its vast scientific resources to help build a major 

chemicals and plastics plant near Bombay. Throughout the free world. Union Carbide has been actively engaged in building plants 

for the manufacture of chemicals, plastics, carbons, gases, and metals. The people of Union Carbide welcome the opportunity to use 

their knowledge and skills in partnership with the citizens of so many great countries. 

A HAND IN THINGS TO COME 
Process-Systems and Services  
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transportation, consumption and waste disposal. While the production of 

chemicals has fallen back from its original astounding growth rates, the threat it 

poses continues to be massive: óA low-growth scenario of 3.5 percent per annum 

would lead to a doubling of chemical production over the period 1980-2000, and 

a potential increase of associated hazardsô (OECD, 1983, p. 29). 

Thus the toxic nature of its work processes and products has become the 

most important characteristic of certain sectors of production. Capital earned 

massive profits in these sectors by ignoring the social costs of toxic production 

and consumption - costs which were borne not only by workers at the point of 

production but also by the general population. óFor it is apparent that the 

ñsquandering of human livesò does not only occur within the gates of the 

nuclear plant or chemical factory but is as ñsocialò as the labour that produces 

the radioactive electricity and poisonsô (Midnight Notes, 1980, p. 23). 

In this book, ótoxic capitalô refers to that vast sector of capital whose profits 

are based on squandering human lives. Toxic capital is not confined to the 

petrochemical sector, just as toxic chemical use is not confined to chemical 

plants. In 1982 the Alliance for Safety and Health gave some indication of the 

spread of toxic chemicals: 

Within  this period, industrial and agricultural production and processes, the 

production of food additives, fuels, fabrics, construction materials, fertilizers, 

drugs and pesticides became heavily dependent on highly complex synthetic 

chemicals. Synthetic textiles and plastics were developed within this period, as 

was the use of nuclear radiation for power and weapons production. (Alliance 

for Safety and Health, 1982) 

The list of toxic hazards, reprinted (from the same source) in Appendix 1, shows 

how the toxic effects of these chemicals have spread throughout manufacturing 

and services.2 

Capitalism has always advanced by destroying the natural world, but the 

massive quantitative leap in the production of toxic chemicals represents a still 

higher stage in this destructiveness. Just as the use of nuclear weapons in war 

presents capital with the possibility of obliterating life on this planet, so also 

development by toxification presents major threats to the continued existence 

of human life. Even some socialists, a group resistant to ecological perspectives, 

have begun to realize the depth of the toxic problem: 
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What contemporary socialists must begin to face in the next few crucial years is 

the very real possibility that a successive build-up of these tragedies and the 

progressive synthesis of their ill effects may be creating ecological conditions 

from which no economic system ð including socialism - may be able to 

recover. (George, L. N., 1982, p. 10) 

BHOPAL: ACCIDENT OR CORPORATE KILLING? 

Bhopal was many different things to different people. For UCC, it was an 

óincidentô. For Dow Chemicalôs Douglas Rausch it was an example of a lack of 

operating discipline. For the mass media, it was the worldôs worst industrial 

accident. For other observers it was a tragedy or a disaster. There is no need to 

indulge in a simple catalogue of horrors. For Robert Engler, óBhopal was murder, 

if not genocideô (Engler, 1985, p. 500). 

UCC, a major US-based chemical multinational, exported to Bhopal in India 

a pesticides manufacturing plant that was defectively designed and dangerously 

deficient in terms of safety.3 In connivance with an already venal and corrupt 

political establishment, it operated the factory in gross disregard of the safety of 

its workers and the local population. Despite various warning signs, both UCC 

and the Indian state ignored the threat the plant posed, and the company broke 

trade-union attempts to organize on safety issues. In the end those who lost 

were, as always, the poor and oppressed. Meanwhile the state and capital 

squabble over body counts and compensation, and a few scapegoats4 are 

sacrificed at the altar of the peopleôs anger. 

Yet none of this was an accident. 

It was no accident that such large quantities of toxic chemicals were stored at 

Bhopal: óUCC insisted on a process design requiring large MIC [methyl 

isocyanate] storage tanks over the objections of UCIL [Union Carbide India Ltd] 

engineersô (ICFTU, 1985, p. 6). It was not an accident that workers were unable 

to realize a gas leak was about to occur: 

Inadequate maintenance was a long-standing complaint at the Bhopal plant. . 

.Broken gauges made it hardfor MIC operators to understandwhat  
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The flare tower from where the gas leaked. The tower had been shut down for maintenance a 

few weeks before the accident. A corroded section of piping was to be replaced, but this had 

not been done, despite the fact that the work involved could easily have been done in the 

plant. The purpose of the tower was to burn escaping gases. 

IC
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was happening. In particular, the pressure indicator/control, temperature 

indicator and the level indicator for the MIC storage tanks had been 

malfunctioning for more than a year. (ICFTU, 1985, p. 9) 

Nor was it an accident that workers did not succeed in stopping the gas leak: óIt 

is true that some workers ran from the area during the release. That is what they 

had always been told to do by UCIL managementô (ICFTU, 1985, p. 12). There is 

no way the workers could have prevented the leak: óWhat is certain is why they 

[the Bhopal victims] died. The design of the safety equipment on Union 

Carbideôs pesticide plant was inadequateô (MacKenzie, 1986, p. 42). Nor was this 

an accident: óFew new systems have replaced old safety systems because the task 

is extremely expensiveô (p. 44).  
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In the interests of safety, the Bhopal workers had been instructed to run against the wind 

in the event of a gas leak. This is what they ran against. Upwind from the flare tower- the 

origin of the leak into the atmosphere - there is a concrete wall topped with barbed wire. 

There were no open gates on that side of the plant. 

It was no accident that people were ignorant of the fatal effects of MIC: 

chemical companies are not noted for warning either workers or the general 

population of the dangers of their products. 

UCIL never provided complete information about these chemicals to workers, 

government authorities, or community residents. Most of the workers we spoke 

with said they received no training or information about the hazards of MIC or 

other toxic chemicals in the plant. Residents of J.P. Nager and other 

neighbourhoods in Bhopal had little idea what UCIL produced; many residents 

thought the plant was making ómedicineó for crops. (ICFTU, 1985, p. 11) 

It was no accident that maintenance was bad and that inexperienced staff
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were assigned to the MIC unit. óThe workers we interviewed said that 
employees were often assigned to jobs they were not qualified to do. This 
practice was also noted by Union Carbide Corporation in its 1982 inspection 
report. If the workers refused to do the job which they were assigned to on the 
grounds they were not trained, their salaries were reducedô (p. 10). These 
maintenance and staffing cuts were the companyôs response to the fact the 
Bhopal plant was not making a profit. 

Ignorance of a slightly different kind affected plant management. One 

Bhopal plant manager told the Financial Times (10 December 1984, p. 3), óWe 

didnôt know that such a small amount of gas as leaked had the capacity to 

destroy human lives to this extent. The lethal properties were not known. We 

thought our safety controls were adequate, so didnôt do any community 

education.ô5 

It is no accident that toxic capital operates in peripheral countries in an even 

more flagrantly irresponsible and dangerous manner than it does in 

metropolitan countries: whether or not the cost savings involved are major 

determinants of where toxic plants are sited, capital has no compunction about 

taking advantage of whatever it can get away with in terms of environmental 

damage and workersô safety and health. Nor was the class nature6 of the killing 

an accident: the same process of integrating Indian agriculture into the world 

market, which provided the market for the pesticides that UCIL produced at 

Bhopal, also displaced the rural people who came to live in the shanty towns 

across the road from the killer plant (Susman etal., 1983). 

Toxic capitalôs profits exist on a balance-sheet of death. This death may come 

swiftly, as it came that night in Bhopal. Or it may come slowly, as it comes to 

workers in toxic capitalôs factories and waste dumps, the population who inhabit 

the chemical wasteland near the factories and dumps, and those who are 

poisoned by the products from which toxic industry derives its profits. None of 

this is an accident: it is an integral and unavoidable part of toxic development.





 

PART ONE 

M ANAGING BHOPAL



 

  

1 UNION CARBIDEôS 

RESPONSE 

óPublic opinion about chemicals and the chemical industry is not likely to 

change very much if all we offer are public statements about our good 

intentions. What the public needs to see are the actions of an industry 

determined to operate responsibly and regain the public trust.ô -Warren 

Anderson, chief executive officer, Union Carbide Corporation (UCC), 

speaking to the US Chemical Industry Institute of Toxicology, March 

1984 (Chemical Marketing Reporter, 26 March 1984, p. 5) 

Until the public understood toxic chemicals in a factual context, continued Mr 

Anderson, the chemical industry would never make genuine progress in public 

policy nor reach its full business potential. The Bhopal killing gave UCC the 

chance to live up to its chief executiveôs words. Yet the best UCC could come up 

with were public statements about its good intentions and a major attempt to 

control the ófactual contextô of the killing. If Bhopal presented toxic industry 

with an opportunity to react honourably and out of concern for its victims, thus 

fulfilling the industryôs propaganda claims about its social responsibility, UCC 

failed miserably. 

What was most remarkable about UCCôs reaction was how well it fitted the 

old stereotype of the multinational corporation. UCC responded to Bhopal with 

lies, half-truths, misinformation and publicity gestures; attempted to shift the 

blame to its employees and its subsidiary company; and overall showed itself 

more concerned with protecting its continued existence and profitability than 

with ameliorating the damage it had caused. What, one wondered, had 

happened to the new, environmentally sensitive
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UCC celebrated by Business Week (anon., 1976) and Fortune (Menzies, 1978)? 

More to the point, did it ever exist at all? 

UCCôs reactions to Bhopal were as hard-nosed as any other corporationôs 

would be. Its activities after the killing showed it to have its priorities in the 

right capitalist order. While it paid immediate and constant attention to 

managing the crisis in the metropolitan countries, its reactions to the real crisis 

in Bhopal were mean, self-interested and limited. More than that, its concern to 

minimize its legal liability for the killing ensured that the killing would 

continue. It withheld information on the exact nature of the toxic gases released, 

it denied the possibility of cyanide-like poisoning and it fostered a controversy 

over the use of an antidote to cyanide poisoning: all this led to the killingôs 

survivors being denied one possibly life-saving treatment. Bhopal stripped all 

the rhetoric off the new, caring corporation that UCC had proclaimed itself to 

be; what remained was the same old multinational ogre obsessed with profits. 

Of course, even within UCC, there were differing responses to the killing. 

Warren Anderson told the New York Times (19 May 1985, section 3, p. 8), óIf 

you listen to your lawyers, you would lock yourself up in a room some place. If 

you listen to the public relations people they would have you answer 

everything. I would be on every TV programme.ô It is also likely that UCCôs 

immediate response included concern for the victims. In the first few days, UCC 

sent a telex to the Bhopal authorities about possible cyanide poisoning. That this 

concern did not last long is no major surprise. 

While the killing at Bhopal came as a shock to UCC officers, they 

immediately planned a reaction. As Anderson later recalled, óI formed and led a 

crisis management team composed of people from law, finance and public 

affairs. That was done within hours after the news brokeô (Chemical Marketing 

Reporter, 9 September 1986, p. 54). Anderson took on the chief responsibility for 

dealing with Bhopal, leaving Alec Flamm, UCCôs president, to take care of 

normal company business. 

In a situation where UCCôs continued existence was under threat, legal advice 

intended to limit possible damage to UCC would be influential in forming UCCôs 

response. When a position to protect the corporation from attack was 

formulated, the multinationalôs hierarchy ensured the position would be obeyed. 

Thus even UCILôs management, who were branded as responsible for the Bhopal 

óincidentô by top UCC management in March 1985, kept to the corporate line. 

UCCôs immediate priority was to stay in business. As the US and European 
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business press ran scare stories questioning whether UCC could survive, and 

with the major international weekly Business Week raising the spectreofUCC 

seeking protection under Chapter 11 of theUS bankruptcy code, UCCôs share 

prices fell. By 17 December 1984, UCCôs common stock declined by more than 

25 percent, wiping around $890 million off its market value, while UCC bonds 

fell more than 80 percent in price. The Indian companyôs shares were also 

affected: UCIL shares fell from 29 rupees before the killing to 5 rupees by 5 

December. On 6 December, almost 10 percent of all outstanding UCC stock had 

changed hands, with UCC shares being the most heavily traded on the New 

York Stock Exchange. 

UCCôs immediate needs were to contain the crisis, to reassure its stockholders 

that the corporation would survive and, in the all-important blaze of publicity 

that followed immediately after the killing, to show the companyôs concern for 

the victims while denying legal liability for the killing. Though it was necessary 

to undertake public-relations gestures in India, the major threat to UCCôs 

continued existence lay in the USA. Outside the USA the only part of UCC 

vulnerable to threat was UCIL, the largest US-owned company in India. But 

while UCILôs sales ranked it among the top twenty Indian companies, they were 

chicken-feed to UCC, whose assets of $10 billion and 1983 sales of $9 billion 

made it the thirty-seventh largest US corporation. In contrast to the threat in 

India, the legal battle and its fall-out in the USA could endanger the continued 

existence of the whole corporation. 

The threat to the corporationôs existence came first from the fall in investor 

confidence immediately after the disaster and again after the suits had been filed 

against UCC in the USA. If the company lost the US suits, it faced the prospect of 

being forced into Chapter 11, with its ownership being transferred to the gas 

victims - or at least of UCCôs losing its shareholdersô confidence, with a 

consequent crash in its market value. Thus UCC recognized from the start that 

its primary battle lay in the USA, with India remaining only a side-show to the 

real action. UCC reacted immediately to the financial threat: as early as 4 

December, UCC spokesperson Harvey Colbert said UCC had substantial 

insurance to cover any suits arising from the disaster. UCC quickly held a closed 

meeting to reassure industry analysts of the companyôs continued viability. Alas 

for UCC, analysts were reported to have found the meeting óunrevealingô and 

remained unconvinced. 

UCCôs immediate reaction was almost a knee-jerk: it denied any difference 
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existed between safety measures at Bhopal and at its sister plant in the USA, at 

Institute, West Virginia. (Interestingly, though this went largely unreported in 

the media, Institute is primarily a black community.) Jackson Browning, 

vice-president for health, safety and environmental affairs at UCC, claimed that 

óThe Indian plant was designed and built by American nationals. As to the 

standards . . . they are the same. To the best of our knowledge, our employees in 

India complied with all laws and we are satisfied with the facilities and the 

operation of themô (Guardian, 7 December 1984, p. 11). 

This reaction was essential to deal with immediate charges of hazard export 

and double standards. Thus UCCôs first line was that the equipment installed in 

Bhopal was made in the USA to US specifications, with safety equipment and 

standards virtually identical in both Bhopal and Institute. This claim was 

supported by UCIL officials, who said US technicians had played a major part in 

setting up the Bhopal plant. Later on, this first reaction proved to be a 

double-edged sword, as it implied that the killing at Bhopal could recur 

elsewhere. However, it did divert the Western mediaôs immediate coverage from 

the question of hazard export to the safety of the chemical industry in the 

developed countries. While the chemical industry didnôt welcome this coverage, 

it was preferable to the many cans of worms that would be opened if the hazards 

of their operations in peripheral nations were closely examined. It was essential 

to deny the existence of a general strategy on the part of toxic capital to take 

advantage of lower (or non-existent) health, safety and environmental standards 

in the peripheral countries. Thus the US mass media asked, óCould it happen 

here?ô, rather than óWhy did it happen in the Third World?ô The industry was 

also in a better position to reassure the media of the safety of its operations in the 

metropolitan countries, where the last major catastrophe at a petrochemical 

plant had occurred at Seveso in Italy in 1976. For a similar catastrophe in the 

peripheral countries, it was necessary to go back only one month, to the liquid 

petroleum gas disaster in Mexico. 

This denial of double standards also necessitated the closure of the methyl 

isocyanate (MIC) unit at Institute. Because this position also amounted to an 

admission of responsibility by UCC, it was soon to be abandoned. By the second 

week after the disaster, UCC was insisting only that the process safety standards 

were óidenticalô and said implementation of the standards óis left to the local 

companyô (Chemical Marketing Reporter, 17 December 1984, p. 3). Nevertheless 
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UCC admitted ómoral responsibilityô for the MIC leak and stressed its sorrow that 

such an event had occured: óNo words can describe the sorrow felt by the 

employees of the Union Carbide Corporation for the people of Bhopalô, Ronald 

Wishert, UCC vice-president for Federal government relations, told a 

Congressional committee on 12 December (New York Times, 13 December 

1984). 

CRISIS MANAGEMENT AS I NFORMATION M ANAGEMENT 

Uncritical articles in the business press dealing with UCCôs crisis management 

have continually stressed how UCC followed a strategy of telling the truth at all 

times and making available such information as it possessed. UCC was not above 

congratulating itself on this policy: speaking of UCCôs ócommitment to open 

communicationsô, one company release commended UCCôs immediate response: 

óAt the same time, the decision was taken to make Carbide accessible to the 

media and share whatever information could be secured.ô Nothing could be 

further from the truth. UCC was described as open to the media and the public, 

while i t actually exercised stringent control over what (if any) information it 

released; this was a marvellous achievement of public relations and media 

management, a veritable Madison Avenue masterpiece. On 4 December UCC 

chief executive officer Warren Anderson was saying, óEvery effort will be made 

to mitigate against the deep sorrow of the people of Bhopalô and that UCC was 

being óas upfront as we canô about the killingôs causes, despite only sketchy 

information. Yet UCC backed off from an undertaking that they would probably 

allow the press to make a tour of the Institute plant. A company spokesman said 

the refusal to permit examination of the equipment was a policy decision of top 

management; plant officials threatened to confiscate a camera if a photographer 

took pictures of the plant from the company driveway. 

The general US press quickly found UCCôs image of openness to be just that - 

an image. UCC didnôt exert itself giving out hard information on the Bhopal 

plant and on the events that led up to the killing. Thus a 1982 UCC report on 

safety problems in Bhopal and the steps taken to correct them was distributed to 

the US press, but only after it had been scooped by the Indian press. óAnd while 

Carbide faces complex lawsuits on behalf of the Indian victims and obviously 

must avoid public pronouncements that prejudice its defence, the company has 

at times refused to provide even the most elementary information or make its 
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technical people availableô (New York Times, 14 December 1984, p. D2). UCC, 

for instance, repeatedly refused to give the press a schematic diagram of the MIC 

system at Bhopal. The difficulties in extracting clear statements from UCC are 

best expressed by a reporter for the New York Times: 

In his handling of the press Mr Browning [vice-president for health, safety and 

environmental affairs, UCC] has maintained a calm, measured, competent 

composure while declining to divulge technical information about the 

Bhopalplant. When reporters raised their voices, the Carbide spokesman 

responded in warm tones, and when reporters asked questions out of turn they 

have simply been ignored. 

Mr Browning has to be seen to be believed. Try this for size: 

Reporter Rick Kilmer: I think youôve said the company was not liable to the 

Bhopal victims? 

Mr Browning: I didnôt say that. 

Kilmer: Does that mean you are liable? 

Browning: I didnôt say that either. 

Kilmer: Then what did you say? 

Browning: Ask me another question. 

Kilmer: Under what circumstances would you not be liable? (voice rising in 

frustration) 

Browning calmly declines to respond. (14 December 1984, p. D2) 
CHORUS OF REASSURANCE 

Both capital and state needed to maintain tight control of information to manage 

Bhopal. Crucial for UCC was the need to manage information relating to the 

toxicity and nature of the gases that escaped. While this was of primary 

importance to UCC in its attempts to limit its liability, it was also important for 

toxic capital in general. Although the media covered the story in depth for only a 

short period, it had a field day with the gas leakôs acute effects. Given this, in an 

attempt to manage the impression of toxic disaster that the media conveyed, it 

was essential that any chronic effects should be played down. Thus a whole 

chorus of reassurance was summoned to lull the population of Bhopal and 

eventually the world, both by UCC and the Indian government, which also 

wished to limit the extent of the Bhopal crisis. 

UCC expended much effort on reassuring the shareholders of the companyôs 

continued viability, but minimal effort to provide information to the victims of 

the killing and those treating them, a reaction which shows nakedly the 
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priorities of toxic capital. A foretaste of UCCôs tactics was provided by the 

immediate reaction of the local UCIL company doctor. The Bombay-based 

trade-union research group, the Union Research Group, reports: 

The Union Carbide chief medical officer who phoned Hamidia Hospital [the 

major hospital in Bhopal] well after the patients started arriving described MIC 

as an óirritantô and advised treatment with water, whereas the company knew, 

and informed every operator in the plant, that it was lethal. Even after its 

toxicity had become only too evident and the deaths were mounting, the 

company persisted in underestimating its harmful effects, (cf. Agarwal, 1985, p. 

9; Everest, 1985, pp. 14-15) 

Fifteen days after the killing, J. Mukund, the Bhopal works manager, was still 

defending his statement that MIC was only a non-fatal irritant: óIt depends on 

how one looks at it. In its effects it is like tear gas, your eyes start watering. You 

apply water and you get relief. What I say about fatalities is that we donôt know 

of any fatalities either in our plant or in other Carbide plants due to MIC.ô 

URGôs report is confirmed by the Financial Times:  
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Doctors struggling to contain the effects were bitter about what they considered 

a lack of help from Union Carbide. 

Professor Heeresh Chandra, a leading pathologist for the Home Office at 

Bhopalôs main Hamidia Hospital, said óWhy hasnôt Union Carbide come forward 

and said ñThis is the gas that leaked, this is the treatmentò? Is it not a moral duty 

to tell us what was used, what is the treatment, what is the prevention ? They 

have not come forward. 

óSomebody has to tell us. People out there are not prepared to eat and drink. 

A company should put it in the newspapers, a big advertisement, on what can be 

the after-effects. ô (8 December 1984) 

This failure by UCC to provide information was confirmed by the international 

trade-union report on Bhopal: 

Medical authorities stated that they received little if any information on the 

diagnosis and treatment of MIC injuries from either UCIL or UCC. A hospital 

director told us that he finally found out that the chemical was MIC from a 

newspaper report on the evening of 3 December; the state health director finally 

received solid information on the chemical from the World Health Organization 

several days after the accident. Indeed, the first  
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communication from UCC in the US appears to have been a telex received 5 

December, which briefly outlined possible treatment, but did not fully describe 

the possible toxic effects of MIC. (ICFTU, 1985, p. 11) 

Indeed UCCôs strategy required that the possible toxic effects of MIC be played 

down. This approach was assisted by the US specialists that the company flew 

into Bhopal. William Brown, associate professor of biological sciences at 

Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, said respiratory ailments and blindness 

in those exposed to (unspecified) low levels of MIC would ógo away. A chemical 

reaction is taking place in which the molecules of isocyanate will be turned over 

and excreted by the system.ô For those exposed to (again unspecified) high levels, 

Brown admitted that those who endured total whitening of the eye would never 

recover their sight and those whose lungs were totally covered by the gas would 

probably die of respiratory failure. It would be difficult to describe any scientist 

from Carnegie Mellon as totally neutral, given that confidential research for 

UCC on MICôs toxicity had previously been carried out there (Morehouse and 

Subramaniam, 1985, p. 41). On 14 December, Dr Hans Weill, a pulmonary 

specialist at Tulane University, New Orleans, and Dr G. P. Halberg, a clinical 

ophthalmologist at New York Medical College, said that most of the leakôs 

survivors óare likely to recover fully and suffer no long-term ill effectsô (New 

York Times, 15 December 1984). Dr Thomas Petty of the University of 

Colorado, who also came to Bhopal at UCCôs expense, said that nearly every 

poisoning victim he had examined was recovering rapidly from exposure to the 

gas. 

UCCôs strategy included limiting the symptoms it would accept as caused by 

MIC to those affecting the eyes and the lungs, the two bodily systems most 

obviously damaged by the toxic gases. It also needed to limit or ideally deny 

long-term effects, which it did by claiming that MIC in contact with moisture 

quickly breaks down into harmless compounds. As well as this: 

One of the US doctors denied that MIC is absorbed into the bloodstream, stating 

that all damage to the heart, liver and central nervous system is caused by lack of 

oxygen, while the medical director of Union Carbide stated that the chemical 

cannot reach the liver or uterus. It is not clear what these statements are based 

on: certainly not on direct observations or tests. (Health & Safety at Work, May 

1985, p. 40) 



UNION CARBIDEôS RESPONSE 23 

 

Despite this, Tulane Universityôs Weill told the Journal of the American Medical 

Association in April 1985, óIf there are any systemic effects, the only mechanism 

I know that would account for them is that, if the lung injury is severe enough to 

produce a substantial degree of hypoxemia (oxygen depletion in the blood), this 

could produce changes in any organ - liver, kidney or whateverô (JAMA, 12 

April 1985, p. 2013). 

The visits by these doctors were not solely confined to reassurance. 

According to Morehouse and Subramaniam, 

their role appears to have been at least as much a medical intelligencegathering 

exercise for Carbide's legal defence . . . We would be greatly surprised if, 

assuming the litigation proceeds that far, one or more of these doctors did not 

turn up as expert witnesses for the defense in any one of the various lawsuits 

brought against Union Carbide as a result of Bhopal, the burden of their 

testimony being that of trying to minimize the adverse health impact of the 

Bhopal disaster. (1985, p. 42)l 

Attempts by these authors to obtain copies of these doctorsô reports and 

recommendations were unsuccessful. UCCôs position was boosted by others, 

including government experts, who joined in the chorus of reassurance. Dr 

Jeffrey Kaplan of the US governmentôs Centers for Disease Control and Gareth 

Green of Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland, said during the first 

week in January that survivors of the gas leak were suffering less health effects 

than first feared, though thousands might have their lives shortened by chronic 

lung disease and other respiratory problems. Dr Claude J aeger, the senior 

regional adviser for the World Health Organization, said on 10 December that 

survivors faced no risk of paralysis or kidney and liver diseases, and that 

pregnant women and foetuses would suffer no damage. 

Alan Johns, director of the UK-based Royal Commonwealth Society for the 

Blind, speaking on 13 December after a four-day tour of Bhopal, said, óNo one 

has been blinded as a result of the MIC gas. What has happened is that, in many 

cases, the cornea has sustained some damage, 

but the indications of the worst cases in hospital are that the damage will not be 

permanent. People are recovering, but they are frightened and they require 

reassurance and treatment.ô 

Others played the old game of blame the victim. Daya R. Varma, professor of 

pharmacology at McGill University, Montreal, visited Bhopal in January 1986. 
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According to Professor Varma, many of the victims are indigent and 

malnourished and suffered from tuberculosis and other ailments for a long time. 

óIf they had been healthier to begin with, he suggests, the gas might not have 

affected them so severelyô (Chemical and Engineering News, 11 February 1985, 

p. 39). 

At the same time, there were some discordant notes. Professor Heyn- drickx, 

head of the University of Ghent toxicology department in Belgium, said on 5 

December that hundreds of people would die of secondary respiratory and 

neurological effects, while óit is certain that unborn children will be born with 

enormous deformities. One cannot be sure about children conceived later by 

survivors, but there is a significant riskô (Irish Times, 5 December 1984). 

Professor Heyndrickx, an expert adviser to the United Nations, was not flown 

into Bhopal by UCC or anyone else. Similarly Dr Yves Ellery, of the General 

Medical Center, Pittsburgh University in the USA, suggested, ó . . . one of the 

immediate effects of the Bhopal gas could be the death of the corneal cells, 

resulting in permanent blindnessô. No one invited him to Bhopal either. 

FREE FLOW OF INFORMATION: NON-EXISTENT, AS USUAL 

What was most shocking for some people about the Bhopal killing was the 

apparent lack of information on MICôs toxicity. To quote the Delhi Science 

Forum (1985), a group of radical Indian scientists, óThere is hardly any 

authoritative scientific work available on the consequences of exposure to MIC. 

Despite widespread use of MIC, the world scientific community has done little 

work on the consequences of exposure to MIC.ô The lack of available 

information on MIC was confirmed on 13 December by Dr Jeffrey Kaplan of the 

US Centres for Disease Control, Atlanta, Georgia, who was the leader of the 

team of medical experts invited by the Indian government to advise it on Bhopal. 

He admitted, óThe basic issue is that we have very little experience with MIC. 

What is known could be written up in two or three pages. That is the largest part 

of the problem. ô A scientist at the US Chemical Industry Institute of Toxicology 

told the Wall Street Journal Europe (7 December 1984), óWe canôt turn up 

anything at this point on chronic toxicityô, while the US National Toxicology 

Programme said a single Ames test (a simple biological test for cancer-causing 

potential) in 1983 was negative. 

Permitted MIC exposure levels in the USA and Britain are 0.02 parts per 

million. These exposure levels are based on the controversial claim that a level of 
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exposure exists below which no harm will occur to the majority of those 

exposed. While these levels are commonly described as ósafeô levels, it is worth 

noting that the non-governmental organization that sets these limits for 

work-place exposure, the American Conference of Government and Industrial 

Hygienists, describes a threshold limit value as óthe level to which it is believed 

that nearly all workers may be repeatedly exposed day after day without adverse 

effectô (Kinnersly, 1973, p. 115). On the scientific basis for such thresholds, 

Fishbein (1981, pp. 368-9) notes in relation to cancer-causing agents, óIt is 

considered most unlikely that the threshold question can be resolved in the near 

future. Since there is so little data and so many interpretations, the view is 

widely held that continuing arguments over thresholds are an exercise in 

futility.ô2 

According to Dr Peter Merriman of the Chemical Industries Association Ltd, 

óAt 1 ppm in the atmosphere peopleôs eyes will start to water, and by that stage 

there may already be a high enough concentration to cause serious internal 

damage.ô The only reported test on human beings took place in the Federal 

Republic of Germany when four healthy volunteers were exposed for brief 

intervals (1-5 minutes). At 0.4 ppm volunteers neither smelled it nor noticed 

irritating effects. At 2 ppm, they reported some irritation, with resulting tears. 

As the concentration increased, symptoms worsened until they became 

unbearable at 21 ppm. Despite the general lack of information on MICôs toxicity, 

the US chemical multinational Du Pont said it has calculated that leakage of one 

gallon of MIC can cause health problems two miles away. 

Of some interest here also is the fact that British toxicologists, such as Dr 

John Henry of the National Poisons Information Centre, had to refer to the 

effects of First World War chemical weapons to illustrate MICôs effects. Also 

Britainôs Health and Safety Executive was not prepared to provide the 

prestigious English medical weekly the Lancet (hardly a subversive journal) 

what litt le information it possessed on the chemical. This refusal was possibly 

due to the classified nature of the four research establishments that work with 

MIC in Britain. 3 

One reason for the lack of publicly available information on MICôs toxicity 

relates to the importance of information for the chemical industry and the 

secrecy that routinely surrounds the use of toxic chemicals (Frankel, 1981). To 

quote the Delhi Science Forum, óThe exact process used and much of the 

information on the hundreds of reactions of MIC with other organic and 
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inorganic compounds are well-guarded secrets of the Union Carbide 

Corporation (USA).ô As Chemical and Engineering News reported (11 February 

1985, p. 37), óUnion Carbide toxicologists may have the best information on MIC 

toxicity around, but theyôre treating it like a trade secret. Although the company 

has not allowed its information to be published, it is sharing it with the [US] 

National Toxicological Program and EPA [US Environmental Protection 

Agency] . . . Carbide considers details of its findings to be proprietary.ô James E. 

Gibson, vice-president of the US Chemical Institute of Toxicology, said in 

December 1984 that UCC may have tested MIC for long-term health effects but 

classified its results as ótrade secretsô, which are therefore ónot available. Thatôs 

not unusual.ô 

The Indian journal Sunday went further in a report based on sources close to 

the Indian Central Bureau of Investigation: 

According to reports seized from the research and development centre at the 

plant at Bhopal as well as documents traced from other offices of the firm, the 

corporation had conducted a number of experiments on animals and plants, and 

was well aware of the effects of MIC. According to one investigating official, the 

firm used to get piecemeal research done at the various laboratories and then put 

the results together to arrive at an overall conclusion. The Bhopal Research and 

Development Centre too had been used for finding out some of the effects of 

MIC on animals and plants. The firm, however, denied any knowledge of 

long-term or medium-term effects of the toxic gas following the tragedy. (7/13 

April 1985, pp. 19-20) 

In March 1986 it was revealed that the firm had undertaken tests relating to 

that definitely long-term effect, carcinogenicity. Jackson Browning, 

vice-president of health, safety and environmental affairs at UCC, ósays 

chronic-type, low-level inhalation studies the company conducted in mice and 

rats in 1980 ñfound no carcinogenicityò ô, according to Chemical and 

Engineering News (3 March 1986, p. 4). 

This lack of information on MICôs toxicity is but a reflection of the similar 

lack of information on many of the chemicals toxic capital routinely uses and 

constantly introduces into the production process and the general environment. 

In MICôs case, however, there was another twist. According to the Delhi Science 

Forum, óMuch of the results of the findings in these areas are also quite likely to 

have never been published, given the enormous significance such data has for 
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chemical warfare.ô This twist was highlighted by reports about the presence of 

chemical-warfare experts at Bhopal studying MICôs effects. The closeness of 

chemicals for peace to chemicals for war was highlighted by Indian charges that 

UCILôs other Bhopal facility, a major research and development centre, was 

involved in chemical- warfare experimentation. 

The fact that Dr Bryan Ballantyne, director of applied toxicology at UCC in 

South Charleston, West Virginia, had been employed by the British Ministry of 

Defence until 1979 at Porton Down, the British chemical warfare research 

centre, where he experimented on animals with hydrogen cyanide, lends 

support to the tie-in.4 Ballantyne kept up the connection with hydrogen 

cyanide. In 1984 he gave a paper on its effects at the US Armyôs chemical 

weapons review in Maryland. The Indian government is making certain that 

such information will not be restricted any longer. Indian scientists are now 

experimenting with hydrogen cyanide at Gwalior defence laboratories.5 As 

usual, these scientists are working on an antidote. 

UCC kept the Indian state in the dark as well as the public. Dr Dass, 

commissioner in charge of relief of gas victims, told Everest (1985, p. 85), óIn the 

beginning we did get a couple of telex messages, but they were not very helpful, 

and since then they have not volunteered any information in so far as the 

management of these patients is concerned.ô In March, an Indian government 

spokesperson told Derek Agnew, reporter for the British Safety Council 

magazine Safety and Risk Management, 

What is handicapping us in our health care is the strange attitude of the 

American company. Very little is known in India about the gas and its longterm 

effects. 

We have reason to believe that Union Carbide has carried out research on 

animals and we have specifically asked them for the results of this research. 

They wonôt give it to us. We have asked them repeatedly,pointing out that 

meanwhile we just donôt know if we are proceeding on the right lines or not and 

Iôm talking about immediate clinical management as well as long-term control. 

Their non-response has been amazing. Why are they so indifferent to us and 

so secretive? All we want is scientific information which we know they must 

have. Yet they give weak replies saying ónot much is availableô. It has trickled 

back to us from the USA that they do have this information but they are sitting 

on it. 
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They havenôt even given us their manuals. Weôve been given to understand 

that the threshold value for MIC is 0.02 ppm, and beyond that itôs dangerous to 

inhale. We donôt really know how many in Bhopal inhaled it. For all we know, 

people living miles away from the factory might be affected. They might think 

they have a smokerôs cough developing ð yet it could so easily be something 

different. 

You wonôt believe it, but with all this suffering, Carbide are more interested 

in getting information from us than in helping our relief work. Only the other 

day two doctors from their HQ in Danbury turned up in Bhopal. They never said 

why they had come nor what they were about. They disappeared into the night. 

Other companies maintained solidarity with UCC by not providing information. 

Dr Dass complained to Agnew, óMitsubishi and Bayer are said to have 

information on MIC, but we are still waiting for any literature they might have.ô 

Agnew says UCC finally provided information to the Indian government 

ópresumably between 3 March and 15 Marchô, three months after the killing. 

Even this was unsatisfactory: in October 1985 Dr Dass was still complaining that 

he had not received adequate information from UCC. 
UNION CARBIDEôS OTHER BHOPAL FACILITY 

The MIC and other chemical production units were not the sum total of 

UCCôs facilities in Bhopal. On 13 December 1984, the Press Trust of India 

reported that UCC was engaged in synthesizing new chemicals and 

testing them on tropical pests in India in collaboration with UCIL. Much 

of this work was carried out at UCILôs research station in Bhopal. This 

200-million -rupee research centre, the biggest in Asia, has five 

insect-rearing laboratories and a two-hectare experimental farm for 

testing chemical agents. 

On 25 December 1984 a top Indian ódefenceô scientist was quoted by 

the Press Trust of India to be óconcerned about reports that the centreôs 

studies covered the grey area between agricultural research and anti-crop 

warfareô. He said the Department of Science and Technology had 

bypassed a top-level committee, set up in 1975 to screen all collaborative 

research efforts from a ósecurityô angle, in permitting UCCôs research 

efforts. 

We are unlikely to ever find out what, if any, chemical warfare 

projects UCC undertook at Bhopal. Britainôs Channel 4 television 

programme, broadcast on the first anniversary of the killing, showed burn 
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marks where a large hole had been dug behind the research centre and 

much paper burnt. It is known, however, that UCC collected germ-plasm 

of agricultural plants from the north-east of India; this activity is supposed 

to be entirely under the control of the Indian National Bureau of Plant 

Genetic Resources. 

The Bhopal research centre was undoubtedly important to UCC. 

While the pesticides plant was de-skilling its work-force, the research 

centre over the three years before the killing had recruited eight Ph.Ds, 

thirteen M.Scs, six graduates and three undergraduates. The Delhi Science 

Forum asked whether, ógiven the differential investments in and 

utilization of the production and research and development facilities . . . 

the production is not merely a cover for the research and development 

activitiesô. This suspicion has led to the most fanciful and inadequate 

explanation of the killing: that it was a deliberate chemical warfare 

experiment on the part of the USA. This allegation was mainly made by 

pro-Soviet elements in India. 

Itôs worth quoting Anand Groverôs response to this charge: óI think 

there are much more fundamental reasons, which are continuing, which 

are responsible. I mean, itôs very easy to make that allegation but then 

you canôt explain why a lot of other incidents of that type 

occurredô(Jackson etal., 1985,p. 13). Fittingly, this theory found its 

counterpart on the far right, in the California Institute of International 

Studies, whose Ronald Hilton suggested investigating the ópossibility that 

Soviet agents were involvedô. 

ANDERSONôS FLIGHT INTO INDIA AND OTHER 

PUBLIC-RELATIONS GESTURES 

UCCôs óquick and compassionateô reaction was cited by William Stover (1985) of 

the US Chemical Manufacturersô Association as one reason why Bhopal did not 

become more of a crisis for the chemical industry. To complement its tight 

control of information, UCC recognized it needed a public-relations campaign. 

This campaign varied from flying flags at halfmast to a minuteôs silence at the 

corporationôs facilities world-wide: óthe only sound [at the headquarters 

canteen] was a few people weepingô, one UCC employee told Business Week (24 
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December 1984, p. 45). 

It was essential to show that UCC was not a cold, uncaring corporation, so 

UCC was presented as a group of people ócaught between the instincts of human 

compassion, the demands of public relations [and] the dictates of corporate 

survivalô. For some head-office employees Bhopal was reported to have 

provoked crises of conscience which led to óa special intensity ... in church 

services here and other religious gatherings, such as the menôs prayer breakfast 

last Saturday at the New Fairfield United Methodist Church five miles north of 

Danburyô, whose pastor avowed, óthese people have a real sense of anguishô. It 

was touching to see the New York Times business pages provide this human 

interest angle.6 

The supreme public-relations gesture was Andersonôs trip to Bhopal, 

accompanied by a team of experts. óIt was little more than symbolism, but at 

times like this symbolism becomes very importantô, according to John Jeuck, 

management professor at the University of Chicago School of Business, who 

compared Andersonôs visit to óthose of governors and presidents visiting the 

scene of disasters in the USô. It was good TV and gave camera people something 

else to focus on aside from dead bodies. 

Andersonôs arrest was also good TV. To begin with, we must debunk any 

notion of Andersonôs personal courage in visiting Bhopal. Before heading for 

India, Anderson had asked Indian officials in the USA for a safe conduct. He was 

told to contact officials in Indiaôs Department of the Environment, who would 

help with arrangements when he arrived. Anderson didnôt bother with the 

bureaucratic niceties; instead he went to Bhopal ówithout telling local 

authoritiesô. Therefore Anderson himself was responsible for the breakdown in 

communication that led to his arrest. There was also the question of Andersonôs 

personal safety in Bhopal to be considered as well as any riot-inducing effects 

that his walking around Bhopal could produce. 

To deal with these problems, the local state answered Andersonôs public- 

relations spectacle with a spectacle of their own. They arrested Anderson and 

accompanying officials and charged them with a series of serious offences, 

several of which were non-bailable. Indeed, one early release from an Indian 

newsagency said the UCC executives could óbe sentenced to deathô. A little 

gentle persuasion from the US embassy was required to prevent Andersonôs 

flight into India from being more permanent than he intended. As though to 

emphasize the extent to which the state was protecting him, Anderson was 
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flown out of Bhopal by military aircraft. A similar concern for his safety had led 

to his being protected by fifty armed guards while he was being held in the UCIL 

guest-house. While he was being held there 100 protesters picketed the building 

carrying placards calling for Anderson to be hanged. 

Nevertheless, in keeping with the sweet, reasonable image, Anderson said he 

would return to India to stand trial if necessary, but felt the Indian state werenôt 

going to push their luck that far. His arrest and release was denounced as óa big 

fraud on the peopleô by Chandra Shekhar, president of the Janata Party, who said 

Anderson had been released on óexpress instructions of high-ups in the 

governmentô who feared prosecution would óreveal the complicity and 

negligence of the state and central governmentô. 

The spectacle of Andersonôs visit has been well categorized by Robert Engler 

(1985, p. 496): óThere, in a sequence worthy of Brecht, after his arrest and speedy 

release on bail, he pledged financial aid and offered to convert the companyôs 

modern guest-house, in which he had been detained, into an orphanage. ô Better 

was to come, however. Keepingup the orphanage line, thus playing down the 

fact that nearly half of those who died were children, UCC flew Mother Teresa 

into Bhopal. A Catholic nun who won the Nobel Peace Prize in 1979, she had 

become famous for her work with orphans in Calcutta. Mother Teresa was 

accompanied in her tour around Bhopal by two government cars and an escort of 

six armed police in a blue van. On to the gas victims she pressed miraculous 

medals, ósmall aluminium medals of St Maryô, which were inscribed óO Mary, 

conceived without sin, pray for us who have recourse to theeô {New York Times, 

12 December 1984, p. AIO). She suggested the recipient should ótie it around your 

neck or on your arm. It does help if you have faith.ô Mother Teresa preached a 

message of forgiveness: óThis could have been an accident, it is like a fire [that] 

could break out anywhere. That is why it is important to forgive. Forgiveness 

offers us a clean heart and people will be a hundred times better after it. ô Alas, 

many of those she visited in hospital did not know her, either by name or by face 

- not surprisingly, given that most of Bhopalôs residents areMuslims andHindus. 

Nevertheless, Mother Teresaôs message fitted her image as one who would work 

for a peace which is acceptable to dynamite manufacturers.7 

UCCôs public-relations campaign on Bhopal has been compared with Johnson 

& Johnsonôs campaign to save Tylenol, whose market share was threatened 

when deaths resulted from someone poisoning the drug with cyanide. The 

similarity was partly due to the fact that public-relations firm Burston Marstellar 
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handled both contracts. The major difference is that UCCôs did not work. 

At the end of December 1984, when most of the media massaging and 

reassurance operations were in full swing, a Business Wee^/Harris poll provided 

disquieting results for UCC. Fully 44 percent of those polled believed UCC had 

not told the truth about Bhopal, as against 36 percent who believed they had and 

28 percent who werenôt sure. The poll also found most Americans blamed 

UCCorUCIL management for the killing, with only 18 percent blaming the 

Indian workers and 12 percent the Indian government. On a more general level, 

49 percent of those polled were convinced US multinationals have lower health 

and safety standards overseas, as against 38 percent who thought standards were 

identical (.Business Week, 31 December 1984, p. 28).8 

TRANSFER BLAMING 

UCC and the Indian state now began a macabre dance around the killing. UCCôs 

first dance was away from its subsidiary company, Union Carbide India Ltd. It 

suddenly began to refer to UCIL as an óaffiliateô, even though it owned a majority 

of shares in the company. Normally a subsidiary company is defined as óa 

company controlled by another, the controlling company owning over 50 

percent (sometimes 100 percent) of the ordinary shares of the subsidiary 

companyô (Hanson, 1977, p. 427, emphasis added), while an affiliate is defined as 

óa firm which is associated with another, generally as its subsidiaryô (Hanson, 

1977, p. 9). 

Secondly, UCC began to reverse its initial claim that the plants at Bhopal and 

Institute were identical. On 4 December 1984, a UCC news release had stated, 

óThe Bhopal facility is a state-of-the-art plant. It is essentially the same, on a 

smaller scale, as an Institute, West Virginia, plant - the companyôs only other 

methyl isocyanate production facility. The safety precautions for working with 

methyl isocyanate at both facilities are the same. ô By the second week after the 

killing, this position had changed: now only the safety standards at both plants 

were identical. When a break came in the blanket reassurances from UCC on the 

high safety standards at Bhopal, it was angled in such a way as to emphasize 

Indian responsibility. Thus C. S. Tyson, UCC plant inspector, said in 

mid-December that the Bhopal plant is óan entirely different set-upô from that at 

Institute, having been deliberately designed to be more labour-intensive to 

create more jobs: for instance, safety devices at Institute are automatic, but at 
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Bhopal they must be turned on manually (New York Times, 12 December 1984, 

p. 8). According to Jackson Browning, the reason for non-installation of 

automatic safety equipment at Bhopal was óinsufficient back-up systems and 

spare parts in Indiaô. You pays your money and you takes your choice. 

This changing of UCCôs tune was no doubt influenced by the immense 

liabilities stemming from Bhopal. Totally reversing their previous position, UCC 

now claimed it had provided only general safety standards for Bhopal. Jackson 

Browning said: óResponsibility for the detailed design is that of the Indian 

affiliate. My understanding is that the design was executed in India and the 

choice of pumping and piping origination and things of that sort were made 

there, all of them designed to respond to the process safety standards we had told 

them were necessary.ô 

Browning, UCCôs vice-president for safety, health and environmental affairs, 

admitted that UCC had been óavailable for consultationô and that óa large number 

of Americansô were on the site and involved in the operation of the plant when it 

was started up and before it was handed over to UCIL. The same day UCC said it 

didnôt have any detailed plan of the Bhopal facility to hand in the USA. Thus the 

responsibility for the actual design of the plant, which was already becoming a 

central issue, moved from the US company to its Indian subsidiary, which was 

suddenly demoted to the status of a mere óaffiliateô of UCC. This transfer blaming 

was to be UCCôs constant refrain from then on. UCC backed up its version of 

events by claiming that the design of the plant had to take place in India, owing 

to Indian law. The transfer blaming was extended to include the victims. Jackson 

Browning said on 6 December 1984: 

The plantôs location, three to four miles from the centre of Bhopal, was selected 

by Union Carbide India Limited more than seventeen years ago. At that time, 

the area was not densely populated. In India, land is scarce and the population 

often gravitates towards areas that contain manufacturing facilities. Thatôs how 

so many people came to be living near the fence surrounding our property. (UCC 

news release P-0082-84, p. 3)9 

By 12 December UCC was arguing explicitly that the fault lay in India: óUnion 

Carbide officials on Tuesday said the plant had been designed in India, an 

uncommon industry practice. The plant is staffed entirely by Indians. A 1982 

Union Carbide audit report and recent reports from India indicate that worker 

performance was below American standards.ô UCC said it had no direct 
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involvement in the construction and design of the Bhopal plant. It contended it 

had supplied only general process safety standards to UCIL, which alone was 

responsible for the Bhopal plantôs detailed design, equipment selection and plant 

construction. As though to emphasize their distance from UCIL, UCC officials 

said they did not even have such basic information as whether the Bhopal plant 

had installed a water spray recommended by American UCC officials in 1982. 

UCC had already shown similar ignorance on 6 December, three days after 

the killing, when its headquarters responded to reports of accidents and one 

death at Bhopal since 1981: UCC said it was under the impression that its Indian 

safety record was good and it was not aware of any fatalities or accidents. The 

story later became, óNo previous incidents of multiple deathsô (UCC news 

release, P-0082-84, p. 1); this quiet change of gears was only to be expected from 

a corporation óthat regards a single death associated with its own or affiliate 

company operations as a calamityô (UCC) but whose history is littered with 

corpses.10 

According to UCC officials, furthermore, the ófrequency of (safety) auditsô 

was decided by UCIL officials rather than by UCC. This of course explained why 

there had been no safety audit by US officials since 1982. It was reported that 

elsewhere these audits took place every three years, yet Bhopal was inspected 

only once in seven years of operation. US experts wisely concurred with UCC 

and argued that majority ownership of a unit does not have to mean control of 

that unit. A report filed by UCIL after the 1982 audit said that ópresent facilities 

are adequateô. While UCC officials said many of the concerns raised by the 1982 

audit had been corrected, one of the auditors, C. S. Tyson, said he was still 

concerned over the plantôs overall safety planning. By law this planning was 

vested in the staff of UCIL. 

This transfer blaming was struck two severe blows. In an affidavit filed by a 

former UCC executive who had once headed UCIL, Edward Munoz swore that 

in the early 1970s, he órepresented the Union Carbide India Ltd position that 

only token storage [of MIC at Bhopal] was necessary, preferably in small 

containers, based on both economic and safety considerationsô. However, a UCC 

corporate engineering group óimposed the view and ultimately made to be built 

large bulk storage tanks patterned on the similar UCC facilities at Institute, West 

Virginiaô (Wall Street Journal Europe, 4 February 1985, p. 2). 

This storage decision resulted from economic motives. Dr Varadarajan, of the 

Indian Council for Scientific and Industrial Research, said in January 1985 that 
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UCIL had ómany times its requirementô of MIC at the Bhopal plant. This was 

confirmed by S. Kumaraswami, UCIL manager in New Delhi (Everest, 1985, p. 

32). The extra MIC was sold by UCIL to other chemical firms in India. Again 

Bhopal mirrored Institute, where UCC held large stocks of MIC, which it 

supplied to other pesticide makers such as FMC and Du Pont. The other major 

reason for MIC storage was to ensure continued production: storage of MIC 

prevents any breakdown in MIC production from halting production of the 

finished pesticide. 

The second blow to transfer blaming came on 25 January 1985, when US 

Congressman Waxman published an internal UCC report dated September 1984. 

This report warned that óa runaway reaction could occur in the MIC unit storage 

tanksô (at Institute), and that óthe planned response would not be timely or 

effective enough to prevent catastrophic failure of the tanksô. While several 

instances of water contamination of the Institute tanks were handled without 

problems, óthey may have created a degree of confidence or lack of concern that 

could allow a situation to proceed to the point where it is not controllableô. As 

MIC tanks at Institute had been contaminated with water and other reactants 

several times, the report called for óall operating personnelô to be warned. It 

noted: óThe fact that past instances of water contamination may be warnings 

rather than examples of successfully dealing with problems should be 

emphasized to all operating personnel.ô 

While UCC took action on this report at Institute, by increasing sampling of 

tanks for possible contamination and changing training practices, it did not 

notify the Bhopal plant of what it described as a óhypothetical scenarioô. 

Explaining why the report hadnôt been passed on, Jackson Browning, UCC 

vice-president for safety, health and environmental affairs, said the Institute 

plant was completely safe and that there was no need to warn the Indians. UCC 

officials pointed out that the cooling system in the tanks at Institute was 

different from the cooling system in Bhopalôs MIC storage: thus the hypothetical 

scenario did not arise in Bhopal. This implied that UCC had a greater knowledge 

of the Bhopal plant three months prior to the killing than it admitted having 

after the killing, when it claimed it did not know how Bhopal engineers had 

implemented the design standards UCC had supplied. 

Nevertheless, UCC stuck to blaming the Indians. At the launching of UCCôs 

March 1985 report on the accident, UCC chief executive officer Warren 

Anderson insisted that he did not know why safety devices were not working: 
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óNon-compliance with safety procedures is a local issueô, he claimed. Anderson 

alleged the Indian managers were solely to blame for the disaster: óItôs their 

company, their plant, their people.ô Thus UCC maintained that plant safety was 

primarily the responsibility of local plant management. While Anderson said 

UCC and UCIL óare both in this togetherô, they werenôt in it together to the 

extent of UCC accepting legal liability for the killing. Anderson stated, óNo one 

at UCC knew that the Bhopal plant was being run when it was completely 

unsafe.ô 

He also claimed changes that were unauthorized by the parent company had 

been undertaken at Bhopal: óThe [investigation] team was shocked at what they 

saw. Equipment was not running. It was a surprise to the engineers who worked 

on the start-up.ô The UCC team found that the safety system had eight serious 

malfunctions and admitted that just about everything that could go wrong did go 

wrong. But UCC ócanôt be there, day-in, day-out. You have to rely on the people 

you have in place. My board doesnôt know what valve is on or off in Texas City. ô 

Andersonôs final message, along with the ritual expressions of his own personal 

distress at the tragedy, was: óSafety is the responsibility of the people who 

operate our plants. You canôt run a $10 billion corporation all out of Danbury.ô11 

WHOôS IN CONTROL? 

Capital found UCCôs arguments useful, as its apologists eagerly used the Bhopal 

killing as more ammunition in its battle against state restrictions on 

multinational capital. For example, New York Universityôs Gladwin and Walter 

suggested that óregulations driven by nationalism may lie at the core of any 

in-depth explanation of Bhopalôs tragedyô {Wall Street Journal Europe, 21 

January 1985, p. 6). Having swallowed UCCôs position hook, line and sinker, 

they wrote that 

a tentative reading of the publicly available evidence so far suggests that the 

Bhopal facility may have been operating quite independently of the parent with 

regard to industrial and environmental questions ð thus adding credence to the 

recent admission by Warren M. Anderson, Carbideôs chairman, that Union 

Carbide India Ltd basically ôoperated as a separate companyô. And much of this 

relative autonomy can probably be traced to the pattern of restrictive Indian 

regulations imposed on foreign investment and the importation of products, 

know-how and managerial and technical skills. 
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This óexplanationô of Bhopal is summed up in the conclusion by Chemical and 

Engineering News (8 April 1985, p. 10): óIt is the bitter fruit of indigenization, 

the consensus now reads, that was basically to blame for the Bhopal disaster.ô 

This consensus existed only in the boardrooms of multinational capital and in 

its various publicity organs. This industry position is well put by an unidentified 

Du Pont executive: 

[Developing] countries have a long way to go and they pose great technological 

risk to us. What has to be done is that when we build a plant in a developing 

country we have to install equipment that is going to be failsafe for at least ten 

years. And there is no way that we can do that. So without managerial control 

we donôt go in. (Chemical and Engineering News, 8 April 1985, p. 10, emphasis 

added) 

Note how this executive succeeds in standing the world on its head. Instead of 

toxic technology posing a great risk to peripheral nations, peripheral nations 

supposedly pose a threat to the owners and originators of toxic technology in the 

metropolitan countries. 

This racist response was coming from capital as early as two weeks after the 

killing. The New York Times reported: 

The question of safety at overseas facilities is a particularly thorny one. Many 

Third World countries, including India, Brazil, Chile and South Korea, do not 

allow foreign companies to maintain full ownership of their plants. Many 

impose severe restrictions on importing equipment. And they insist that the 

plant hire only localpeople, even if they are not as well trained as their American 

counterparts. And, perhaps more troublesome, local management often does not 

have what Dr Utidjian of American Cyanimid calls the óNorth American 

philosophy of the importance of human lifeô. (16 December 1984, section 3,p. 

30). 

This argument typically ignored many basic facts. While Bhopal came under 

Indiaôs Foreign Exchange Regulations Act, which limits foreign investors to a 40 

percent equity stake, UCC had persuaded the Indian government in the late 

1970s to grant them an exemption based on ósignificant export volume and the 

technological sophistication of its operationsô. Indeed, UCIL was one of the few 

firms in India in which the parent company was allowed to maintain a majority 

interest. Similarly, the inference that substandard Indian sources for materials 
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had to be used is belied by the fact that in 1982 over 30 percent of UCILôs raw 

materials, spare parts and components were imported: thus the import 

conditions could not be described as stringent. Training for Bhopal management 

had also been provided in the USA: óTear-gasô Mukund, works manager at 

Bhopal, for example, had previously worked at UCCôs plant at Institute, West 

Virginia. 

Despite these inconvenient facts, various chemical multinationals reacted in 

the same vein, saying that in future they would demand much greater control of 

joint ventures. According to Gladwin and Walter, óthe message is that if 

developing countries continue to insist on a dilution of multinational corporate 

control, they will also be diminishing the motivation and capacity of companies 

to invest and to transfer environmental management and safety competenceô 

(Wall Street Journal Europe, 21 January 1985, p. 6). Thus UCC was portrayed as a 

shackled angel, whose motivation to transfer its undoubted environmental and 

safety competence was diminished by a nasty, nationalist Indian government. 

The best way to demolish this image is to examine UCCôs operations in 

another peripheral country where no such government regulations impeded 

UCCôs full control of its subsidiary. We are lucky to have such information from 

a US journalist on UCCôs Cimanggis battery plant near Jakarta in Indonesia 

(Wyrick, 1981). Indonesia is a strong authoritarian state, with some 100,000 

political prisoners, which does all in its power to help multinational 

corporations. Strikes without government permission are forbidden and only 

one national union is legally sanctioned. Safety and environmental laws are 

rarely enforced: Indonesia has 300 labour-law inspectors for 110,000 companies. 

Wyrick quotes a government óinvitation to investorsô which emphasizes, óOne of 

our greatest assets is our industrious and willing people combined with your 

guaranteed FREED OM TO MANAGEô (emphasis in original). Here we have a situation 

where multinational corporations arenôt encumbered by government 

regulations that tie their hands and lessen their interests in their subsidiariesô 

operations, thus leaving them free to lavish their normal well-known care and 

attention on worker health and safety matters, environmental and general safety 

problems. 

Yet UCCôs operations in Cimanggis could hardly be described as a model of 

multinational cleanliness. The local companyôs own health officer claimed that 

at one stage 402 workers out of 750 at the plant were suffering from kidney 

disease related to work-place exposure. Well water at the plant was reported to 
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contain 547 ppm of mercury. The US Environmental Protection Agencyôs 

óacceptableô figure for US water supplies is 2 ppm. Nor did the company show 

that well-known corporate desire to inform its workers of health hazards at 

work. The company health officer was forbidden to tell the workers the water 

was contaminated. The companyôs health officer resigned two years after 

beginning to work for UCC, saying the company lacked professionalism. 

UCCôs Indonesian subsidiary showed a similar concern for secrecy, as did 

UCCôs Indian subsidiary. Corporate officials in Indonesia refused to be 

interviewed by Wyrick about the plant, except to say, óBy Indonesian standards, 

we operate a very clean company.ô They also refused Wyrick permission to 

inspect and photograph the plant. They were backed up by UCC management in 

the USA, who refused Wyrick access to UCC battery plants in the USA and who 

said that óanswers to questions concerning workersô safety could not or would 

not be givenô. 

The similarities between restrained Indian and unrestrained Indonesian 

operations do not stop there. Assistant personnel manager for UCC in Indonesia 

was Ashmy Hasan, whose brother was secretary of the government-approved 

All -Indonesian Labour Federation, as well as being a member of the Indonesian 

parliament and leader of its labour commission. In 1980, sixty UCC workers 

appeared before that parliamentary labour commission to complain about 

working conditions and lack of attention to safety at the Cimanngis plant. This 

appearance resulted not in reforms at UCC but in all sixty workers losing their 

jobs without explanation.12 UCCôs closeness to the government also allowed it to 

avoid the legal ceiling of fourteen hours overtime per week; it received special 

permission for a seventy-two-hour week. According to the subsidiaryôs health 

officer, workers who refused overtime ówere advised by Union Carbide to resignô 

(Wyrick, 1981, p. 24R). 

UCCôs unrestrained operation may be best summed up in Wyrickôs account of 

the death of Haryanto, an apprentice worker at the plant: 

The examining doctor reported that the body was black with carbon dust. 

Haryanto worked at the machine that mixes carbon black and other chemicals to 

form the inside body of an Ever Ready battery, a battery like the ones in your 

flashlight or transistor radio. Because the two dust-collecting machines in the 

ómixing roomô were broken and had not been repaired - just as the leaky drain 

had not been fixed - Haryanto worked in a haze of black dust. 
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A probationary employee on the job only two months, he had been required 

to work three consecutive overtime days and was extremely fatigued at the time 

of his death, ótoo tired to think properlyô, Union Carbideôs medical director for 

the plant said. 

Haryanto was unable to ask for guidance when the mixing machine gave him 

trouble. óThere was no supervision when the accident occurred,ô a company 

investigation reported. óThe supervisor in charge of the area was having meals.ô 

An electrical switch in the mixing room was óunsafeô because it was 

improperly located and was unshielded, according to the company investigation 

report, marked óBusiness Confidentialô. When the mixing machine was not 

loaded correctly or was malfunctioning, the switch would automatically shut it 

down. According to the company report, Haryanto, trying to restart the mixer, 

depressed the cut-off switch with a naked metal saw blade. The blade óbecame 

energized to 222 voltsô as Haryanto stood on the wet floor, the report said, and 

he was electrocuted. (Wyrick, p. 23RH 

A further point must be made regarding the transfer of safety technology. UCCôs 

licence to operate the Bhopal plant had been recently renewed on the basis that 

it would be provided with the most up-to-date safety technology. According to 

the Indian Express (7 December 1984), óIn its application in September 1982, 

Union Carbide India Ltd sought extension on the grounds that its parent 

company, having ñexperience in handling toxic chemicals over several yearsò, 

would make available to UCIL ñthe current knowledge and experiences in 

handling highly toxic materialsò on a continuous basis. It said that ñcontinuous 

availability of data in this area will assist Union Carbide India Ltd in fully 

protecting the plant personnel and propertiesò.ô UCIL further justified the 

extension on grounds that as a result of the collaboration, the US firm would 

make available ótoxicology data on products produced besides antidotes and 

safety precautionsô. 

Similarly the Indian case against UCC submitted to Judge Keenan on 8 April 

1985 charged: óDefendant Union Carbide represented to the plaintiff [i.e. the 

Indian government] that it would provide the Bhopal plant with the best and the 

most up-to-date technical data and information in its possession for the 

manufacturing, processing, handling and storage of MIC and that it would 

continually update this informationô (APPEN, 1985, p. 225). 
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CRACKS IN THE DEFENCE 

To accept UCCôs claim that it was not in control of UCIL requires a largish 

suspension of disbelief. UCC had been permitted to maintain a controlling 

interest in UCIL owing to the allegedly high-tech nature of the industry. 

Why did UCC insist on a controlling interest if not for purposes of control? 

Veerenda Patil, the Indian governmentôs chemicals and fertilizers minister, in 

response to UCCôs transfer blaming, told the Indian Parliament on 29 March 

1985 that the government had adequate evidence to establish the companyôs 

culpability. Dr S. Varadarajan, the Indian governmentôs chief scientist, said his 

staff had been told that, after discussion with the US headquarters of UCC, 

Bhopal managers had concluded the refrigeration unit to chill the MIC was 

unnecessary. Dr Lai, chief medical officer at Bhopal, observed: óThe safety 

precautions we took were the best possible. We did everything the Americans 

advised. In fact we used to think that we were overdoing the safety.ô 

Some indications of UCILôs concept of safety may be obtained from its 

personnel manager, B. R. D. Krishnamoorthy, who proudly told Agnew 

(reporter for Safety and Risk Management) of UCILôs continuous concern for 

safety: 

You know we had a meeting of all managers in the plant every morning, about a 

dozen of us and most of the time we discussed safety. I give you an example. 

Each workman had his own locker, and one day somebody straightened up and 

banged his head on the open door. We discussed for a long time how that could 

be avoided. Another time when someone slipped in the showers we investigated 

how to prevent a reoccurrence. 

Another example of UCIL managementôs devotion to safety can be found in the 

fact that they advised Bhopal workers to ódevelopô resistance against toxic 

substances by drinking six or seven glasses of milk a day and eating a 

high-protein diet of fish and eggs (Economic & Political Weekly, 15 December 

1984).14 

The strategy of transfer blaming received another set-back in October 1985. 

UCIL documents, filed by Indian government lawyers in the USA in a motion 

for further discovery of UCC documents, showed UCC had been considering 

closing the Bhopal plant and shifting the operation to either Brazil or Indonesia 

months before the killing. UCIL had been asked to undertake a preliminary 

study of the costs of dismantling the MIC and other pesticide production units at 

Bhopal. Interestingly, UCIL was studying closing the plant at the time when key 
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safety devices were turned off or left unrepaired. Indeed, the question of 

whether to sell the Bhopal plant reached Andersonôs desk, where the sell move 

was approved shortly before the killing. As the Wall Street Journal Europe 

commented, this óindicates that the unit [UCIL] was less than a distant cousinô 

.UCC denied it intended to sell the plant: óThe company denies it wanted to shut 

it, saying rather that it intended gradually to switch away from the unsuccessful 

carbaryl insecticides, which it sold under the Sevin brand name, to other 

products based on the same technologyô (Financial Times, 7 December 1984). 

UCC documents submitted for examination under the US legal process of 

document discovery, whereby documents in the companyôs possession relating 

to the issue under trial were made available to the plaintiffs, showed further 

cracks in UCCôs defence. Stanley Diamond reported in the New York Times that 

these documents, many stamped óconfidentialô, appeared to contradict UCCôs 

claims of non-involvement in the Bhopal project: 

After a 1981 accident in Bhopal that killed a worker, a telex said that 

improvements ówill receive close attention by the management committee in 

New Yorkô and that it was óvery essentialô this committee know the óspecific 

actionsô to prevent recurrence. Another memo said, óNo design changes have 

been made without the concurrence of general engineering or Institute plant 

engineeringô, referring to Carbideôs corporate engineers in Institute, West 

Virginia. (3 January 1986, pp. D1, D3). 

UCC also claimed in court papers that the plant design that was originally 

supplied by an Institute team was changed in India. óHowever, Warren J. 

Woomer, a Carbide engineer, said in an affadavit that he had approved the 

design by tracing ñevery line, every valve, every instrumentò when the plant 

started upô (New York Times, 5 January 1986, p. D3). Contrary to other UCC 

claims that changes in design at Bhopal since the start-up were unauthorized, it 

was reported that the Indian Central Bureau of Investigation inquiry had found 

that UCC had approved in May 1984 óa design change in the pipelines leading to 

the MIC storage tanks which was directly responsible for the water entering 

tank number 610 on the fatal nightô (Sunday, 7-13 April 1985, p. 19; also Agnew, 

1985, p. 17). 

UCC is also reported to have done feasibility studies on whether to build the 

plant at Bhopal. It has been reported that, while the studies were being 

performed, concern was expressed over whether proper maintenance could be 

maintained in India for such a complex plant. Roger Aitala, a former UCC 
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chemical engineer who worked on one of the studies, told Business Week (10 

January 1986, p. 23), óThere is no question that they [UCC] knew what they were 

dealing with.ô 

Nevertheless, UCC continued to maintain that UCIL was óa ñfreestanding 

entityò with nothing but a voluntary association with Union Carbideô (anon., 

Business India, 1986, p. 77). In depositions taken for the plaintiffs in the US court 

case, UCCôs management denied central control by describing their own 

manuals as ógobbledy gookô and by offering such contorted arguments as the 

following: 

Question: In order to secure effective management control of an affiliate Union 

Carbide need not have 100 percent say on the board of directors, correct? 

Answer (fames M. Rehfield, UCC executive vice-president and UCIL director): 

Union Carbide does not control its affiliate companies, period. Question: Sir, 

who controls an affiliate company? 

Answer: The board of that company. 

Question: Who is the hoard elected by? 

Answer: The equity participants. 

Question: And whoôs the majority equity participant in Union Carbide India 

Ltd? 
Answer: Carbideôs 50.9 [percent], (anon, Business India, 1986, p. 77f5 

In court cases against UCIL in Bhopal, its own lawyers have stuck rigidly to the 

UCC line that the American company does not control the Indian company. 

UCILôs chief outside counsel, Vijay Kumar Gupta, told the American Lawyer: 

Union Carbide India Ltd is an Indian company regulated under the Indian 

Companies Act. Therefore the Union Carbide Corporation cannot be held liable 

for any of the acts of the Indian company. It is again wrong to say that the 

American company is the parent company. It is not the parent company. It holds 

some shares. It is not the proprietor . . . The Indian company has nothing to do 

with the US company. (April 1985, p. 130) 

When the Indian company is following so faithfully a line devised by top 

corporate management to protect UCC, it is obvious that UCCôs writ still runs at 

UCIL. 

SABOTAGE THEORY 

If UCCôs first line of defence seemed untenable, its next line of defence 
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approached the ludicrous. Even the business press exhibited a slight disdain for 

what it correctly designated UCCôs ósabotage theoryô. Speaking on the subject at 

the March 1985 UCC press conference, chief executive officer Warren Anderson 

óoffered a scenario in which a disgruntled worker might have wanted to sabotage 

the plant without actually meaning to cause the ensuing tragedyô. 

Extrapolating on only a slight hint in the technical report that sabotage might 

have been the cause, Anderson said the leak ócould have been inadvertent or it 

could have been deliberateô. To back up its sabotage theory, despite the lack of 

any evidence, UCC officials said it was difficult to conceive that up to 240 gallons 

of water (which they estimated was needed to trigger the runaway reaction) 

could have entered the tightly sealed tank totally by accident. Another UCC 

spokesperson said the same day, óWe have never had a problem there before. 

There are no radicals or groups like that. I canôt think of a motive.ô Indeed, some 

US financial analysts dismissed UCCôs theory as nothing but, in the words of K. S 

Raman, óa carefully orchestrated attempt to influence the upcoming legal 

hearingsô. Anderson himself admitted to a US Congressional panel that he had 

óno evidence whatsoever that sabotage was behindô the disaster. 

Despite the lack of evidence and any motive, UCC clung tenaciously to its 

sabotage theory, no doubt influenced by the fact that sabotage was the only 

argument UCC could use to minimize its own liability. In a statement to 

investors in June 1985, it said óUCC does not believe that it will be or should be 

liable for the disastrous events at Bhopal. We were never able to rule out 

sabotage and still have no information that suggests the direct cause was other 

than sabotage. The Bhopal plant, as designed, met all appropriate safety 

standards.ô 

Similarly, at the óChemical Industry After Bhopalô conference held in London 

in November 1985, UCCôs vice-president for health, safety and environmental 

affairs, J ackson Browning, was reported by the Guardian (8 November 1985, p. 

11) as saying: óThe companyôs scientists had established beyond doubt . . . that 

the introduction of 120 to 240 gallons of water into a storage tank could not have 

occurred by accidentô (emphasis added). He further contended UCC had óall but 

ruled out anything but a deliberate actô. Finally the nefarious and nebulous 

saboteurs became a shadowy Sikh terrorist group, the Black June Movement, 

unknown until UCC first reported their existence. This theory became even less 

credible a defence when its source became known: some people in one Punjab 

city were reported to have seen a poster from this Black June Movement 
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claiming responsibility for the disaster. Shri Ahmad, Indiaôs commercial consul 

in New York, commented acidly: óOn the basis of a single poster, seen by only a 

few people in one small city, Union Carbide, one of the largest companies in the 

world, has built up an entire theory to defend itselfô (Chemical Week, 18 

December 1985, p. 13). 

What is particularly worth noting is that UCC had now narrowed the 

definition of the accident to one simple action - the entry of water into the 

storage tank that contained MIC. This is a typical management tactic16 in dealing 

with chemical accidents, described by one industry consultant (Howard, 1983) 

as not looking for the truly basic cause. In this case, UCC was stopping its 

analysis of the fault tree at the sapling stage. At the November óChemical 

Industry after Bhopalô conference, UCC also dismissed the water-washing 

theory, advanced by the workers and by the international trade union report on 

Bhopal, of how the water had entered  
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Here is what investigators have learned: 

A few hours after the incident, a hose with water 
running out of it was found lying near the storage tank. 

In addition, several witnesses discovered that a 
pressure gauge had been removed, leaving an 
unplugged opening into the tank. 

Additional evidence supports the employee sabotage 
finding, including: a shift instrument log indicating 
pressure gauges were present a few days before the 
incident, a sketch reflecting that water had entered the 
tank through a connection to the pressure gauge, logs 
that were altered or missing, and statements from other 
witnesses about the incident. 

Previously, some people thought that routine washing 
of a filter system far from the MIC storage area 
caused water to back up through 400 feet of pipe and 
enter the storage tank. 

And finally, at the Indian Governmentôs direction, a 
hole was drilled into the pipelineôs lowest point. Had 
water gone into the pipe, it would have remained 
because there was no way for it to evaporate or escape 
during or after the incident. 

 

The drilling revealed that the inside was bone dry. 

The evidence is overwhelming that the tragedy at 
Bhopal was an act of employee sabotage. 

Promoting its sabotage theory, UCCôs glossy, full-colour brochure reduces the entire issue to 
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how water entered the MIC storage tank.  
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tank 610: óOur team rejected that theory in March as being highly improbable 

and nothing has been uncovered since that has changed our mind.ô Indeed, 

Jackson Browning told the November conference that UCC scientists had 

established beyond doubt that the water could not have been introduced into 

the tank by accident. 

Compare this position with what Ron Van Mynen, corporate director of 

safety and health and chairperson of the UCC Bhopal investigation team, 

actually said in March 1985: 

We think itôs more likely that the water travelled from the nearby utility station 

directly into the tank. The nitrogen and water lines are at the same utility 

station. If someone had connected a tubing to the water line instead of the 

nitrogen line either deliberately or intending to introduce nitrogen into the 

tank, this could account for the presence of water in the tank. (Van Mynen, p. 

12, emphasis added) 

UCC admitted in March 1985 that its investigations of the killing were severely 

limited by the fact that they were unable to interview the workers who were on 

duty the night it happened. At the óChemical Industry After Bhopalô conference, 

Browning admitted that UCCôs investigatory staff were forbidden admittance at 

all for four days and only thereafter were allowed to the storage tank. All in all, 

the team had around a week to investigate. The Indian journal Sunday reported 

(7-13 April 1985) that the UCC investigating team was not allowed to interview 

any of the Bhopal workers, nor was it allowed access to plant documents. The 

team is reported to have met only two persons - the plantôs production manager 

and works manager ð who could be of any assistance. Neither of these persons 

had been at the plant on the night of the killing. Both arrived after the leak had 

taken place. 

More interesting yet, UCIL managing director Gokhale admitted that UCC 

had not been able to examine the pipelines to determine how water got into the 

tank (Everest, 1985, p. 187). Therefore UCCôs March report had been based on 

analysis of the chemical residue left in the tank after the runaway reaction and 

the leak. From this residue, UCC attempted to reconstruct the chemical 

reactions that could have led to the residue. The industry press noted that UCCôs 

March 1985 report left many questions unanswered, while US environmentalists 

condemned it as highly speculative. Since that report, UCC had performed 

further analysis on the residue from tank 610 - analysis which it claimed 

confirmed its previous findings. From March to November, UCCôs only 
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investigative work consisted of chemical investigations; on what basis did they 

decide the water could have entered the tank only from the nearby utility 

station? The workers had said no connection had been made that night from the 

utility station to tank 610. 

UCCôs dismissal of eyewitness accounts in favour of a theoretical 

reconstruction is a normal management tactic17 - after all, they imply, they are 

only Indian workers and cannot be trusted. This left UCC with its scientific 

analysis of the residue of the chemicals in the tank that leaked as its only 

evidence. On the basis of that evidence, how did UCC move from what its 

scientists had previously presented as possibilities or probabilities to such a 

definite certainty? Hardly on purely scientific grounds. 

UCC was prepared to dismiss the workersô and trade-union account of the 

direct cause in March 1985, saying, óHowever, entry of water into tank 610 from 

this washing in the MIC unit would have required simultaneous leaks through 

several reportedly closed valves, which is highly improbable. ô Yet it also 

admitted that at Bhopal everything that could go wrong did go wrong. UCC 

described the mass murder thus: óThe incident [sic] was the result of a unique 

combination of unusual events.ô Given this, why was the workersô explanation 

any more óhighly improbableô than UCCôs explanation? The workersô 

explanation was backed up by their evidence that valves continually leaked and 

also by UCCôs own admission that maintenance at the plant was appalling. UCC 

presented no evidence for the hidden hand it had introduced as the causal factor. 

It is obvious that UCCôs own óhighly improbableô account of the cause of the leak 

stems from UCCôs interests in denying liability. The claims that their scientists 

had dismissed other accounts of the leak on a scientific basis was nothing but an 

attempt to clothe UCCôs economic interest with scientific legitimacy.18 

Anyone who reads UCCôs March report on the disaster (UCC, 1985b) will 

find more than enough science in it to legitimate anything. The scientific 

content of the report - intimidating as it is to anyone but chemical engineers - is, 

of course, only one side of the story. The report is a theoretical reconstruction of 

what UCCôs scientists believe happened during the runaway reaction inside the 

MIC storage tank. Thus an alternative explanation of the accident in chemical 

terms is possible. 

This is most obvious in the still highly controversial question about the 

reaction: whether MIC had decomposed into hydrogen cyanide. Following the 
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leak in Bhopal, autopsies performed by Dr Heeresh Chandra at Flamidia Hospital 

found symptoms of cyanide poisoning. (A major controversy arose over this 

issue, which is covered in Chapter 3.) In response to claims that hydrogen 

cyanide was among the gases that leaked from the Bhopal plant, aUCC 

spokesperson told the Observer (10 November 1985), óBased on our research and 

observations, we feel you have to get MIC up to extremely high temperatures ð 

in excess of 350 degrees centigrade ð before you get any appreciable amount of 

hydrogen cyanide. Our technical people felt that the temperatures in tank 610 

probably reached between the 200 and250 degree rangeô (emphasis added). Later 

another UCC spokesperson told the New York Times (1 December 1985), óThe 

formation of hydrogen cyanide during the incident is not possible.ô 

Against this, N. Karin Ahmad of the US National Resources Defense Council 

contended that his studies indicated the runaway reaction could have reached 

840°F (449°C), the temperature at which hydrogen cyanide is created in his 

opinion. Anand Grover, a member of the Bombay Lawyersô Collective, a legal 

group involved in litigation over Bhopal in India and himself a chemical 

engineer, said the temperature reached during the runaway reaction could have 

been as high as 1,000°F (538°C). The official Indian government report 

(Varadarajan et al., 1985, p. 11) reads: óFrom the products found in the residue, 

the calculated amount of heats of chemical reactions and the extent of bulging of 

the exhumed tank, it is surmised that the temperature in the tank rose above 250 

degrees centigrade at the time of the accident.ô Elsewhere UCC stated that at 

temperatures of about 400°C, MIC decomposes into nitrous oxides, carbon 

monoxide and dioxide-and hydrogen cyanide. To further complicate matters the 

Madhya Pradesh Chronicle (26 March 1985, reprinted in Pinto and OôLeary, 

1985, p. 65) quotes confidential UCC manuals as saying thermal decomposition 

of MIC takes place at 218°C. UCC says the reaction did not rise above 200°C: the 

intactness of tank 610 proves this. Indian scientists responded by saying the 

complexities of such a runaway reaction could create óhot spotsô with much 

higher temperatures. UCC, naturally, rejected this. 

Similar controversy exists over the volume of water that triggered the 

reaction. UCC said 120 to 240 gallons were required. In January 1985 the Indian 

governmentôs chief scientist Varadarajan, head of the CSIR, was quoted by the 

Press Trust of India as saying ójust half a kilogramme (about 1.1 pints) of waterô 

triggered the reaction (Guardian, 5January 1985, p. 4). His December 1985 

report said up to 110 gallons could have been involved. 
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The final controversial point regarding UCCôs report on the accident relates 

to the composition of the released toxic gases. UCCôs March 1985 report makes 

no attempt to analyse what was the composition of the gases that finally leaked. 

The report blandly states (UCC, 1985b, p. 24), óApproximately 54,000 lb of 

unreacted MIC left Tank 610 together with approximately 26,000 lb of reaction 

products.ô Indeed, in its desire to ignore the escaped reaction products, the 

reportôs summary (UCC, 1985b, p. i) omits them entirely. Despite the hundreds 

of reactions UCC performed to come up with its description of the reaction, 

none of the gaseous products of the reactions are analysed. Everest reports (1985, 

p. 177) that UCC did not respond to questions on its knowledge of what the 

escaped reaction products were. Particularly enlightening here is UCCôs account 

of what products escaped after the runaway reaction in Institute in August 1985: 

the detailed list (see Chemical and Engineering News, 2 September 1985, p. 6) 

contains twenty-three compounds, in amounts ranging from 650 lb down to 7 lb. 

The major difference in Institute was that a US environmental agency performed 

an analysis of the leakôs constituents and published it: UCC was therefore forced 

to provide more information on the constituents of the toxic gas cloud. Needless 

to say, the analyses by UCC and the environmental agency disagreed. 

Some work on the issue was undertaken by Indian state agencies. Dr Misra of 

Gandhi Medical College in Bhopal told Everest (1985, p. 73) that the Indian 

Council on Medical Research had proved conclusively three types of gases 

besides MIC were liberated during the leak: hydrocyanic acid (also known as 

hydrogen cyanide), nitrous oxide and carbon monoxide. Tests undertaken by Dr 

P. K. Remachandran and reported at an Indian Council on Medical Research 

meeting on 4 April 1985 found that at 200°C, the decomposition products of MIC 

contained 3 percent hydrogen cyanide, while at 400°C the proportion of 

hydrogen cyanide was 20 percent (APPEN, 1985, p. 137). Injune 1986, UCCôs 

medical director, 

Dr Bipin Avashia, admitted that there could have been hydrogen cyanide in the 

toxic cloud that enveloped Bhopal {New Scientist, 28 November 1985, p. 41). 

Regarding the sabotage theory, and the shadowy alleged Sikh terrorists who 

were too modest to publicize their success widely, they must have been highly 

knowledgeable about chemical engineering. Varadarajanôs report to the Indian 

government in December 1985 notes: óThe scientific analysis shows that any 

addition of water alone, even deliberately, could not lead to such an accident. 

Anyone wishing to cause an accident of this nature would have to be presumed 
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to have very substantial knowledge and information that metal contaminants 

would already be present and that the alarms and safety systems installed for 

containment were grossly inadequate.ô Given the sophisticated 

chemical-engineering knowledge UCC has ascribed to these terrorists, one 

wonders why it does not solicit advice from them. 

RETURN OF THE DISGRUNTLED WORKER 

UCCôs sabotage theory later abandoned those shadowy Sikhs with chemical 

engineering degrees, only to return yet again to the ódisgruntled workerô theory. 

Hilfra Tandy, a reporter with the Financial Times publication World 

Petrochemical Analysis, was on an all-expenses-paid trip to the USA to view 

UCCôs plants there. While in UCC headquarters in Danbury, Connecticut, she 

was leaked the latest version of the sabotage saga. Harvey I. Colbert, UCCôs 

media-relations manager, toldtheSunday Times (10 August 1986): 

Our investigations to date demonstrate that the Bhopal tragedy was a deliberate 

act. 

These investigations are now focusing on a specific individual employee who 

was disgruntled and who had ample opportunity to deliberately inject the large 

amount of water into the storage tank which caused the massive leakage. 

UCCôs theory now is that the (unidentified) disgruntled worker rigged up a 

water hose to the storage tank, intending only to spoil a batch of the chemical, 

following a row with his supervisor. Another UCC spokesperson told the 

Guardian (11 August 1986, p. 7) that no political motive was involved, but 

refused to give further details, as the matter was before the courts. 

While UC C was drawing attention to this suspect worker, it was as usual 

attempting to have it both ways. Harvey Colbert told the New York Times (11 

August 1986, p. A4) that UCC had ónever used the word sabotage and still is not 

charging sabotageô.19 Sources óclose to the companyô filled out the picture for the 

New York Times: 

. . . the man was an employee who had been demoted a week earlier and was at 

the plant on the night of the accident without management authorization. They 

added that some documents had been altered to change key details that would 

determine culpability, and that the company was closely questioning the 

employee and others who worked there when the leak occurred. The plant is 
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now closed. 

One source said the information was not provided to the Indian government 

because the company had not yet óclosed the loopô in its investigation: the 

employee had not confessed and witnesses would not pin the blame on the 

employee. (12 August 1986, p. AJ) 

UCC refused to tell the Chemical Marketing Reporter (18 August 1986, p. 3) 

óhow long the individual has been a suspect, or whether he was one of the 

eyewitnesses Carbide investigators interviewed immediately after the gas leakô.20 

UCCôs counsel Bud Holman suggested the Indian government withhold its own 

evidence of sabotage as it would hurt Indiaôs court case against UCC. 

Reaction varied, but was mainly disbelief. G. G. Nayak of the Indian 

Chemical Manufacturersô Association told European Chemical News (25 August 

1986, p. 4), óWe do not believe it was sabotage.ô A US lawyer for the Indian 

government also reacted with scepticism: óIf they are really serious about their 

story, they should prove it instead of making vague statements, and they should 

give the name of their suspect to the proper Indian authorities. There is no 

factual basis to support this story and, letôs face it, Union Carbide is not a 

company with a long record of credibilityô (Guardian, 12 August 1986, p. 6). 

Here, we have UCC not as the little boy who cried wolf, but as the little boy who 

changed his story about which wolf it was - too often to be believed.





 

2 THE INDIAN STATEôS 

ROLE 

It was unfortunate for the people of Bhopal that the killing occurred during a 

general election campaign, as it was used for immediate political purposes during 

the election. óWith elections around the corner, candidates and political parties 

mobilized their workers for relief work, publicizing their contribution in the 

processô (Madhya Pradesh Chronicle, 5 December 1984). Bhopal victims were 

mobilized to shout slogans praising Gandhi on his electioneering visit to the city, 

despite the fact they were acutely ill. Both parties accused each other of 

responsibility. 

In the longer term, Indian politicians had more important things to concern 

themselves with than the people of Bhopal. Even the conservative paper the 

Hindu was forced to comment: óAmong their preoccupation with the election 

campaigns, the Central State ministers had no time to provide the kind of higher 

direction required in organizing relief on a large scale, besides investigating the 

cause of the mishap [sic] and taking steps to avoid the recurrence of such 

industrial accidents.ô Thus the citizens of Bhopal were denied even the dubious 

benefits of organized governmentôs reputed ability to react effectively in 

relieving a disaster. 

If the state was too busy to provide adequate relief for the killingôs victims, it 

worked diligently to help cover up the extent of the killing.
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N After the Bhopal killing, the government offers platitudes instead of financial aid: 

óDespite all our differences of religion, differences of language and other differences, we 

are all children of India, and if we go forward together, then India can become strongô - 

Indira Gandhi; óWe must give the highest priority to the rehabilitation of the gas 

victimsô - Rajiv Gandhi. 

Official figures for those murdered by the gas leak hover around 2,000 but 

unofficial sources claim 8,000-10,000 died. By 5 December, according to state 

officials, 1,267 people had been cremated or buried. By 15 December the official 

death toll stood at 2,500, but residents of Jaiprakash Nagar claimed that 3,000 

were killed in that area alone. Similar claims that a cover- up operation had been 

mounted were made regarding the Pemex gas explosion on 19 November 1984 at 

Ixhuatapec, Mexico City: official figures say 400 were killed, but local residents 

said bulldozers buried hundreds more victims.1 

One doctor at Bhopalôs Hamidia Hospital said: óAs soon as a patient was 

declared dead, his relatives would just vanish with the body: I saw at least fifty 

bodies taken away like that. I would estimate that anything between five 

hundred and a thousand bodies were taken away before their deaths  
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could be registered.ô The Catholic relief agency Caritas said 20,000 people died. 

United Nations Childrenôs Fund staff estimated more than 10,000 people died. 

The India Cloth Merchantsô Association said it distributed 10,000 shrouds for 

Hindu and Muslim death services. V. Sriram, an official with the Federation of 

India Chambers of Commerce and Industry, said, óSo many families were wiped 

out that it isnôt difficult to imagine a number as high as 20,000ô (Chemical and 

Engineering News, 21 January 1985, p. 4). 

InHealth & Safety atWork, the Union Research Group (URG) describes the 

stateôs immediate response: 

Concealing the death toll involved not only censorship hut actual destruction of 

evidence: thousands of bodies were cleared away and cremated or dumped in the 

Narmada river ... it was not even ascertained that the people were dead; those 

who regained consciousness after being thrown in the river came back to relate 

their experience. But we will never know how many were burned alive. 

Other cover-up activities included 

preventing voluntary organizations from entering government relief camps, 

closing down government relief camps while there was still an urgent need for 

them; discharging patients from hospitals while they were still seriously sick; 

withholding information obtained from autopsies on the real effects of the gas; 

changing the ócause of illnessô on hospital case papers from óMIC poisoningô to 

something else, so that compensation could not be claimed. (Health & Safety at 

Work, May 1985, p. 41) 

Bhopal presented a major change in strategy in dealing with toxic disasters, in 

that no evacuation to escape contamination was ordered. The Press Trust of 

India quoted scientists at Lucknow Industrial Toxicology Research Centre as 

calling for affected areas to be evacuated, since the gas was likely to remain in 

the atmosphere for three or four weeks. B. Pathak, Professor of Chemistry at 

Calcutta University, believed that the atmosphere in the affected areas should be 

sprayed with diluted ammonia. But it was obvious that the Indian government 

had no intention of evacuating the city, as the costs of such an evacuation would 

have been immense. 

In previous toxic catastrophes, a major controversy had always arisen 

over the physical boundaries of the area considered to be so heavily polluted, or 

in such immediate danger of pollution, that it needed to be evacuated. In Seveso, 

there was an official division of affected areas into Zones A, B and C. At Love 
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Canal, where a neighbourhood had been built on a toxic waste dump, the state 

drew a line beyond which it would not purchase residentsô houses. At Three 

Mile Island, the state vacillated over who was to be evacuated and from where. 

These were major issues, as well as ways of dividing and reassuring the affected 

populations. (See Levidow, 1979, and Pomata, 1979.) 

When no real evacuation was likely in Bhopal, the Indian stateôs desire to 

limit the disruption showed in its immediate denial that pollution existed to an 

extent that would warrant evacuation. Thus, eight hours after the leak, the 

atmosphere in Bhopal was declared free of the gas, though people were warned 

they should be careful about what they ate for another seventy- two hours 

(Financial Times, 6 December 1984). On his electioneering visit to Bhopal, 

Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi said the water had been tested and no toxic 

substances found in it, though the governmentôs chief scientist Varadarajan said 

later that testing only began on 5 December. Gandhi also ósaid emergency steps 

had been taken to stop the spread of toxic effects of the gas on animals and crops. 

He gave no detailsô (New York Times, 5 December 1984, p. A1). 

Praful Bidwai drew a revealing parallel in his recollection of his visit to 

Seveso and spoke of the ófrightening optimismô of the Indian authorities: 

They have already announced that everything is fine, that vegetables and water 

are safe. I am just looking at a sample of diseased spinach ð one of the many 

vegetables within 2/3 km of the killer plant. I can see that portions of it are 

corroded and there is a white deposit on the leaves. 

In Seveso, 730 people were evacuated from óZone Aô, the worst affected, 

although no one had died. Here no one will even consider evacuation, or a ban 

on sale and farming of vegetables or meat or milk. Arjun Singh says itôs for the 

scientific experts to decide. But isnôt that apolitical decision really? How can 

scientists decide what is safe and for whom ? Besides, they havenôt yet started to 

analyse samples in any serious way, they donôt have the instruments to measure 

the tiny amounts of toxin that water, milk and  
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The poison gas most affected the high-density, poorer residential areas (colonies). 
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vegetables may contain. Strange that they should be so confident and arrogant. 

(Bhopal ð Industrial Genocide?, pp. 31-2) 

Within a few days of the accident, the Delhi Science Forum (1985, p. 36) 

reported: ópresumably on the basis of preliminary investigations, formal 

statements were issued that air, water, vegetables and foodstuffs were safe 

everywhere in the city. At the same time TV features informed people that 

poultry was unaffected but wanted people not to consume fish, etc. Confusion 

was rampant; people were asking was it safe to consume eggs, vegetables, etc.ô 

The Delhi Science Forum were being too charitable in suggesting these 

reassurances from the state were made on the basis of preliminary testing.  
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According to other sources, reassuring statements were issued before any testing 

was performed: 

At a press conference on 6 December, the Chief Minister declared that the air 

was totally safe, but an official from the Environmental Pollution Control Board 

who this writer met that evening said that S. Varadarajan, head of CSIR, whose 

services had been requisitioned by the Madhya Pradesh government to handle 

the post-leakage situation, had left Bhopal that afternoon carrying air samples to 

be tested in either Delhi or Lucknow, since the CSIR laboratory in Bhopal lacked 

the necessary equipment to do the job. Tests conducted at the initiative 

ofscience students indicated thepresence of MIC ótill as late as 0.15 p.m. on 

December 5. (Bhopal - Industrial Genocide?,p. 46) 

Furthermore, while the government declared vegetables to be safe for 

consumption, these assurances were received by the people of Bhopal with a 

grain of salt: 

Because it was an open secret that consignments of vegetables and fruit were 

arriving regularly from the government farm at Pachmari, a hill resort near 

Bhopal, for ministers and senior bureaucrats. In any case the pernicious effect of 

the gas on vegetation was manifest. Trees, plants and creepers in the vicinity of 

the plant were charred, and a little farther leaves had turned brown or a deep 

yellow. (Economic & Political Weekly, 24/29 December 1984) 

Confirmation of the lack of scientific basis for scientistsô assurances of safety was 

even provided by the scientists themselves. For example, on 5 December, Dr R. 

L. Rajak, adviser on plant protection (i.e. pesticides and biocides: more 

double-speak) to the Indian Central Agricultural Ministry, said there was no 

chance of toxic effects on plants, as MIC óreacts with moisture and becomes 

non-toxic, yielding some by-product, besides heatô, thereby supporting the UCC 

line. At the same conference Dr Rajak admitted no sample tests had been carried 

out. On 8 December, Dr Mukherjee, agricultural chemistry professor, said 

detailed chemical-residue analysis would be completed on the 9th. However, he 

did not hesitate to say vegetables were safe after washing and cooking. Results 

were not released on the 9th. The local Public Health Engineering Department 

joined in, claiming water analysis had revealed nothing alarming, but it did not 

present its test results. 

Indian government scientists also joined the international chorus of 

reassurance. The Madhya, Pradesh Chronicle (6 December 1984) quoted DrN. A. 
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Ayyager, senior scientist at Pune National Chemical Laboratory: óMIC is not 

generally toxic to human beings except in heavy dosesô; while Professor Mohan, 

the Indian governmentôs ophthalmology consultant, stated (6 December 1984) 

that it was clear, from hospital records, that patients were in no danger of 

permanent blindness. A break in the chorus of reassurance came on the 11th: óDr 

R. P. Dhanda, eminent ophthalmologist and former president of the 

Ophthalmological Society of India, said here today that the chemical burns of 

the eyes, even if cured, remain active for a long time and, generally, the late 

effects of the burns may be worse than the initial tissue reactionô {Free Press 

Journal, 12 December 1984). But on the 13th, after visiting Bhopal with the 

Royal Commonwealth Society for the Blind, Dr Dhanda fell into line: óNo person 

affected by the gas leakage in Bhopal is likely to become blind, though some of 

them may have partial loss of vision . . . [after] the study of the chemical burns 

on the eyes, only a small number of people have been found to have suffered 

damage to cornea in their eyes and most of the affected were likely to be free 

from the symptoms with appropriate treatment.ô 

It is worth noting here a rhetorical question posed by a local environmental 

group, Eklavya. óWhy is it that many scientists refused to even consider that 

MIC may have serious consequences which are not even apparent? If so little is 

known about a chemical, is it not essential to rise to the occasion with an open 

inquiring mind?ô The reasons are obvious. The scientists involved were prepared 

to make reassuring statements without studying the evidence and accumulating 

and analysing information. Indeed their reassurances directly contradicted the 

physical evidence around them, because of the political role allotted to them by 

the state and capital in the post-killing scenario. For Indian scientists, the fact 

that most of them are employed by the government and the public sector means 

they are wide open to state manipulation. Furthermore, most of them adhere to 

a protechnology ideology. 

The Centre for Science and the Environment in New Delhi has pointed out 

that in India ómost producers of scientific knowledge work for the government 

or the corporate sector, both of which close information to the public, especially 

in adverse circumstancesô. Said D. Banerji, community health expert of the 

Jawaharlal Nehru University, óThe Bhopal tragedy has exposed the most 

deplorable state of the community of scientists in India.ô 

Some indications of the views of Indiaôs elite scientists can be found in 

Varadarajanôs statements that Bhopal is the price to be paid for ódevelopmentô, 
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increases in agricultural production and óprogressô in developing countries. On 

the 15th he said: óThe whole issue has to be seen in the context of the 

cost-benefit ratio. It has to be looked at in terms of necessity. No technological 

operation is entirely without risks, we canôt make any advances without them. 

We can only reduce risks.ô That the chief scientist charged with handling the 

post-killing situation should hold these views is no major surprise. When mass 

murder is a ónecessityô, so are censorship and lying. 

For the Indian state to succeed in limiting the crisis, tight control of 

information was essential. This reached ludicrous extremes when information 

on the meteorological conditions on the morning of the killing was declared 

classified. To quote the Delhi Science Forum again: 

The authorities have adopted a curious strategy of withholding vital information 

regarding the extent and the effects on human beings, birds, animals and 

vegetation. Much of the information generated is being treated as óclassifiedô. 

Only modified versions, often deleting all the reservations and qualifications 

attached to the test findings by the investigating team, are being released to the 

public. (1985, p. 35) 

Much as UCC treated its information on MIC as trade secrets, the Indian state 

treated its information as state secrets. The Indian Council on Medical Research 

issued strict instructions to all doctors, both private doctors and government 

doctors, not to disclose their findings to the press or public. Post-mortem results 

and case histories of gas victims were declared classified. This had an adverse 

effect on treatment of the gas victims. For example, as Dr Bhandari of Gandhi 

Medical College told a member of a Japanese group investigating the killing, 

ósince it is prohibited by the state government to publicize the detailed data [on 

MICôs genetic effects], I cannot show them to you here, but we view this very 

seriously, and have been discussing what to do about itô (Reiko, 1985, p. 58). 

The reason behind such secrecy was summed up by Arjun Singh, chief 

minister of Madhya Pradesh State: óInformation will spread fear. We want to 

arrive at complete conclusions if we are to progress in our work and treatmentô 

(Chemical and Engineering News, 21 January 1985, p. 4). This is only to be 

expected from the minister who refused to order any action on the morning of 

the killing until he had the óprecise technical detailsô. This control also 

necessitated preventing or obstructing independent investigations. However, 

the Delhi Science Forum reports (p. 13),óIn sharp contrast to the total 

clamp-down on information and discouragement to Indian scientists willing to 
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undertake independent studies, is the complete freedom with which such 

foreign ñexpertsò who are known to be associated with the foreign defence 

research laboratories are collecting detailed information in Bhopal. They are also 

conducting detailed studies of their own.ô 

Similar controls had to be exercised on the attribution of blame for the 

killing. Thus the sealing of the plant by the Central Bureau of Investigation 

effectively sealed information about the plant and what really happened there. 

Reporters were denied access to the plant by the Bureau, as was the international 

trade-union mission in March 1985 (ICFTU, p. 7). 

Finally, the immediate provision of relief was riddled by the usual corruption 

and bureaucracy. On his electioneering trip to Bhopal, Gandhi had promised 

immediate relief of 4 million rupees (£274,000) and the Madhya Pradesh state 

government also set up a relief fund. The immediate payments - 1,000 rupees for 

óordinaryô injuries and 10,000 rupees for serious injuries after hospital evaluation 

- were given in the form of crossed cheques. Yet most victims had no bank 

accounts and were required to open accounts after depositing 20 rupees before 

the banks would handle their cheques. Banks had to request special permission 

to open accounts for those who did not have the necessary opening deposit of 20 

rupees. 

These payments became a vehicle for immediate political favours. Doctors at 

Bhopalôs Hamidia Hospital went on strike after one doctor was hit by a local 

councillor from the Congress (I) Party, Rajiv Gandhiôs party, in an argument 

over whether a patient should be readmitted to hospital: the councillor wished 

to have the patient readmitted so that he could arrange the higher payment. The 

strike was reported in the Western media but not its cause. Anger over the way 

the relief money was being distributed led to a demonstration on 8 December 

outside the house of the chief minister of Madhya Pradesh. 

The method of determining who was entitled to relief payments has to be 

read to be believed. One Indian journalist reported: 

As for determining who were óseriouslyô affected and who óless seriouslyô, the 

bureaucrats seemed to have evolved their own strange criteria. This writer met 

an additional secretary (tribal welfare) at the Hamidia Hospital who was in the 

process of identifying victims to be given compensation. When asked if he was 

consulting doctors to enable him to decide the cases, he replied, óI am looking at 

their faces and deciding for myselfô. Even after having decided in such arbitrary 

ways who was worthy of getting compensation, the victims were denied their 
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legitimate dues. This writer saw an officer giving compensation (1,000 rupees) 

due to one of the óless seriousô victims piecemeal ð 500 rupees by cheque and 

300 rupees by cash; the remaining 200 rupees, he said, could be collected at the 

victimôs convenience, without specifying where it should be collected. (Bhopal 

ð Industrial Genocide?, p. 45) 

One other example of corruption, among many, was cited by the filmmaker 

Ashay Chitre: óWithin the first week, I know of a politician who had managed to 

get hold of five orphans and registered a society of 65 orphans or something like 

that, and this was within a weekô (APPEN, 1985, p. 35). 

OPERATION FAITH  

In the aftermath of the killing, the Indian state faced a major practical problem - 

disposing of the remaining MIC. That this problem was an urgent one was 

shown when UCIL executives under arrest in the plant refused to leave the plant 

to be remanded in custody: they claimed the plant was in such a dangerous state 

that they could not accept responsibility for what would happen if they left it 

unattended. Similarly Dr S. Varadarajan, of the Council for Scientific and 

Industrial Research, said that the UCC team from the USA feared the remaining 

MIC was unstable and argued that it should be processed immediately: óThe 

chairman of UCC USA sent telex messages asking the government of India to 

proceed with the processing immediately, as the risk of gas leakage was 

increasing every day. UCC could not provide specifications for unstable and 

stable material nor methods fortestingô (Chemical and Engineering News, 27 

May 1985, p. 5). Because of this lack of information, Varadarajan said that he 

delayed the processing, while making arrangements to increase its safety. 

Why did UCC executives show such concern for speedy processing? One 

reason may be found in the results of analyses of air samples taken on 5-6 

December 1984 (that is, three to four days after the killing) by the Pollution 

Control Board, which found 4.5 ppm cyanide in the air near the MIC storage 

tank. 

This is nearly half the Maximal Allowed Concentration [a ósafeô or óceilingô level 

above which workers may not be exposed to a chemical] and about one-fiftieth 

of the lethal concentration set for hydrogen cyanide. The cyanide level reduced 

to half this value fifty metres away from the tank and cyanide was not detected 

in samples collected from three other localities further away from the factory - 
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the clear inference being that cyanide was still leaking from the MIC storage 

tank even on the 5 th and 6th of December. ô (Narayan et al, 1985, p. 10) 

Local UCIL management were reported to have brought workers to the plant to 

process the remaining MIC but were refused entry by the police. 

This problem, the Guardian (11 December 1984, p. 6) reported, óis 

compounded by the antagonism in the city towards the Union Carbide 

management. Any signs of activity at the plant, which is closed and under tight 

security, would cause an outcry in Bhopal and the government would be forced 

to evacuate the entire town - an impossible task. ô The state had cause to worry 

about its loss of social control in Bhopal. Everest (1985, p. 146) reports, óThe day 

after the killing, several thousand Bhopal residents tried to storm the factory. 

Plant officials and police guarding the plant, hopelessly outnumbered, only 

succeeded in turning the crowd away by telling them that another poisonous gas 

leak was in progress.ô On 10 December, local panic was reported at the 

possibility of the gas being moved. The elite were the first to leave: with reason, 

they did not trust their own class. One frightened industrialist told the New 

York Times, óWe are getting out today and not coming back until the plant has 

been cleared of all the gas.ô
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Operation Faith - the name given by the Indians to the processing of the 

remaining MIC into the finished pesticide product - fulfilled a social as well as a 

technical function. It was essential for the Indian state to contain any possibility 

of disturbance or revolt caused by the killing. The attempted storming of the 

plant was followed by demonstrations over the distribution of immediate relief. 

Because of this, some Indian observers argue that the mass exodus from Bhopal 

during Operation Faith was engineered by a state government anxious to diffuse 

growing public anger. Thus the peopleôs attempts to organize politically, difficult 

enough given the state of physical health of many of them, were defused and 

diffused into an immediate personal concern for safety. This personalized the 

problem of safety: fight turned to flight and the state demonstrated its ability 

once again to impose its own life-and-death solutions on its subjects. 

While the state wished to avoid a permanent evacuation - such as those 

following the toxic disasters at Seveso, Love Canal and Times Beach, related to 

long-term contamination - the short-term evacuation during Operation Faith 

was acceptable. It delayed the return to ónormalityô and the resumption of 

production that is a major concern of both state and capital in the wake of any 

disaster, but since Bhopal is mainly a town of the bureaucracy and service 

industries the impact would be less dramatic. It possessed only two major heavy 

industries - UCIL itself and the Bharat electrical factory - so production could be 

temporarily interrupted without major losses. 

Given the peopleôs recent experience and their justifiable distrust over the 

reopening of the factory, some form of evacuation was inevitable. 

Contradictions in government statements and actions accentuated this. While 

assuring the public that Operation Faith was 100 percent safe, it closed schools 

and provided extra transportation out of the city. It also set up special camps in 

that part of the city farthest from the factory for those who were unable to leave 

the city. In a typical move, chief minister Arjun Singh told the public that he 

would be in the plant during the processing to show how safe the process was 

and to show his faith in Indian science and technology. Not many citizens were 

impressed with this: one observed to the New York Times (14 December 1984, p. 

A!0) that the chief minister óhas a car, a helicopter, buses, trains in which to get 

away - we have nothingô. Singh did not limit himself to material means of 

assistance only: he called on the people of Bhopal to pray for him and for the 

success of Operation Faith. 

Although the mass media characterized the local peopleôs reaction to 
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Operation Faith as one of ópanicô, it is important to point out that there was a 

sound scientific basis to their fears. One of the characteristics of MIC is that it 

sensitizes the exposed person, with the result that further exposure, even ómildô, 

can result in allergic reactions which, in some cases, may be lethal. Furthermore, 

despite the Indian stateôs propaganda that it would be in control of Operation 

Faith, it was obvious that Union Carbide management and staff were not only 

running the factory during Operation Faith but were also calling the shots as to 

how the remaining MIC was to be disposed of. 

The choice of technical means involved was dictated by UCCôs economic 

interest. 

Operation Faith may be seen as a victory for the balance-sheet view. UCC 

was pushing hard for the remaining MIC to be processed into finished pesticide 

form and had immediately recommended its units throughout the world to use 

up remaining MIC stocks before governments moved in to close the plants. One 

possibility was that the MIC would be returned to the parent company for 

neutralization. UCC very much wished to avoid this; as it already had one 

consignment of MIC on the way back to the USA, it didnôt want any more. Quite 

a large proportion of the charge2 UCC took in its fourth-quarter results against 

Bhopal related to transportation and neutralization of MI C, along with the 

consequent loss of finished product. Cost-benefit analysis ruled in Operation 

Faith. It would have been possible, for example, to neutralize the remaining MIC 

under a nitrogen blanket using caustic soda, but this would have been all cost 

and no benefit to UCC.3 

Operation Faith was unquestionably a combined production of the state and 

capital. Many observers have condemned it as a further example of the Indian 

stateôs kotowing to UCCôs priorities and said it exemplified the technological 

poverty of the Indian state. This view needs to be qualifed by part of a report of a 

detailed study by the Union Ministry of Chemicals and Fertilizers in February 

1985; the report said UCC refused to provide information to the Indian state 

after the Central Bureau of Investigation seized the Bhopal plant, including 

information on how to dispose of the remaining MIC (Economic and Political 

Weekly, 16 February 1985, p. 254). Thus UCC may have forced the Indian 

government into accepting UCCôs control of the decision on how to dispose of 

the remaining MIC. This required participation by UCC experts from the US A, 

who had previously been refused entry to the plant for fear they might destroy 

evidence. The CSIRôs Dr S. Varadarajan, the chief Indian government scientist in 
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charge of Operation Faith, told the Indian Science Congress in January 1985 that 

his team had found no one at Bhopal who had any idea of the chemistry of MIC. 

Engineers at the plant went by the operating manual only and did not 

understand its design. 

Nevertheless, the Indian state put the best possible face upon Operation 

Faith. It was described as TOO percentô safe and was ósupervisedô by fifty Indian 

scientists. With the double-speak normal for such a situation, the Indian 

government described the pesticide production process as a óneutralizationô 

process. By the time Dr Varadarajan finally finished his report on Bhopal in 

December 1985, the part played by UCC staff had been forgotten: Varadarajanôs 

report omits any mention of UCC staff involvement, giving the impression that 

Operation Faith was totally conceived and controlled by Indian government 

scientists and technologists.4 At the time, however, Varadarajan told the New 

York Times (21 December 1984, p. A9), óAll the work has been done by Union 

Carbide people under the supervision of our scientists . . . No one else is in 

charge. Nobody can operate the factory except the factory manager and his staff. 

The scientists were monitoring and supervising the process. ô 

The amount of trust that should be placed in these UCC experts was shown 

when it was reported that the amount of MIC processed during Operation Faith 

was 22 tonnes, nearly 50 percent more than the UCC experts had estimated 

remained in the plant. óSo much for scientific expert caution and scientific 

exactitudeô, commented the local environmental group, Eklavya. Some of this 

extra MIC can be accounted for by the 1 tonne of MIC transferred to another 

tank in October 1984. Plant officials told Indian government officials that they 

had forgotten about it. 

Operation Faith was successful for both UCC and the Indian state. As well as 

disposing of the remaining MIC, it helped the state re-establish social control, 

broke up communities and scattered people from Bhopal throughout Madhya 

Pradesh State. Some of them returned to their own villages and did not return to 

Bhopal until much later, if they returned at all. 

An interesting parallel can be drawn here with the crisis management of 

Three Mile Island. By avoiding the spectacular threat of a meltdown at the 

Harrisburg nuclear plant, the nuclear industry could claim the Three Mile Island 

incident demonstrated the ósafetyô of nuclear power. The industry was able to 

claim a victory over a spectacular possibility, rather than admit the defeat 

involved in the actual release of radiation by the accident. Similarly, Operation 
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Faith served to hide the threat that the people of Bhopal faced from the slow 

death that was attacking some of those exposed; it focused attention on the 

spectacular possibility of another leak. Thus the fear of further acute exposure to 

MIC was raised, while the chronic effects of the original exposure were 

minimized and denied. 

AFTER OPERATION FAITH  

After Operation Faith the Indian government proclaimed that the crisis was 

over. Following the safe disposal of the remaining MIC as a catharsis, everything 

should now return to normal. Thus when Dr Varadarajan was asked on 20 

December 1984 what other hazardous chemicals were present in the Bhopal 

plant, he mentioned chlorine and alpha naphthol, ignoring the presence of other 

toxic chemicals such as carbon tetrachloride, chloroform, monomethylamine 

and phosgene. In keeping with the Indian governmentôs refusal to provide 

information, he refused to give details on the quantity of toxic chemicals still 

stored at the plant. Similarly, the state gave no information on what would be 

done with the Bhopal plant. The only certainty was that UCIL would no longer 

be allowed to operate it. Continued unexplained activity at the plant led people 

to fear another leak, not without cause. 

On 22 March 1985 the government began to move chemicals such as chlorine 

and monomethylamine out of the factory. Again, secrecy was paramount. The 

Hindustan Times (23 March 1985) reported: óThe police and the security guards 

of the factory nearly pounced on some newsmen yesterday as they were trying 

to take pictures of the tankers positioned in the factory and as the tankers moved 

out of the plant. The police objected to the media men watching the mysterious 

shifting of these materials even



THE INDIAN STATEôS ROLE 69 

3). 

 

 

from outside the boundary wall of the factory.ô During these transfer operations, 

chlorine leaked on 28 March and three workers were treated for exposure. On 1 

April 1985, chlorosulphuric acid fumes leaked at the plant. Hundreds of 

slum-dwellers fled the area. On 2 April, Motilal Vora, the new chief minister of 

Madhya Pradesh State, told the state assembly, óThere is no toxic chemical left 

in the plant and whatever other chemical is being stocked is being removed 

from the plantô (Guardian, 3 April 1985, p. 9). Later the same day, however, a 

UCIL vice-president confirmed chlorine had leaked but said, óIt was a minor 

matter. No one was affected and no one was hospitalizedô (Financial Times, 3 

April 1985, p. 4). 

In the period after Operation Faith, the Indian state believed a quick deal 

with UCC was on the cards. The state, of course, wished for a return to 

normality, business as usual, and also wished to minimize the expense involved 

in post-disaster work. The prospect of an imminent deal removed the need to 

discover the causes of the killing; therefore the government crawled at a very 

slow pace in its public and private examination of the leakôs causes. 

Business India (25 February 1985) reported that a growing suspicion existed 

that the results of the official investigation would never be made public. The 

criminal investigation by the Central Bureau of Investigation, which was 

originally supposed to be completed within a month, was reported to have 

barely begun. The Madhya Pradesh Commission of Inquiry, which was 

supposed to have reported by 15 March 1985, did not hold its first meeting until 

the end of March. With the Central Bureau of Investigation put on the 

back-burner and the Commission of Inquiry obstructed by the local state, 

happily enough the details of the Indian politiciansô complicity with UCC would 

be covered up. In April 1985 the Central Bureau of Investigation report was 

expected to be completed by the end of May {Sunday, 7-13 April 1985). It has 

yet to appear.5 In keeping with its cover-up activities, the Indian government 

proposed destroying the remaining MIC from the tank which had leaked, thus 

making its analysis and testing impossible. This move was stopped only after a 

High Court action forced preservation of 15 kilograms for examination (Everest, 

p. 150). This policy also entailed a major medical cover-up (see Chapter 

The government paid little attention to the need for relief and rehabili-
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tation, as it expected the quick arrival of US dollars. Similarly, the prospect of a 

negotiated settlement removed the need for studies of the gasôs effects and the 

number of the population affected, which would be essential for a court-room 

battle with UCC. The situation was complicated by the continued existence of a 

pro-UCC power bloc inside the Indian state scientific/medical bureaucracies. 

UCCôs continuing influence was demonstrated when local UCIL management 

arranged for the Central Bureau of Investigation to detain and question for two 

days a production crew that had filmed the Bhopal plant for the BBC television 

programme World in Action  (Listener, 6 June 1985, p. 7).6 The governmentôs 

interest in ending the crisis coincided with UCCôs desire to deny that the killing 

had longterm effects. Faced with this coalition of interests between local state 

and international capital, various struggles arose around the right to know, 

medical treatment, the future of the Bhopal plant and the issues of relief and 

rehabilitation. 

The first struggle took place over state provision of free rations. Before the 

elections took place, the local government made free rations available to the 

majority of the population. Though only some 250,000 people were affected by 

the gas, some 700,000 fresh ration cards were issued by Arjun Singhôs state 

government. This was transparently a political ploy to gain support for the 

forthcoming elections. In January, following the elections, the government 

halted the free distribution of rations, giving as its reason the need to investigate 

who was entitled to get relief. The various voluntary organizations, which had 

cast the Bhopal killing in the mould of a hurricane or some other ónatural 

disasterô that required only interim relief, also pulled out of Bhopal. 

The people protested at the cutting off of relief. On 1 January 1985 the 

Nagrik Rahat aur Punarwas Committee mobilized a chakkajam (Stop the 

Wheels) protest by organizing people to squat on Bhopalôs main thoroughfares. 

On 3 January, some 10,000 people took part in a protest march. The same day 

the Zahreeli Gas Kand Sangharsh Morcha (Poisonous Gas Disaster Struggle 

Front) organized a óDhikkar Diwasô (Day of Condemnation) and a dharna (relay 

fast) in front of the residence of Arjun Singh, chief minister of Madhya Pradesh 

state. This developed into a ten- day dharna, and finished with a óRail Rokoô 

(Stop the Train Wheels) protest. 

The state didnôt take this lying down: ten people were hospitalized on the 

second day of the dharna, having been beaten by the police when the protesters 

had threatened to storm the chief ministerôs residence. Dr Sadgopal and seven 
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other Morcha activists were arrested at the chief ministerôs house. The police 

rounded up other Morcha activists before they reached the railway station and 

held them. At the railway tracks some 300 people were arrested, at least half of 

them women, held overnight and released without being charged the next day. 

Dr Sadgopal and the seven other fasters from the Morcha were told they would 

be released if they signed an undertaking to stop organizing in the slums. They 

refused, were held for eight days and were released without being charged. 

Despite this repression, the rations were restored, though the state constantly 

threatened to cut them off again. 

The composition of the rations also became an issue, not without cause. 

Praful Bidwai, reporting for the Times of India, noted that 

a quarter of the free rations recorded as being doled out was not reaching the 

people, while the quality of the rations was very bad: in some cases as much as a 

third or four -fifths of the wheat is stones, pebbles and other muck, and the milk 

is liberally adulterated with water and finally, several thousand poor families 

who desperately need support do not receive any free rations because they have 

not been issued ration cards (as they live on unauthorized plots of land) or have 

been tricked by local ration-shop owners and petty officials into surrendering 

them. (27 March 1985) 

As well as responding to protests with repression, the state sought to divide the 

affected community to prevent it from uniting in response to the killing. The 

distribution of free rations contributed to the increasing tensions between the 

various areas of Bhopal. A doctor from Bhopal told Comhlamh News: 

A few days after the disaster the streets of the slums nearest to the Union 

Carbide factory were thronged with various aid agencies distributing food, 

blankets, clothing, medicine etc. to people who lived in the area. óIt was like a 

race to see who was most generous ð who could give most things away. 

Families who had not suffered received the same as families who had.' In 

response to this many of the men stopped working, got a certificate from a  
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One of the many demonstrations organized by the Morcha. This one, in January 1985, 

demanded óNo reopening of the plantô, in response to frequent rumours that it would 

resume operations. 
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local doctor to state that they were affected by the gas and joined the handout 

queues. Meanwhile inhabitants of the other areas of town, unaffected by the 

leakage from the plant, began to resent the growing level of prosperity enjoyed 

by those who lived in the disaster area. This helped to cause antagonism and 

tension and brought about a split in the community. On several occasions lorries 

carrying supplies to the affected areas were stoned by other residents and in 

some instances the contents were seized. (Autumn 1985, p. 28) 

This doctorôs evidence has to be treated with some suspicion, given his claim 

about the easy availability of certificates stating persons were affected by the 

gas; all the other coverage implied it was extremely difficult to obtain such 

certificates. Nevertheless, the description of splits in the community rings true. 

The government also went out of its way to exploit the division between the 

Bhopal plant workers and the slum dwellers. It attempted to frighten
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the workers away from organizing with the gas victims by saying the victims 

held the workers responsible for the killing. óWhen workers raise demands, they 

are reminded of the worse fate of the gas victims. Thus the government uses the 

gas victims to put down workersô demandsô (Economic and Political Weekly, 14 

December 1985, p. 2200). The government also wished to disperse the plant 

workers. It set up an employment exchange specifically for UCIL workers, 

following its announcement that the factory at Bhopal would not be reopened. 

The government undertook to provide alternative employment for the workers, 

who had thereby lost their jobs. This promise was as shabbily carried out as all 

the other government promises: workers were offered jobs far from Bhopal, 

generally at lesser rates of pay which did not take account of the workersô skills 

and experience. 

ORGANIZED OPPOSITION 

The response from organized opposition forces in India varied widely. The 

following account is necessarily sketchy. More detailed analysis of opposition 

forces around Bhopal will, one hopes, be provided by the people involved, as 

lessons from Bhopal would help people opposing toxic industry elsewhere. 

The response by the capitalist opposition parties was opportunistic and 

sporadic. Attempts by these parties to make political capital out of the Bhopal 

killing were not highly successful, given the fact that they shared the same 

attitude and some of the same relationships with toxic capital as did the party in 

power, Rajiv Gandhiôs Congress (I) Party. The response by the mainstream left 

was dismal. Praful Bidwai, assistant editor of the Times of India, has pointed out 

that one reason for the inadequate relief and rehabilitation measures provided 

by the Indian state was the weakness of the pressure exerted by opposition 

forces. J ust as the Indian state treated the killing not as a national but as a local 

disaster, so also the opposition forces within India did not organize adequately 

on a national basis on the issue of Bhopal. óThe primary cause of this weakness is 

the lack of response to this issue by the trade unions and the communist partiesô 

(Inside Asia, November 1985, p. 42). 

This lack of response may be illustrated anecdotally. In September 1985, Suraj 

Patil, a minister of state, said in the Lok Sabha (the national parliament) that 

UCCôs Bhopal research and development centreôs operational licence had not 

been renewed. However, no licence is needed for R&D activities. A Morcha 
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activist showed a West Bengal leftist MP documentary proof and asked him to 

move a motion accusing the minister of misleading parliament. The MP 

defended Union Carbide, said parliament should not be bothered with such 

trivial matters and told the Morcha not to overestimate the importance of 

Bhopal. This is just one example of the many complaints by activists that 

opposition political parties and mass fronts, particularly the leftists, were not 

concerned with Bhopal and the issues it raises. 

This failure to organize on the issues Bhopal raised is to be expected from the 

communist parties and trade unions of India. Both of the Indian communist 

parties view their natural base as among the industrial working class and their 

task to be the organization of this class. Given that the continued growth of both 

communist parties is based on the continued growth of industrialization in 

India, they are unlikely to either welcome or articulate criticism of this 

industrialization. Indeed, the party in power in West Bengal, the Communist 

Party (Marxist), is involved in attracting multinational capital and increasing 

state control of the working class: óSeeking to assert itself as a better manager of 

regional interests than the Congress, [the Communist Party (Marxist)] has not 

surprisingly betrayed its election pledges by tightening controls on the West 

Bengal labour force, as part of a drive to attract public and private (including 

multinational) investment to the regionô (Vanaik, 1986, p. 60). This uncritical 

attitude to the forces of production is a characteristic of many socialist and 

communist parties. 

Opposition groups that have organized in and on Bhopal mainly come from 

the autonomous sector, which has grown recently in India. Generally these 

groups have consisted of independent non-party leftists and radicals, with some 

input by Marxist-Leninist groups. Activities have divided into two areas, 

research and organization, though opting for one area has not excluded 

participation or support for the other. 

In the former, work has been done by environmental groups such as Eklavya, 

radical science groups such as the Delhi Science Forum and radical health 

groups such as the Medico-Friend Circle. Both the Bhopal-based Eklavya and 

the Delhi Science Forum produced excellent English-language reports and 

circulated them within a short time after the killing. The first version of the 

Delhi Science Forum report, for instance, was presented to the press on 18 

December 1984. While one might take issue with various aspects of the Delhi 

Science Forum report in particular, the production of these reports was a 
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commendable example of a speedy response by a radical science group to a 

major popular issue. The quick production of these reports also influenced the 

media, given that no such accounts and investigations were made available 

either by UCC or the Indian state. However, it must be noted that most of these 

reports and analyses were produced for the intellectual elite: there appears to 

have been little attempt to communicate their findings to the gas-affected 

people. 

Radical health groups such as the Medico-Friend Circle occupy an 

intermediate position between the poles of organization and research. Thus, as 

well as doing excellent medical epidemiological research, the Medico-Friend 

Circle set up health projects. Along with other radical health groups such as 

Drug Action Forum, it provided the medical staff for the Peopleôs Health Clinic, 

set up by the combined opposition forces in June 1985. A similar position, 

half-way between research and action, was occupied by the Bombay-based 

trade-union research organization, the Union Research Group. Finally, action in 

its own professional area, as well as research, was undertaken by the 

Bombay-based Lawyersô Collective, a leftist professional group which made 

their professional skills available. 

Two major groups concentrated on organizing opposition on the ground in 

Bhopal. These have already been mentioned: the Nagrik Rahat aur Punarwas 

Committee, associated with the film-maker Tapan Bose, and the Zahreeli Gas 

Kand Sangharsh Morcha, associated with Dr Anil Sadgopal. Womenôs groups 

also took part in both organization and research, in particular the Delhi-based 

womenôs group, Saheli. The importance of women in the struggles after the 

killing cannot be overestimated: women activists were also prominent in many 

of the mixed groups, and the women of Bhopal themselves were extremely 

prominent in the protest activities. 

The leftist opposition in Bhopal was plagued by the normal problems familiar 

to anyone anywhere with experience of the radical left. These included 

jockeying for power inside popular organizations and fronts, parachuting 

ready-made programmes on popular issues and movements, autocratic 

organizations and hierarchical structures, concentration on ideological 

differences rather than practical co-operation, dogmatism, the desire to be seen 

as the group representing the victims, and personality clashes. While 

organization and protest by leftist-led groups attracted a large number of gas 

victims initially, one Indian comrade reports this ógradually tapered down to a 
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dismal state due to a combination of lack of effort towards politicization of 

cadres/masses, autocracy within the organization, hopelessness among the 

people setting in fast due to lack of any history of organized struggle and of 

course the stateôs repressionô.7 

Attempts were also made to organize on a national basis. On 17 and 18 

February 1985, a national convention in Bhopal was attended by 150 delegates 

from about sixty-five organizations in thirteen different Indian states. This 

convention saw the formation of a Rashtriya Abhiyan Samiti (National 

Campaign Committee), whose aims were to campaign on a subcontinental scale 

on the issues raised by Bhopal and to support local organization and relief efforts 

in Bhopal. The Committee organized national protests and supported groups in 

Bhopal both politically and financially. Disagreements and disputes also arose 

between some groups in the National Committee: in one case, for example, the 

Delhi Committee on the Bhopal Gas Tragedy was asked to withdraw its 

pamphlet, Repression and Apathy in Bhopal. Similar support for the workersô 

struggle and for general rehabilitation efforts came from the formation of the 

Trade Union Relief Fund. 

International support and solidarity was also organized. Speakers from India 

toured communities in the USA where UCC plants are located. Other activists 

visited Britain, Ireland and other European countries. In Britain a conference on 

the issues raised by Bhopal, which was attended by Indian activists, was 

organized in November 1985. Protests at various UCC offices also took place. In 

the USA a conference was organized for two days in March 1985 at Newark, 

New Jersey, on the theme óAfter Bhopal: Implications for Developed and 

Developing Nationsô. There were also expressions of solidarity in Asia, 

particularly through the Asian Pacific Peoplesô Environment Network 

(APPEN), which also produced an excellent publication making available basic 

documents relating to the killing and the opposition. Hong Kongôs Arena Press 

also quickly produced an excellent selection of articles on the killing from 

Indian publications. 

One excellent trend following Bhopal was a growth in co-operative
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research between groups in peripheral and metropolitan countries on Bhopal 

and its implications. The Highlander Research Center, in New Market, 

Tennessee, USA, co-operated with the Society for Participatory Research in 

Asia in producing a document dealing with Bhopal and its implications. Ward 

Morehouse of the US CitizensôCommission on Bhopal co-operated with M. 

Arun Subramaniam of the journal Business India to produce a report. 

Environmental researcher Barry Castleman co-operated with Prabir 

Purkayastha of the Delhi Science Forum to produce an excellent case study of 

double standards between UCCôs plants at Bhopal and Institute, West Virginia. 

These efforts were useful in helping spread information on what happened at 

Bhopal and its implications. 

Practical support was more difficult to organize. The struggles in Bhopal 

after the disaster developed on two fronts. The first related to relief and. 

rehabilitation of the gas victims and concentrated on the medical treatment of 

the victims. The second front focused on a possible alliance between the
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plant workers and the gas victims, which grew out of the workersô demands for 

alternative employment and eventually developed into an unsuccessful demand 

for alternative production. 

W ORKERSô STRUGGLE 

The struggle of UCIL workers in Bhopal is the one that has received most 

support from the Western left, as well as most coverage in its press. This struggle 

has been presented as a unified one shared by both workers and gas victims, as 

an example of a struggle for conversion of toxic industry and even as the 

beginning of a case for workersô control of industry. The workersô struggle arose 

from the Madhya Pradesh state governmentôs avowed aim of ensuring the 

Bhopal plant would never reopen under UCIL. In the aftermath of the killing, 

UCC has offered to open a battery plant in Bhopal but this was rejected out of 

hand by the local state. Interestingly, however, the R&D centre was allowed to 

continue operating, though its tax-free status was suspended. In April 1985 UCIL 

announced the factory would be closed in the beginning of July. 

One of the workersô trade unions began a campaign calling for the 

preservation of the workersô jobs or the provision of alternative employment. 

This campaign received support from the Bombay trade unions and from the 

Bombay-based Union Research Group. The basic campaign for employment had 

another demand added to it: that alternative production should take place in the 

UCIL plant in Bhopal, which would provide jobs not only for the now 

unemployed chemical plant workers but also for a proportion of the gas victims. 

Furthermore, the products to be made by this alternative production should be 

socially useful. Capping all this was the presumption that this alternative 

production would be managed by the workers. On 14 June 1985, 400 people 

stormed into the plant to begin a sit-in protest over job losses. Workers, with the 

co-operation of the Union Research Group and some local academics, proposed 

that the UCIL plant be converted to produce soya-based food products and 

agricultural machinery. What had started as a traditional struggle by the 

representatives of variable capital (labour power) for jobs and compensation was 

thus given a new twist. 

This campaign was criticized on various grounds (Jackson et al., 1985, pp. 

11-12). The main idea of alternative production was imported from the Bombay 

trade unions. The assumption of the Bombay activists that the plant would 
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operate under workersô control overestimated the sophistication of the Bhopal 

workers. Bhopal lacked a tradition of trade-union struggle, which might possibly 

have laid the foundation for workersô control; Bhopal is basically 

unindustrialized, like the state of Madhya Pradesh in general. The technical 

practicality of alternative production was also questioned by trade unionist Jacky 

Vidal from the UCC plant at Beziers in France, who had been a member of the 

international trade-union investigatory mission to Bhopal. Finally, of course, 

there were grave doubts as to the suitability of producing food products in a 

plant which had previously been used to process highly toxic chemicals. One of 

the doctors arrested in the government repression in Bhopal in June 1985, Nishit 

Vora, commented: óSo this whole idea of alternate production, as far as Iôm 

personally concerned and to many others who are basically more active with the 

gas victims, is not feasible either socially or technicallyô (J ackson et al., 1985, p. 

12). 

Despite credit due to the opposition in Bhopal, these criticisms seem 

warranted. It also appears that the much-heralded alliance between gas workers 

and gas victims was more illusory than real. The state repression at the end of 

June 1985 which resulted in the arrest of many activists and the closure of the 

Peopleôs Health Clinic passed the trade unionists by: their leaders were not 

arrested in the midnight swoop. This exemption was reportedly due to a deal 

between the police and the trade unions in which, in return for immunity from 

arrest, the unions agreed not to take part in the forthcoming demonstration. 

Regardless of whether or not such reports were true, the tenuous ósolidarityô 

between workers and gas victims was broken. 

On another level, it was unrealistic to expect the trade unions to be 

concerned about anything other than the sectional interests of their members. 

The purely sectional character of the trade-union demands has been condemned 

by Indian activists: óThese unions, in common with most of the unions in other 

Carbide plants, have conspicuously failed to launch any agitation or industrial 

action to support the claims of the gas victimsô (.Economic and Political Weekly, 

14 December 1985, p. 2198). The trade unions were also quick to abandon the 

alternative production plans. 

Originally the Union Carbide Karamchari Sangh, the trade union not affiliated 

to Rajiv Gandhiôs Congress (I) Party, had demanded alternative production at 

the Bhopal plant. When the plant was closed, this demand was dropped in 

favour of alternative employment and higher redundancy payments. These 
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demands were identical to those of the union affiliated to the Congress (I) Party, 

the Union Carbide Workersô Union. 

The workersô occupation of the plant created major problems for UCILôs plans 

to sell off the plant. Yet for public-relations reasons it was not possible for UCIL 

to ask the state to remove the occupying workers. UCIL tolerated the problem, 

as it hoped resolution of the compensation issue regarding jobs and gratuities 

would end the occupation. This eventually happened in December 1985, when 

UCIL made a large cash settlement with the workers in return for an end to the 

factory occupation and an end to any further demonstrations against the 

company by the workers. 

REPRESSION AND I NADEQUATE REHABILITATION  

In accounts of repression, most attention has been paid to the closing down by 

the police of the Peopleôs Health Clinic in June 1985. That same month the 

police also closed down a womenôs centre which had been set up in Bhopal with 

food, library and other support facilities. The repression in J une was an attack 

not only on the health activities of the activists but also on the accompanying 

agitation. Activist groups in Bhopal had realized from the beginning that the 

problems involved in Bhopal were too great for non-governmental organizations 

to cope with. Thus rehabilitation activities were constantly coupled with 

attempts to organize the gas victims to demand their basic rights to adequate 

relief and rehabilitation from the government. The repression in June 1985 was 

carried out both by the police and by local political activists and thugs associated 

with Rajiv Gandhiôs Congress (I) Party. 

The mass arrest on 24 June, with the closure of the Peopleôs Health Clinic, 

was intended to prevent the protest rally due to take place the following day. Up 

to forty people were arrested by the police, of whom only six were doctors; the 

rest were activists of the Morcha and the Nagrik Rahat aur Punarwas 

Committee, as well as activist slum dwellers. While the police claimed that 

activists were arrested to prevent trouble at the following dayôs rally, which had 

been organized by the Morcha, the real intent was to try to prevent the rally 

from taking place and thus impede the developing struggle of the gas victims. 

This policy of arresting presumed leaders promoted the stateôs claim that 

outside agitators alone were responsible for the protests in Bhopal. On the night 

of 24 June, Congress (I) Party goons put posters on the walls of the UCIL factory 

alleging that the Morcha had CIA links. These posters were also distributed 
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among the slums. Morcha activists claim that Sudip Bannerjee, former director 

of the Madhya Pradesh state information and publicity department, told press 

reporters that the Morcha had links with UCC. The Madhya Pradesh governor 

called Morcha activists óprofessional agitators and vested interestsô, while the 

chief minister branded them as outside elements. Accusations on posters have 

claimed Morcha activists were CIA agents or UCC supporters. Consistent with 

this attempted criminalization of dissent, the Morcha offices were placed under 

surveillance. The Local Intelligence Bureau asked the shop where the Morcha 

did its photocopying to make a copy for them of all Morcha material. 

The arrest of these óoutside elementsô did not prevent the rally, which was 

intended to take place outside the Madhya Pradesh government secretariat: 

some 3,000 to 4,000 people attended it. A police cordon had been thrown around 

the secretariat building. Even the protest was manipulated. When the 

demonstrators tried peacefully to pass through the police cordon and gherao 

(obstruct and occupy) the secretariat, the police charged the demonstrators on 

the pretext that stones were thrown at them by the crowd. The stone-throwing 

was done not by the demonstrators but by Congress (I) Party goons who had 

infiltrated the crowd. Some thirty- one activists were arrested after the police 

charge. The stateôs attempt to criminalize dissent and protest required that 

demonstrators be smeared with a violent tag. As well as the organized 

stone-throwing, two activists ð arrested on 24 June and illegally confined by 

the police until the 27th - were charged with approaching the UCIL factory on 

the 25th at 10.30 a.m. with cans of kerosene. Many of the charges would not 

succeed of course, yet they succeeded in impeding agitation, both by diverting 

activists to defending themselves in the legal process and by smearing the 

protesters with the violence planned by the stateôs allies.8 

The state continued its policy of inaction on relief and rehabilitation 

combined with repression of dissent and protest. In July 1985 the London Times 

reported (11 July 1985, p. 1) that the state government had not carried out a 

survey of those incapacitated and requiring sickness benefit, while only 906 

families of those who had died had received the £605 (10,000 rupees) state grant. 

On the medical side, according to one doctor, the pace of detoxification 

injections for the 110,000 people affected was going so slowly that it would take 

seven years to complete. In May 1985 a large number of fish died overnight in 

Bhopal. Water was sent for testing but no results were made public. This 

inactivity was normal. The previous March, Professor S. K. Roy and and D. S. 
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Tripathi of Banaras Hindu University had said tests on crops óshowed that MIC 

acted as a mutagen and changed the morphology and breeding behaviour of the 

plants . . . They advocated destruction of all standing crops and keeping the land 

fallow till after the  monsoonsô (Madhya Pradesh Chronicle, 16 March 1985). 

Needless to say, this was not done. Similarly, the Nagrik Rahat aur Punarwas 

Committee reported that the water in Bhopal was polluted, but no action 

followed. 

Investigations into the killing ground to a halt. The Central Bureau of 

Invesitgation report did not appear. In September 1985 the Madhya Pradesh 

government indicated that the state Commission of Inquiry might be suspended. 

The offical reason for this was that it did not want to prejudice the claims against 

UCC in the USA. The real reason was that the Commission might further expose 

government complicity in the events leading up to the killing: the Commission 

had already brought to light material that was embarrassing not only for UCC 

but also for the Indian state. The Commissioner had also publicly complained of 

utter non-cooperation on the part of the government. 

InDecember the report to the government by Dr Varadarajan was finally 

made public. What was most interesting about the Varadarajan report was how 

it mirrored in many respects the UCC report of the previous March. As Chemical 

and Engineering News noted (6 January 1986), óThe basic chemistry in the 

Indian report largely agrees with Carbideôs findings last March.ô 

There were two areas of disagreement in the chemical analysis of the residue: 

the first related to the percentage of metal contaminants in the residue; for the 

second, the Varadarajan report (1985, p. 31) notes, óthe residue samples contain 

about 3-6 percent of unidentified tarry materialsô. 

Where the two reports differ is in regard to failures in design and operation of 

the plant. Varadarajan (p. 81) concludes: 

The needless storage of large quantities of the material in very large size 

containers for inordinately long periods as well as insufficient caution in design, 

in choice of materials of construction and in provision of measuring and alarm 

instruments, together with the inadequate controls on systems of storage and on 

quality of stored materials as well as lack of necessary facilities for quick, 

effective disposal of material exhibiting instability, led to the accident. These 

factors contributed to guidelines and practices in operations and maintenance. 

Thus the combination of conditions for the accident were inherent and extant. 
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The Varadarajan report mirrors UCCôs in another important way. It also refused 

to provide information on the composition of the gas cloud. 

Since simulation of the exact conditions of the total event that occurred in tank 

610 was not possible, experiments were carried out by taking small quantities of 

MIC and subjecting them to different reaction conditions . . . Gaseous products 

have not been examined in these experiments. Further work will be done to 

identify and estimate the gaseous products as well. (Varadarajan, p. 55) 

None of the results of this further work had appeared a year after the reportôs 

publication. Nevertheless the report estimates that the escaping material 

included 80 kilograms of ammonia and 1.25 tonnes of carbon dioxide. 

Varadarajan also deals with the cyanide breakdown possibility by suggesting (p. 

60), óIt appears chloroform inhibits the breakdown of MIC to hydrogen cyanide.ô 

The Varadarajan report continues the chorus of reassurance regarding 

pollution. It states (p. 14) that Indian government scientific óteams made an 

examination of the environment immediately to ascertain if the presence of any 

isocyanate or other related materials could be detected in air, water or surfacesô. 

The results were reassuring: óThe tests carried out did not show any presence of 

MIC or related toxic materials in the environmentô (p. 14). This handily ignores 

the report of the Central Water and Air Pollution Control Board, which found 

cyanide at a level of 4,533 micrograms per cubic metre inside the UCIL plant 

near the MIC storage tank and at a level of 2,533 micrograms per cubic metre 

fifty metres from the MIC storage tank on 5-6 December 1984 (APPEN, 1985, p. 

118). It also ignores the report by the Nagrik Rahat aur Punarwas Committee, 

released on 2 May 1985, which found a high level of thiocyanate in the subsoil 

lakes and filtered water of Bhopal, even 100 days after the killing. 

Nor was the state any more forthcoming with information. Journalist Sujit K. 

Das complained: óThough socio-economic and health surveys of about 80,000 

people and 25,000 families have been conducted by the Social Welfare 

Department and the Tata Institute of Social Sciences respectively, the reports 

have been held backô (Economic and Political Weekly, 14 December 1985, p. 

2192). 

Meanwhile, actual relief and rehabilitation schemes staggered on. Little 

attempt was made to provide alternative training and employment for those 

unable to return to their former work due to the gas leakôs effects. The thought 

and care devoted to such alternative work schemes as were set up can be seen in 
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the fact that the major work made available by the state to the women gas 

victims was sewing - making victims use their eyes, which had already been 

badly affected by the gas leak. In August 1985, the Madhya Pradesh government 

proposed spending 3,320 million rupees for the rehabilitation of the gas victims 

and development of the gas-affected areas. Chief minister Motilal Vora hailed 

the proposal as a significant rehabilitation measure. It was in fact an example of 

pure opportunism on the part of the state. Of the 3,320 million rupees, only 380 

million rupees were intended for schemes related to the gas victims. The rest was 

to be spent on construction of an airport, modernization of urban transport and 

the railway station in Bhopal and beautification of the city. 

On 4 November 1985, an independent committee was appointed by the 

Indian Supreme Court to oversee quick medical relief and compensation. This 

committee was composed of two representatives of the Indian Council on 

Medical Research and the Madhya Pradesh government, Dr Heeresh Chandra, 

Anil Sadgopal from the Morcha and a member of another voluntary 

organization. Nothing further has been heard of this committee. Given the 

Madhya Pradesh governmentôs response to the Indian Supreme Courtôs demand 

in July 1985 for the production of a time-bound detoxification scheme, this is no 

surprise: by November 1985, the state government had still not submitted this 

scheme. 

Despite grandiose plans and schemes, the position of the gas victims was as 

bad as ever. 'Wit American Lawyer reported: 

Moreover, people who have been to Bhopal recently say they see few signs that 

people are getting as much assistance as the government and private relief 

agencies claim to be providing. For example, last Christmas Eve a group in 

California led by Dr VinSawhney, a gastroenterologist, contributed $25,000 to 

the Indian Red Cross to set up mobile medical units in Bhopal. The units were 

needed, Dr Sawhney believed, because most of the victims lived far from the 

centre of Bhopal in squalid shanty towns. In March a member of the group, 

Vivek Pinto, visited Bhopal to see how the money was being used. óNowhere did 

I see the two mobile medical units for which a sum of $25,000 was donatedô, he 

reported in a letter to Dr Sawhney. óWhat disturbed me much more was the 

utter placidity of the [Red Cross] office and its personnel. It was as if nothing had 

ever happened in Bhopal.ô 

In July Dr Sawhney visited Bhopal himself. óAt that time they still hadnôt had 

[the mobile units],ô he says. 'They said they would be functioning in two or three 
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weeks. I asked them to write to me and they havenôt yet. ô He adds, óWe were 

planning to send more money, but after that we decided not to.ô (November 

1985,p. 58) 

If relief and rehabilitation were lacking, repression was not. In September 1986 

two members of the Bhopal Group for Information and Action and one member 

of Suraksha were charged with violating the Official Secrets Act. The British 

member of Suraksha was also denied a visa extension. Suraksha was a relief 

project working mainly with the children of the shanty towns. With the 

assistance of local artists, it was attempting through painting, music, 

story-telling and drama to help the children deal with the psychological trauma 

the leak produced. The Bhopal Group for Information and Action had set up a 

documentation centre and was researching and publicizing various aspects of the 

killing. It tried to keep the issue of Bhopal alive through the publication of a 

monthly newsletter. 

When the repression began, the Group was researching UCCôs attempts in 

Bhopal to substantiate the firmôs sabotage theories; then the police seized most of 

the Groupôs files. 

The official secrets charges were for tape recording a public meeting on the 

medical condition of the gas victims, at which differences between
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doctors over the treatment of the gas victims were discussed. This was, of 

course, only a convenient excuse for the repression. David Bergman, the 

English member of Suraksha, explained the reasons behind his arrest to the 

Guardian (31 October 1986, p. 8): óIn a situation where voluntary organizations 

are the only people attempting serious rehabilitation projects, people who 

would like to be involved are too scared. Any relief effort which the 

government cannot control is seen as a threat. It highlights their inadequacy in 

failing to solve the physical and mental health problems of the gas victims.ô 

The local Bhopal paper ran smear stories accusing the arrested activists of 

being agents for UCC. Activists responded to the arrests by a series of press 

conferences exposing the true situation in Bhopal. They staged a sit- in to 

protest at the arrests outside the Madhya Pradesh government offices in New 

Delhi, and they sent the Indian Supreme Court a petition calling for freedom 

from harassment and for the right to information. In an apparently unrelated 

protest, some 2,000 people, including 500 women, were arrested on 29 

September 1986 in Bhopal during a protest to demand more aid for the gas 

victims.9 

By its response to Bhopal, then, the Indian state starkly revealed itself as 

more concerned with protecting its image and its economic policies than with 

protecting its citizens. It repressed citizensô initiatives, monopolized  

SHAMMU KHAN (50, Cycle shop owner; Indira Nagar)  

People are still going around in circles for their 1500  

^rupees relief money. The assets of Carbide are still  

intact. Neither is the government taking it over, nor  

is it using Carbide's assets to help the poor victims.  

The people are not quiet, it's just that they are  

being lulled. Like when a child cries, one soothes  

it by diverting its attention saying a tiger is  

coming or a goat is coming. Neither does the tiger  

come no r does the goat. And the child eventually  

sleeps. The government is working in a similar  
fashion. We will have to cry out all over again.  

KANTI BAI (30, Housework; Vijay Nagar)  

I have five children. All of them suffer from 
ailments,  
related to the gas leak . The youngest, Somnath, is  
suffering the most. He is two years old. He was born  
two days before the gas leak. He is always out of breath.  

ð- The medicines just ease his pain for two days after which  
it comes back again. I admitted him in Hamidia Hospital. There the  
doctors said he had TB. He was given three injections a day for eight  
days and then he was discharged. After some time he became just as  
sick again. Before the gas no one in my family had suffered frcm TB.  B
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and censored information and overall was more interested in managing the 

crisis than in dealing adequately with the health effects through relief and 

rehabilitation measures.



 

3 THE MEDICAL 

COVER-UP 

In the immediate aftermath of Operation Faith, the Indian government 

maintained its line that MIC has no long-term effects. Tapan Bose, of the Nagrik 

Rahat aur Punarwas Committee, wrote to the Economic and Political Weekly 

(12 January 1985, p. 46) óThe Ishwar Dass Committee [chaired by Dr Dass, 

commissioner in charge of relief of gas victims] has declared that these patients 

who are still reporting for treatment are not the victims of MIC exposure but 

patients suffering from chronic disorders.ô J ournalist Ivan Fera reported that 

when people returned to the hospitals with new symptoms, the hospitals no 

longer recorded on their prescription forms that they were gas victims. 

One major practical reason the state had for denying the extent of the killing 

was the cost, likely to be immense, of medical assistance to the exposed 

population. This cost, which was high enough already, would be enormous if 

the government were forced to provide lifelong health services to the gas 

victims. 

In a situation where the state already has immense difficulties providing 

basic medical and health facilities for its population, the health services in 

Bhopal were grossly overstretched, having already been overwhelmed by the 

immediate acute problems stemming from the gas leak:
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The State and Central government could simply not acknowledge cyanide 

poisoning [see below] due to its implications: it was beyond the capacity of the 

administration to care for such a large proportion of physically and mentally ill, 

most, irreversibly so, and with steadily deteriorating health, and therefore 

better for it to restrict damage publicly to one or two major symptomatic 

disturbances, and rule everything else as of no medical significance. (APPEN, p. 

4) 

Here again there is a conflict of views over the organization and efficacy of such 

health measures as were being provided in the aftermath of the 

killing. While all sides agreed that the 

immediate reaction by medical services 

and personnel was as good as could be 

expected, two different versions emerge 

about the followup operation. A 

member of the US government agency, 

the Centers for Disease Control in 

Atlanta, Georgia, Gareth Green, had 

been invited to Bhopal by the Indian 

government. He told the Journal of the 

American Medical Association (12 April 

1985, p. 2004), óWefeltthat, after the 

initial shock, the medical teams were 

well organized, with good 

communications throughout the city.ô 

Green praised the response of the 

Indian doctors: óThey soon realized that 

the problem they were dealing with 

was the effect of the gas on the eyes and 

lungs. They pretty rapidly formulated 

standardized protocols to deal 

with the problem and these were Gas 
Victimsô Help and Treatment Centre, run by 

the widd implemented. > Green noted Self-Employed Womenôs Association,or SEWA, 

which also means óserviceô in Hindi. The choice of these protocols would be of use in 

name was intended to overcome linguistic barriers. long-term Studies: óIt Will reduce the  
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variabilities that might have occurred if a wide variety of treatments had been 

usedô (p. 2003). 

It is hard to reconcile this view of an organized, efficient health service with 

the description provided by radical Indian medical groups working on the 

ground in Bhopal. The Medico-Friend Circle, a voluntary group of Indian 

medical personnel, reported a situation totally at odds with that described by 

Green. 

In clinics and hospitals treating victims, no case papers were made out: 

therefore nothing - neither patientsô names, symptoms nor their treatment ð 

was recorded. Senior medical personnel gave no guidelines to doctors treating 

the victims. No certificates of death or disease were issued. The medical 

services obtained an incorrect view of the effects of the gas due to the emphasis 

on clinic and hospital work and due to the failure of the medical profession to 

organize relief on a community basis. fMedico-Friend Circle Bulletin, January 

1985, p. 5) 

Nor does Greenôs image of organized efficiency sit easily with Praful Bidwaiôs 

report (Times of India, 3 December 1985) a year after the killing that proper 

medical records exist only for fewer than 10,000 victims. 

The lack of organization of government clinics and hospitals, with their 

casual and callous treatment of the gas victims, also served another purpose. 

Patients waited for hours for treatment, were not listened to, and found the 

treatment they obtained at the clinics to be not only useless but also 

demeaning. In response to this, patients lost faith in the government clinics 

and abandoned them, while flocking to private medical practitioners in droves. 

This enabled the government to claim that the number of patients who were 

still ill, defined as those using government hospitals and clinics, was decreasing 

and thus the health effects of the gas leak were subsiding. 

This callous treatment of gas victims by medical staff continued into 1986: 

Patients attending specially-set-up clinics are treated with apathy, and 

sometimes, plain hostility. In a surprise visit last September, the Chief Minister 

found four doctors absent from a clinic and had to suspend them on the spot. A 

special committee sent by the Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi last August to 

investigate charges of incompetence in relief and rehabilitation 

programmes concluded that medical facilities were woefully inadequate. 

(Third World  Womenôs News, Vol. 1, No. l,p. 16,1986) 
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The Bhopal Group for Information and Action reported a boom in private 

medicine and quackery in Bhopal: 

As one private doctor stated very candidly, óThe government doctors prescribe 

the same medicine as we do, they have much greater facilities; if they happen 

to improve their services, we will be out of business.ô That doctor, like most 

others operating in the gas-affected bastis [shanty towns] of Bhopal, does not 

lose sleep over this possibility, fully aware that such a change in the 

governmental attitude is extremely improbable. (Bhopal, July 1986, p. 7) 

CONFLICT OF MEDICAL THEORIES 

Greenôs assertion that the major problems requiring resolution related to the 

eyes and lungs alone is also open to question. This question is of a part with the 

assurances that no long-term effects could be expected from the MIC exposure. 

These assurances, as already mentioned, rested on the claim that MIC would 

break down into harmless substances on contact with moisture: thus the only 

effects would be on the lungs and the eyes. This hypothesis was presented not 

only by the doctors UCC had flown into Bhopal, but also by two members of 

the US government team from the Centers for Disease Control: 

Methyl isocyanate gas breaks down rapidly in the presence of water, becoming 

a relatively non-toxic substance known as dimethyl urea, points out James 

Melius, MD, chief of the Hazards and Technical Assistance Branch at the 

National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health in Cincinnati. (Melius 

was a member of the Centers for Disease Control group.) 

Thus, Melius says, methyl isocyanate is not hazardous for any prolonged 

period. Indeed, as far as can be determined, the cloud in India dissipated within 

two hours, Kaplan (also of the Centers for Disease Control) says. (Journal of the 

American Medical Association, 12 April 1985, p. 2004) 

This breakdown hypothesis was later contradicted by the findings of the 

Indian Council on Medical Research (ICMR). Yet in Bhopal it held sway, 

providing the basis for what has been described as the pulmonary thesis. 

The Medico-Friend Circle has contended that, after the killing, Bhopal was 

the scene of a struggle between two medical theories: 

(I) The ópulmonaryô theory, which believed that in view of the available 

information about the effects of MIC, only extensive lung damage (leading to 
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diffused pulmonary fibrosis) and direct injury to corneas of the eyes could be 

expected. 

(II)  The óenlarged cyanogen poolô theory, which believed that the effect of 

the released gases on the patients was to increase the cyanogenic pool inside 

their bodies, leading to chronic cyanide-like poisoning. (Medico- Friend 

Circle, 1985, p. 1) 

The pulmonary theory was the basis for the chorus of reassurance already 

described. This theory excluded the possibility of unknown effects arising from 

exposure to MIC. It ignored the lack of available information on MICôs effects, 

especially long-term effects. Itfurther ignored the possibility of synergistic 

effects, that the combined effects of exposure the various gases released would 

not simply be confined to the known effect of one of the gases, that is, MIC. It 

ignored the possibility that contaminated or decomposed MIC might have 

effects different from those described in experiments - extremely limited as 

they were-with pure MIC. The second theory allows for the possibilities just 

mentioned and also accepts the effects that the pulmonary theory emphasizes: 

it does not deny the existence of purely pulmonary effects on health, but 

acknowledges a mixed pathology. 

The struggle between the two theories was more political than scientific. 

óAlthough outwardly the conflict is theoretical, it has little to do with scientific 

rigour and debateô (Medico-Friend Circle, p. 49). Thepulmonary theory 

obviously answers the need of both state and capital to limit the killingôs 

effects. Thus this theory was strongly advocated by UCC and that section of the 

Indian medical bureaucracy and profession that had close ties to and sympathy 

with UCC (Agnew, 1985, p. 19). óSupporters of [the] pulmonary theory include 

a dominant faction in Gandhi Medical College, Bhopal, and has strong support 

in the health department of Madhya Pradesh government. They are adamantly 

refusing to accept any theory 

but their own theoryô (Medico-Friend Circle, p. 6). This is confirmed by 

Everest: 

In interviews, Drs Misra, Mathur [both of Gandhi Medical College] and Ishwar 

Dass, the additional chief secretary in charge of co-ordinating health and relief 

services in Madhya Pradesh, all contended that the effects of the gassing were 

basically confined only to the lungs and eyes. On 25 December 1984, Dr Dass 

stated officially, óNo organ of the body has been affected except the eye and 
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lung. There is not a single case of kidney, liver or nervous system damage.ô 

(1985, p. 82) 

In contrast, the major proponents of the ócyanogen poolô theory were the 

ICMR and various dissident doctors and medical groups operating in Bhopal. 

The struggle between the theories also reflected a split over the nature of the 

gases released during the runaway reaction in tank no. 610. The general 

non-pulmonary theory was shared by all who believed that not merely MIC 

was released: this included those who argued that hydrogen cyanide was 

formed during the decomposition of MIC during the runaway reaction, and 

that this gas was primarily responsible for the deaths and injuries in Bhopal. 

However, the ócyanogen poolô theory did not require hydrogen cyanide to have 

been formed and released during the runaway reaction: it merely argued that 

the gases released had affected the cyanogen pool within the body, generating 

an increase in cyanide radicals (free cyanide) inside the body, thus leading to 

symptoms of chronic cyanide-like poisoning. 

Thus, while the ócyanogen-poolô theory did not necessarily confront UCC 

over the composition of the released gases, it took issue with the ruling notion, 

highly beneficial to UCC, that the gasesô effects were limited. This theory 

allowed the Indian state, through the ICMR, to challenge UCC on a major 

issue, without requiring the state to confront UCC on the issue of the toxic 

cloudôs composition. Moreover, as it was only a theory, it could later be 

abandoned by the state if it no longer needed to challenge UCC over the leakôs 

health effects- for instance, if a satisfactory deal was reached over 

compensation. 

Both theories had associated problems. The major problem with the 

pulmonary theory was its inability to account for the actual health situation in 

Bhopal. Of course, this was not its function: it was more intended to 

deny elements of the health situation. The Medico-Friend Circle pointed out 

the theoryôs inability to explain the range of symptoms reported in their 

community-based survey. The Medico-Friend Circle survey found only 2.7 

percent of people had pulmonary symptoms exclusively, while 62 percent had 

pulmonary, gastro-intestinal, eye and central nervous system symptoms and 35 

percent had symptoms (gastro-intestinal, central nervous system, eye) without 

any pulmonary symptoms. The exclusively pulmonary theory could in no way 

account for the very wide range of symptoms reported in the Medico-Friend 

Circle report: fatigue (86 percent), blurring of vision (77 percent), muscle ache 
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(73 percent), headache (67 percent), flatulence (68 percent), anorexia (66 

percent), nausea (58 percent), excessive lacrimation (58 percent), tingling and 

numbness (54 percent), loss of memory (45 percent), anxiety and depression 

(43 percent) as well as impotence, shortened menstrual cycle in women, 

increased dysmenorrhoea and leucorrhoea (Medico-Friend Circle, pp. 40-1). 

The Medico-Friend Circle has also criticized the ICMRôs ócyanogen poolô 

theory on the grounds that the Council has not done adequate research to 

validate the theory. The double-blind experiment that the Council performed 

with sodium thiosulphate, the recognized antidote for cyanide poisoning, had 

shown relief of pulmonary symptoms only: 

Going by whatever evidence the Indian Council on Medical Research has 

published so far, it is not adequate enough to explain the wide range of 

symptoms in a high proportion of the ambulatory population as revealed in our 

study. This criticism clearly leads one to suggest that the Indian Council on 

Medical Research does not have adequate evidence to substantiate the 

ócyanogen poolô theory or if it has got it for some unknown reason it has not 

made public full details five months after the disaster. (Medico-Friend Circle, 

p. 42) 

The Council was to remain ambivalent about the theory it had proposed. By 

the time it finally issued its summary report in April 1986, a full sixteen 

months after the disaster, it had become more ambivalent yet: ó[The report] 

says that cyanide was metabolically generated in the body of many of the 

victims exposed to MIC but that over time the amount decreasedô (Chemical 

and Engineering News, 14 April 1986, p. 6). 
LIMITING THE HEALTH CRISIS 

The stateôs strategy, then, was to limit the admitted health effects of the killing. 

Its tactics consisted of denying the existence of symptoms, refusing to 

recognize new symptoms as gas-related and dismissing other symptoms as 

normal or otherwise unrelated to the toxic exposure. These tactics were most 

strongly supported by those among the Madhya Pradesh elite who were most 

sympathetic to UCC. Thus, the pro-UCC lobby were not satisfied with the 

pulmonary theory alone. Even the pulmonary effects were played down by 

attributing pulmonary problems to pre-existing diseases such as tuberculosis. 

On the 27th of December [1984] Arjun Singh (chief minister of Madhya 
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Pradesh f would prominently open a tuberculosis camp in one of the gas- 

affected bastis (shanty towns). Later in January, he would tell Shahnaz 

Ankleswaria of the Statesman that there was a necessity to establish a ódefinite 

connectionô between the recent deaths and the MIC leakage. They could have 

occurred because of the victimsôpast poor health. (APPEN, 1983, P-7) 

This attempt to write off the leakôs pulmonary effects as pre-dating the gas leak 

was strongly supported by Dr Misra, an influential staff member of Gandhi 

Medical College. As reports of lung ailments and breathlessness continued, Dr 

Misra told journalists, óThese are mostly previous diseases, which get 

accentuated in winter. In fact theyôre known as ñwinter bronchitisò - people 

believe itôs MIC. ô Misra held consistently to this position. Speaking at an ICMR 

meeting in May 1985, óDr Misra . . . was of the opinion that the majority of 

cases who showed restrictive lung functions were those who had pre-existing 

lung diseaseô(APPEN, p. 143). No doubt only the solemnity of the meeting 

prevented the good doctor from attributing these problems to ósummer 

bronchitisô. 

Such positions were common among doctors in Bhopal. The Medico- Friend 

Circle reported in April 1985 that fatigue among gas victims was being 

dismissed as ólazinessô and ówanting to make the best use of the aid pouring inô, 

while respiratory symptoms due to lung damage (fibrosis) were being 

incorrectly diagnosed as tuberculosis and psychological effects were being seen 

as ócompensation malingeringô. That this viewpoint was 

common among doctors dealing with the gas victims is shown by an interview 

with an unidentified Indian doctor in Comhlamh News: 

As soon as people realized, however, that compensation was available, the 

hospitals which had to cope with the emergency were inundated with 

thousands of residents demanding treatment and a certificate to state that their 

health had been adversely affected by the gas. óThe majority of these people', 

claimed the doctor, ówere impostors, but it was impossible to remove them 

from the hospitals. The serious cases, those people who needed immediate 

treatment, had to wait before the handful of medical staff could attend to them 

. . .' The promise ofcompensation, he claimed, has also given rise to many 

exaggerated and unconfirmed reports of thousands of victims suffering 

long-term effects of the gas. In the few days after the leakage the eyes of many 

people were red and irritated. This became exaggerated into claims that the gas 
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had caused irreparable blindness, a cry eagerly taken up by newsmen, anxious 

for a more dramatic story. Bronchial patients, he recalled, who had lung 

problems for many years, would cough and wheeze every time a reporter 

passed. The figure of100,000 injured, which appeared in some papers, was, in 

his belief, a wild exaggeration. (Autumn 1985, p. 27) 

Thus the illiterate population supposedly conspired together to construct their 

diseases as a plan to milk money from the unfortunate US multinational. This 

exceptional conspiracy theory comes up against one major problem. The 

people of Bhopal continued to suffer from their diseases, even after the 

immediate relief operation was over, even after the hope of receiving money 

from America receded from view. The majority of those affected by the leakage 

were day labourers, who were paid by their daily work. They had no 

investments or property to live on while they carried on their conspiracy. They 

would work if they could, as this was their only access to money. Many of 

them correctly expected that they would not get a rupee. It is indeed a 

powerful conspiracy that enables these people to ignore immediate problems 

such as obtaining food and money, living on thin air and the prospect of manna 

from America, which would arrive, like the cargo ships of South Pacific 

cultists, at some future time. 

Still, this blaming the victims, or blaming the victimôs environment, or 

blaming anything but the gas leak, was to be a constant refrain of the medical 

establishment. It reached its nadir in Misraôs statement, to Business 

Week in November 1985, that a large number of Bhopal residents are not 

physically sick but are suffering from neurotic reactions: óThey think they are 

weak and canôt concentrate, but when we give them exercise tests, they do 

fine.ô Yet even Misra had to admit some 60,000 people had a lowered capacity 

for work due to the gas leak. His psychological argument shaded into one that 

people are faking illness to obtain compensation. Some doctors are reported to 

have refused to issue death certificates to gas victimsô relatives, alleging that 

they only wanted compensation. The Bombay magazine Sunday alleged 

criminal negligence on the part of Bhopal hospitals, citing cases of women, 

asking for their childrenôs cause of death to be entered on death certificates, 

who had their death papers confiscated so that they were unable to claim 

compensation. 

Doctors, with much of the middle class, were able to maintain their narrow 

views because of their class and caste prejudices, as well as their practice being 
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confined to clinic and hospital work. 

At the 100th Day ceremonies in Bhopal government officials reported that the 

medical situation was slowly returning to normal. Affluent Bhopal citizens 

who never go into the slums may have believed i t . .  . Most of the wealthier 

residents whose neighbourhoods were inundated by the gas, if they were not 

killed in the first wave, were able to get out of the city by car before being 

overwhelmed. These are the lucky ones whose symptoms began to disappear in 

the following weeks, because they had immediate access to vehicular 

transportation and were not forced to run in their efforts to escape. (Dakin, 

1985, p. 4) 

STRUGGLE OVER REPRODUCTIVE EFFECTS 

One major health effect, upon reproduction, became an area of struggle. The 

issue was raised in the early days after the killing. As early as 3 J anuary 1985, 

the Morcha was demanding that óEconomic assistance at par with what is given 

to the families of the dead should be provided to gas-affected women who 

suffer from abortions, or give birth to stillborns or deformed offspring.ô While 

the medical bureaucracy did consider the question of reproductive effects, it 

was only in terms of the health of unborn children: the unfortunate mothersô 

health was not considered. Nor did the medical establishment consider that the 

fear of teratogenic effects required them to 

warn women of the possibility. This would only create óconfusion and panicô 

and demands for abortion. The medical establishment argued that there was no 

need to warn of this possibility, in the absence of proof that such effects would 

occur. This ignored the cases of women who suffered abortions immediately 

following the gas leak, which should have been interpreted as a warning. The 

medical establishment did not even institute screening procedures to check on 

this. Mira Sadgopal reports: 

A number of [women] said: óWe wondered whether there was a risk. We tried 

to get ourselves examined but the doctors just threw us out with some tablets 

and said everything was all right. ô The irony is that these doctors, or others 

who are part of the same system, are doing research to measure expected foetal 

defects. I should say they are expecting defects. On the one hand, they say 

there is noproof of damage, and on the other, they are getting ready to measure 

it for t heir research papers. 
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This position did not go unchallenged. In mid-February the Medico-Friend 

Circle called for the potential dangers to the foetus to be publicized. They 

called for adequate facilities for ultrasonography and amniocentesis to be 

provided.2 Beginning on 8 March, International Womenôs Day, theMorcha 

took a travelling exhibition through the shanty towns, with the intent of 

providing information to women, particularly on the question of abortion and 

the need to use contraception until the gasôs reproductive effects were known. 

These actions succeeded in raising the issue. As Padma Prakash later noted, 

óthe concerted attempt of local activist groups and womenôs groups to provide 

relevant information in the bastis (shanty towns) was only successful in 

creating a better understanding about the problem but could not resolve it. No 

infrastructure for alternative abortion or ultrasonography facilities could be 

establishedô (Economic and Political Weekly, 14 December 1985, p. 2196). 

Those women who did take the initiative to seek abortions found obstacles put 

in their path, despite Indiaôs previous callous history regarding its subjectsô 

fertility and the official availability of abortion on request as part of Indiaôs 

birth -control policy. 

Itôs worth noting, here, the gap between the private opinions of doctors and those 

they expressed publicly. Mira Sadgopal related in an interview: 

These very same doctors, government doctors, in particular in government 

service, in public they were not saying, but in private when you talk to them said 

that they did feel there was a risk and when I specifically asked them what they 

would do if they were in the position of one of the women, they said that they 

would not even go in for amniocentesis or ultrasonography, because what would 

that tell you? It wouldnôt tell you so many things, mental retardation or 

whatever, we would go straight for MIP (medical interruption of pregnancy) 

because itôs a relatively safe thing, and temporary psychological trauma weighted 

against the possibility of raising a child which might be deformed, we just donôt 

know. (APPEN, 1985, p. 46) 

Despite these private doubts, the doctors held the official line in public. A study 

by two women doctors associated with the Medico-Friend Circle found an 

epidemic of gynaecological effects among gas-exposed women, but these were 

dismissed out of hand by the medical establishment. Drs Bang and Sadgopal 

wrote: 

We had an opportunity to talk with three gynaecologists in the field clinics and 
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one professor of Ob-Gyn in the hospital, all of whom stated that there are no 

gynaecological problems attributable to the disaster. They explained the large 

number of women complaining of gynaecological symptoms as óusualô, 

ópsychologicalô or fakeô and the gynaecological diseases in these women as óusualô, 

ótuberculousô or ódue to poverty and poor hygieneô, refusing to accept any special 

situation. (Bang and Sadgopal, 1985, p. 7) 

The medical establishment continued to deny reproductive effects. In January a 

spokesperson for the Sultania Womenôs Hospital denied there was any increase 

in abortions attributable to the gas exposure. Such reporting of reproductive 

effects as did occur showed a class bias: 

It was expected that many deformed full-term babies, first trimester foetuses on 

3 December, would be born starting in June 1985. An uncounted number of 

horrifying births have already taken place among poor women, attended only by 

midwives, but the only one which I saw in the papers was born in a hospital in 

Bilaspur, to a woman who had fled Bhopal the day of the disaster. She was the 

wife of a Bharat Heavy Electricals Ltd executive in Bhopal. (Dakin, 1985, p. 7) 

When the increased abortion rates could no longer be denied, it was argued 

that this increase was not directly related to the gas, but was in fact caused by 

increased stress which was associated with all disasters, and it would end when 

the immediate stress associated with the gas leak ended. This was untrue as 

well: the Medico-Friend Circle study of the gasôs reproductive effects showed 

the effect of the gas leak on pregnancies continued after the acute exposure 

period; it continued to affect pregnant women even ten months after the gas 

leak. Nevertheless, those wishing to exonerate the gas had still one last 

argument: the gasôs reproductive effect was handily complicated by the 

mishmash of powerful drugs dispensed to the victims for symptomatic relief. 

Any rigorous scientific study would have to control for this exposure ð no 

easy task. Perhaps this explains why óThe Indian Council on Medical Research 

was forced to scrap their pregnancy outcome study thrice as both the design 

and the date were faultyô (Medico-Friend Circle Bulletin, October 1985, p. 4). 

PROBLEMATIC RESEARCH 

Tight control of information was essential for the state to maintain control of 

the definition of the limits of the killing. Thus it was necessary for the state to 
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obstruct and repress independent research. Padma Prakash reports: óThe 

ñpeopleôs scientistsò have had serious problems in getting the samples tested ð 

laboratories have not been willing to release reports and some of the sampling 

techniques needed to be innovated, some need sophisticated equipment only 

available in government laboratories.ô Similarly, womenôs groups planned an 

independent survey of the killingôs teratogenic effects for June, involving forty 

women researchers from outside Bhopal, but it took place only in September; 

the delay was caused by government repression. 

Scientists were also discouraged from working with groups active in Bhopal. 

Dr Sadgopal told APPEN (1985, p. 49) of a scientist who was working with the 

Morcha to produce a simple test for thiocyanate detection: óAfter some time he 

said he would be unable to go on. His own institution did not appreciate his 

meeting people like us.ô 

When it became obvious in February 1985 that an immediate settlement 

with UCC was unlikely, the Indian state began its own research programme. 

The head of the ICMR denied a statement previously attri- 

buted to him that óthere is no reason to believe that there will be any longterm 

effectsô and announced a major programme of research. Investigation of the 

actual accident resumed in February 1985. According to the Varad- arajan 

report, the first samples of residue were taken from tank 610 on 20 December 

1984; presumably this was when UCC obtained its samples. Additional samples 

were taken in February 1985. In March 1985 the tank was excavated. In April 

1985 further sampling of residue took place and the tank itself was examined. 

UCC responded to this research programme in March by announcing its own 

series of animal tests intended, no doubt, to bolster its own position. 

Writing on the Indian scientific communityôs response to Bhopal, Padma 

Prakash said they óreduced a social catastrophe to a scientific/clinical/ medical 

problemô. Even if they had been successful in this limited project, it would have 

been of some use. Yet the majority of the ICMRôs projects have been rightly 

criticized as too academic and of little use in tackling even the immediate 

clinical problems, without considering the psychological or social problems. 

By May 1985, the Council had already funded twenty research programmes at 

a cost of 1,500,000 rupees. All but two of these studies were to last two years. 

Their main aim was to ógain knowledge on the delayed and long-term effects of 

exposure which would be of value in treatment and in a better outcome 

eventuallyô. The time-scale of the studies meant that any benefits derived from 
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them would be late in arriving. 

The two short-term studies were hardly more useful. One, which was a 

general follow-up, confirmed other studies of the gas leakôs effects: 74 percent 

suffered from coughs, 34 percent from breathlessness and 36 percent from 

burning eyes. But, while the studyôs protocol stated that treatment would be 

provided, no treatment was mentioned in the March summary report. 

More intriguing is the study of ocular changes, which concludes that there are 

no cases of complete blindness and that the majority of cases have completely 

recovered with treatment. This is surprising, because the King Edward 

Memorial Hospital/Voluntary Health Association of India study reports a high 

percentage of visualproblems in children. At the end of March 

when the Medico-Friend Circle team visited Bhopal to conduct their study 

survey, eye disorders seemed widespread. (Prakash, 1985) 

Prakash also notes that the ICMR preliminary report on teratogenic effects 

omits the high reported still birth rate, for which a baseline rate exists for 

comparison purposes. 

The Medico-Friend Circle also strongly criticized ICMR projects, noting 

they were focused on the seriously ill hospitalized patients and specifically on 

pulmonary effects. The more diffuse and generalized effects in the 

non-hospitalized population were ignored. The Medico-Friend Circle also 

strongly condemned the Council for not undertaking research to validate its 

ócyanogen poolô theory. 

The serious gaps in the very fabric of research efforts have direct and vital 

connection not only with the urgent issue of relief from suffering, damages and 

compensation to the victims of the poison gas, hut also with the issue of fixing 

the responsibilities on all those who have perpetuated the suffering of 

thousands of people of Bhopal. (Medico-Friend Circle, 1985, p. 2) 

ICMR researchers on the ground were unable to gather information on 

unexpected effects, which were not anticipated and included in their study 

protocol. Mira Sadgopal relates two incidents of this: óWe then told the ICMR 

male recruit to ask about this aspect [male impotency] in the course of the 

survey. He was in a quandary because the proforma did not have any space to 

record this information so the computer could not take it in.ô Also, ówe 



THE MEDICAL COVER-UP 103 

 

reported it [higher pulse rate] to the ICMR. Again, they said their computer 

was not programmed to take in this information.ô Some proposed research 

studies were obviously biased. Gandhi Medical College, where Dr Misra is head 

of medicine, proposed the following study: 

One of the proposals aims at studying pregnant mothers exposed to MIC to see 

its effects on the foetus and on the newborns. The sample considered in this 

study is clearly skewed in favour of middle-class colonies [estates], while 

poorer localities have been left out of the study. Thus if the effects of MIC on 

pregnancy have any relation to the mothersô bodyweight or nutritional levels, 

then the results of this study are unlikely to capture them. [Business India, 25 

February 1985) 

This is only to be expected from Misra, as he gave the following details of animal 

experiments he claimed he had undertaken to study the gasôs teratogenic effects: 

óWe caught rats from the gas-exposed areas and mated the female rats with 

healthy males. The progeny was found to be perfectly healthy, even though the 

mothers had lesions on their lungs.ô (Business India, 25 February 1985). 

Other research was hampered by the conditions in which it took place. 

Following up sodium thiosulphate therapy in the thirty-bed Deputy 

Inspector-General hospital provided for the ICMR by the Madhya Pradesh 

health authorities was made difficult by the actual conditions in the hospital. 

The Indian Express reported (27 March 1985), óTill a few days ago this hospital 

was functioning without a refrigerator in this cityôs blazing heat. The machine 

which analyses blood gases is exceedingly sensitive to any rise in temperature 

because it contains a computer, yet the administration has stopped the air 

conditioners. This can render the test results completely unreliable. ô Other 

studies were reported to have taken place without the informed consent of the 

patients. A King Edward Memorial Flospital study, in which a series of blood 

tests and lung biopsies were performed on fifty exposed railway workers, 

allegedly took place without the patientsô permission. The Medico-Friend Circle 

(1985, p. 50) also attacked the lack of informed consent among those being 

treated experimentally by the medical establishment in Bhopal. 

This lack of concern on the part of the medical and scientific bureaucracy also 

showed in their lack of interest in providing information to the gas victims. 

Neither the ICMR nor the state showed any interest or inclination to give 

information to the gas victims, though basic health information and simple 

breathing exercises would have been of immediate practical use. The ICMR told 



104 CORPORATE KILLING 

 

óindividual researchers not to publicize their findings prematurely and 

individually so as to avoid confusion and panic in the public mind through 

conflicting statementsô. This attitude extended towards voluntary health groups 

as well. According to the Medico-Friend Circle (Bulletin, September 1986, p. 1), 

óit was almost next to impossible to get any information from the medical 

establishment in Bhopal. This conspiracy of secrecy was extended to such 

ridiculous lengths that even such innocuous information as the ICMR 

numbering and the maps of the bastis was treated as classified documents.ô 

This policy of restricting information was to continue. The chairperson of 

an ICMR meeting on 3/4 May 1985 called for the early publication of the 

findings of research projects on exposure to the toxic gases. The chairperson 

suggested accelerated yet peer-reviewed publication in the Indian Journal of 

Medical Research. While one member at the meeting cautioned the meeting 

about the possible legal implications, the consensus was that the findings 

should be published as early as possible. Researchers were asked to have 

articles produced by July or August 1985. The ICMR finally published a 

summary report of Indian scientistsô findings in April 1986. On the same 

theme, it was reported in the Economic and Political Weekly that: 

In March 1985 an ultra-modern, fully computerized, sophisticated instrument 

complex which can carry out thirteen tests from a range of twenty- five 

parameters simultaneously at a phenomenal speed, releasing every fifteen 

seconds precise and accurate data which can be stored indefinitely and 

retrieved at a momentôs notice, was loaned to Hamidia Hospital. . . the paucity 

of information released by the government indicates that either the machine is 

not beingproperly utilized or the information about the large number of 

patients dealt with by the machine [is] treated as classified. (14 December 

1985, p. 2192) 

This official silence did not go unchallenged. Beginning on 8 March 1985, the 

Morcha took a travelling exhibition through the shanty towns to provide 

information on the gas leakôs effects. The exhibition was aimed originally at 

women only and it emphasized the need for contraception and the abortion 

option. The desire for information among the victims was so great that part of 

the exhibition had to be opened to men as well. The medical establishmentôs 

desire to keep information from the people was based on an elitist vision of 

medical knowledge, which it believed would not be understood by the affected 
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people. It was part of the stateôs general strategy to limit and control the health 

crisis: the results of óconfusion and panicô from the provision of information 

would undoubtedly be increased demands for treatment and other facilities. 

The failure to undertake the most basic scientific research that followed 

from the killing had major results. Praful Bidwai stressed that one reason for 

the desultory medical relief in Bhopal 

is the failure of the Indian scientific and medical bureaucracies to analyse the 

composition of the material released from the Carbide plant,2, to study the 

effects of numerous toxins on the body, and to devise appropriate lines of 

treatment to cure the victims - a failure that is related to the weakness of the 

Indian technological infrastructure and to the close links that Carbide 

managed to establish within that apparatus. (Inside Asia, November 1985, p. 

42) 

Prakash (1985) observed: óThe fact that no definite research-based report on 

water and soil has been forthcoming even six months after the disaster is 

disturbing.ô To this should be added the Medico-Friend Circleôs indictment of 

research sponsored by the ICMR: óIt is a sad commentary on these research 

efforts that five months after the disaster with a mass of population continuing 

to complain of serious symptoms, no comprehensive picture of morbidity 

pattern in the community is put together either by the ICMR or the medical 

establishment of Bhopalô (Medico-Friend Circle, 1985, p. 47). The general 

failure by Indiaôs scientific community leads Prakash to conclude: óNever has 

the ñworldôs third largest population of scientistsò seemed more like a 

deadweight as now, in the wake of Bhopal.ô 

Similar problems beset the research on MIC itself. While one of the killingôs 

undoubted results was a major research effort on MICôs toxicology, this seemed 

a case of shutting the stable door after the horse had bolted. Furthermore, in 

the way the research was concentrated on MIC only, the research cannot be 

expected to be of much more than academic interest. Such academic research 

has already been misused, however. A study undertaken by B. Nemery and 

others at Britainôs Medical Research Council Toxicology Unit was reported in 

the general and occupational health media as disproving Indian claims that the 

cyanide antidote, sodium thiosulphate, was effective in treating the killingôs 

survivors. Nemery and co-authors concluded: óThis study suggests that 

Na2S2C>3 (sodium thiosulphate) does not protect rats from the acute and 
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subacute effects of MIC and that cyanide intoxication is not involved in the 

clinical syndrome seen after exposure to pure MICô (Lancet, 30 November 

1985, p. 1246, emphasis added). It doesnôt occur to these researchers to note 

that pure MIC is a different kettle of fish from what hit the victims of Bhopal. 

If anything at all is obvious from the reports from 

India, it is that the gas victims were not exposed to pure MIC. Even ignoring 

the question of cyanide contamination, the gases were the result of a runaway 

reaction involving industrial MIC, contaminated with a higher than normal 

level of chloroform. 

While Nemery and others made no protest over the use of their research to 

discredit sodium thiosulphate therapy, other toxicologists were more 

circumspect in pointing out the limitations of their research. Toxicologist Dr 

John Bucher, who led the research on MIC for the US National Institute of 

Environmental Health Science, pointed out that their research dealt only with 

pure MIC, while óin the Bhopal accident as much as one- third of the materials 

released may have been created by the explosion [sic]. Effects of these 

materials were not researchedô (Health & Safety at Work, August 1986, p. 7). 

The problem here is one which is common to much toxicological research, 

which tests one chemical in isolation. Yet exposure, normally of workers but 

in this case also of the general community, is usually to a mixture of chemicals. 

Thus the research ignores the synergistic effects of exposure to more than one 

chemical, the way that chemicalsô effects can multiply each other and interact 

with each other. Commenting on studies performed by the Indian Toxicology 

Research Centre, 

Indian toxicologist C. R. Krishna Murthi, a former Indian Toxicology Research 

Centre director, warns that all studies so far have been based on a single 

chemical gas, MIC. More studies should be conducted, he says, to examine the 

effects of MIC as part of a mixture of gases, because the plant leak may have 

involved other gases besides MIC. (Chemical Week, 4 December 1985, p. 12) 

William E. Brown of Carnegie-Mellon University also stressed that the 

synergistic aspect is being ignored in post-Bhopal research: 

One of the things that thereôs less emphasis on, in the research effort we know 

about, is the toxic potential of methylamine (formed from MIC in a moist 

environment) and methyl isocyanate. If you have these two together, you can 
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get an adduct of the two. If there was something like cyanide in the air and in 

combination with the other two, what would be the effectsf Itôs 

opening up a whole new area of research. ('Chemical and Engineering News, 

14 October 1985, p. 43) 

To these problems must be added doubts over the applicability of animal 

experiments to humans, apart from the appalling arrogance involved in such 

cruel use of our fellow animals. Finally, this type of research abstracts the 

effects of chemical exposure from their social context. In the case of Bhopal, 

lack of nutritious food, lack of work and income, frustration, anxiety, 

depression and many other factors impinge on the health of the gas victims. 

These factors get lost in abstracted, pure research on one chemicalôs effects on 

experimental animals, just as the concentration on one chemical is abstracted 

from the reality of mixed exposure to chemicals that occurred in Bhopal. 

POLITICIZATION OF TREATMENT 

In the period immediately following the killing there was major confusion 

over what chemical or chemicals had leaked from the Bhopal plant. Since UCC 

were denying MIC was toxic, a theory grew in the first few days that phosgene 

was the gas that leaked. This theory was supported by reported statements of 

such foreign experts as Dr Stuart Luxon, Health and Safety Director of the 

Royal Society of Chemistry, who stated, óAll the symptoms and all the effects 

point directly to phosgene poisoning.ô Sir Frederick Warner, who had headed 

the inquiry into the Flixborough chemical-plant disaster in Britain, said 

descriptions of a heavy poison gas cloud fit phosgene rather than MIC, which 

is twice as light. This theory encouraged treatment of symptoms only. 

The phosgene theory, however, as some doctors and other investigators have 

pointed out, had larger implications. It successfully diverted attention from the 

toxicity of MIC, a base chemical on which Union Carbide as a company has 

built its chain of pesticide products. The Bhopal plant itself was to launch from 

December a range of new products, including a formulation similar to Baygon, 

the household pests spray, all of which were based on MIC. Many chemical 

corporations are raised on the exploitation of a single base chemical and the 

toxicity of MIC threatens Union Carbideôs empire world-wide. What the 

phosgene hypothesis immediately achieved was to confuse doctors 

to the extent that no attempt was made to find or administer or to even 
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consider the question of an antidote seriously. While the experts debated, 

people died like flies. (Illustrated Weekly of India, 31 December 1984) 

Within a  few days, phosgene was replaced by MIC as the responsible gas, but 

the general belief, encouraged by UCC doctors and other health experts, was 

that MIC had no long-term consequences. This theory ran into practical 

difficulties when Dr Heeresh Chandra, a pathologist at Hamidia Hospital, 

suggested that, on the evidence of the autopsies he had conducted, the victims 

might have died from cyanide poisoning. Dr Chandra suggested that victims 

should be treated with sodium thiosulphate, a recognized treatment for 

cyanide poisoning.4 Investigators from the Central Bureau of Investigation 

were also reported to have found cyanide in blood samples from gas victims. 

From December 4, a forensic expert attached to the Central Bureau of 

Investigation in Delhi conducted several tests on blood samples drawn from 

the victims over a week. His results showed either the presence of MIC 

directly, or of cyanide and of monomethylamine ð the products into which 

the gas had been broken down in the body. (Illustrated Weekly of India, 30 

December 1984) 

Dr Chandra gained some local support. But, as the Times of India (11 December 

1984) reported: óSodium thiosulphate was recommended right in the beginning 

by some Hamidia doctors, but they were dissuaded by Union Carbideôs chief 

medical expert, Dr Avashia, who told them it was neither necessary nor 

advisable.ô 

Dr Chandra received support from foreign experts as well. A telex from the 

US Centers for Disease Controls received in Bhopal on 11 December 1984 

devoted half its contents to the treatment of cyanide poisoning (APPEN, 1985, 

p. 7). By 8 December 1984, Dr Max Daunderer, a clinical toxicologist with the 

Munich Institute of Toxicology, West Germany, who had been invited to 

Bhopal by the Indian government, agreed with Dr Chandra, having found 

cyanide levels of 2 ppm in patientsô blood samples and patients responding to 

sodium thiosulphate. Although Dr Daunderer had brought 50,000 doses of 

sodium thiosulphate with him, he was not allowed to administer them. Dr 

Bhandari, medical superintendent at 

Hamidia Hospital and Dr Misra, vice-dean of Gandhi Medical College, 

demanded analytical proof of cyanide poisoning before they would allow 

sodium thiosulphate to be used. When Dr Chandra pointed out such an 
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analysis might prove inconclusive, he was told by Dr Misra, óYou are a doctor 

of the dead, so do not interfere with the living.ô 

In a situation where overmedication for symptomatic treatment by 

dangerous drugs was in full swing, the local medical establishment curbed the 

use of a reportedly harmless drug, demanding an obsessionally ritualistic 

scientific proof before they would accept its use. This is comparable to the 

reaction of Madhya Pradesh chief minister Arjun Singh on the morning of the 

killing: he was not prepared to do anything until he had the óprecise technical 

detailsô, whatever they were. In effect Mr Singh was awaiting the delivery of 

the body count, rather than intervening and attempting to reduce it. In both 

cases, the need for a fetishized version of technical proof was advanced as a 

reason for inaction. In Dr Misraôs case, even the science was wrong. 

In treating suspected cyanide poisoning, clinical evidence is normally 

considered sufficient basis on which to begin treatment; it is not necessary to 

await a laboratory report. Yet that is what the medical establishment in Bhopal 

was demanding before it would allow treatment with sodium thiosulphate. 

On his own initiative, Dr Daunderer administered sodium thiosulphate to 

two of the worst-affected victims. One died and the other showed a spectacular 

recovery. The patient who died was later shown to have such extensive lung 

damage as to have been unable to respond to any therapy. In this case, 

however, the anti-sodium thiosulphate lobby did not wait for such scientific 

niceties as laboratory tests-and possibly autopsies. Rumours were spread that 

óthe German doctor has killed a patient using sodium thiosulphateô. Business 

India reported that Dr Daunderer was óbundled out of Bhopalô. 

Dr M. Nagu, Madhya Pradesh government director of health services, sent 

out a circular stating, óunder no circumstances shall sodium thiosulphate be 

given unless it is correctly and conclusively proved in the laboratory that it is 

cyanide poisoningô. Dr Nagu said the ICMR had phoned him from New Delhi 

to request such a circular be issued, but the ICMR denied issuing any such 

instruction. The day after Dr Naguôs 

circular was issued, an ICMR circular for Bhopal doctors included a pamphlet 

on sodium thiosulphate use, thereby implicitly approving its use. Yet his 

bureaucracy delayed for three weeks before releasing this circular {New 

Scientist, 28 November 1985). 

Business India later suggested that the behaviour of Drs Nagu, Misra and 

Bhandari was due to their óclose associat(ion) with UCILô and their membership 
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of the companyôs panel of doctors. That the doctors involved were highly 

sympathetic to UCC was widely reported. Sunday (7-13 April 1985) reported 

that Dr Nagu was under investigation by the Central Bureau of Investigation 

for his role in concealing information relating to UCC. It pointed out that Dr 

Naguôs brother held the security contract for UCIL in Bhopal. Dakin (1985, p. 

9) reports an official in the Madhya Pradesh Health Ministry as asserting that 

Dr Misra óis still on the payroll as a consultant to Union Carbideô. It is of some 

relevance here that the majority of studies Dr Misra used to refute Dr 

Chandraôs claims of cyanide poisoning were written by none other than Dr 

Bryan Ballantyne, UCC director of applied toxicology and chemical-warfare 

expert. 

The sodium thiosulphate camp had originally received support from an 

unexpected source. UCCôs medical director, Dr Avashia, sent a cable from the 

US A to Bhopal a few days after the killing advising sodium thiosulphate 

treatment óif cyanide poisoning is suspectedô. But ten days after the killing at a 

press conference in Bhopal, Dr Avashiaôs line had changed: there could be no 

cyanide poisoning and sodium thiosulphate is no antidote to MIC exposure. 

Avashia said it was due to his mishearing the chemical involved on the radio: 

he had supposedly confused cyanide with cyanate. When asked why he had 

suggested sodium thiosulphate, Avashia said he could not know what gases 

were used in the plant. When pressed on the fact that his cable had been titled 

óTreatment of MIC pulmonary complicationsô, Avashia had no answer. On this 

incident, Dakin (p. 8) reports: óDr Avashia turned up in Bhopal, surrounded by 

UCC officials, to give a press conference at which he said he was mistaken, 

there was no chance of cyanide poisoning. Bhopal observers say he seemed to 

be under some extreme pressure to change his story. ô 

The Avashia incident had yet another ironic twist to it. Nai Duniya (Indore) 

reported (10 December 1984) that óa couple of days after the incident [sic] 

American experts had prescribed a treatment but the relevant 

medicines are not available in India. Later it was learnt that these experts of 

Union Carbide shall bring the medicines for about 500 patients, but no one 

knows whether they have reached [Bhopal] or not.ô While Avashia publicly 

disavowed sodium thiosulphate treatment, ó[Hamidia] hospital sources say that 

500 injections of the antidote sodium thiosulphate had arrived from the USA, 

but that they were distributed amongst the elite and ministersô (Nai Duniya, 15 

December 1984). 
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The question of possible cyanide poisoning and the efficacy of sodium 

thiosulphate treatment continued as a major area of conflict. UCC has 

consistently maintained its line, following Avashiaôs press conference, that no 

cyanide poisoning could have occurred and that no hydrogen cyanide was 

released in the leak from the Bhopal plant. This claim was met with some 

disbelief in India. The Indian Express (25 J anuary 1985) reported that the US 

Occupational Safety and Health Agency guidelines for occupational exposure 

to MIC warn, under the heading of reactivity, óhazardous decomposition 

products: toxic gases and vapours (such as hydrogen cyanide, oxides of nitrogen 

and carbon monoxide) may be releasedô. The Indian Express commented that it 

is deliberately misleading to ignore this warning and to claim that MIC 

normally degrades into harmless substances. The London Times reported (17 

January 1985, p. 12): óAccording to evidence from an American scientist given 

much currency by the factory owners, Union Carbide, methyl isocyanate is 

distinct from cyanide and is not absorbed into the blood. It is admitted, 

however, that this has been experimentally tested only outside the body.ô 

In June, Avashia reiterated that there could be no cyanide poisoning, though 

he now admitted that there could have been hydrogen cyanide among the 

gases that leaked. Later again, Avashia told Chemical and Engineering News 

(22 July 1985, p. 6) that reports of óchronicô cyanide poisoning did not make 

sense: óIt isnôt conceivable that any significant amount of cyanide could have 

been produced to cause any widespread problem. Medically we had no cyanide 

poisoning. But what bothers me most is that people are still being treated with 

sodium thiosulphate and thereôs no justification for that. MIC already does 

enough damage. Why look for a different scapegoat?ô (emphasis added). It 

seems strange that Dr Avashia was so concerned over the use of a non-toxic 

drug, when he had 

raised no objections to the use of dangerous drugs such as cortico-steroids in 

the treatment of the gas victims. 

In the meantime, others supported the UCC line. Dr Gareth Green of the 

Department of Environmental Health Sciences at Johns Hopkins University, 

Baltimore, Maryland, in the USA told the New York Times (10 April 1985) 

óthere is no known way of converting MIC into cyanideô: thus he claimed there 

was no scientific rationale for using sodium thiosulphate. This was another 

example of dismissing a question without examining it. Harold Teague of 
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Pembroke State University, North Carolina, has produced a hypothesis on how 

MIC could be metabolized in the body to cyanide (Teague, 1985). In reply, Dr 

Misra told the New York Times (10 April 1985), óThere is something called 

science and there is something called science fiction. This is science fiction.ô 

In Bhopal, Dr Misra continued to object vehemently to the use of sodium 

thiosulphate. During a meeting on pulmonary medicine in March 1985, Dr 

Misra claimed sodium thiosulphate should not be used, as it caused adverse 

reactions, according to a study he had performed. The study in question was 

one Dr Misra had presented to the Indian Council on Medical Research in 

February: in fact it said that only two out of 200 patients given sodium 

thiosulphate by Dr Misra had shown adverse effects. Dr Misraôs conduct during 

the sodium thiosulphate controversy led to allegations that he had falsified the 

data. 

The Medico-Legal Institute of Gandhi Medical College asked Professor Misraôs 

department to conduct studies concerning thiocyanate excretion in MIC and 

non-MIC patients. When the final data were sent back to the Institute, the 

results turned out to be mystifying. In many cases, thiocyanate excretions had 

increased without NATS (sodium thiosulphate) injections. When the Institute 

staff called up the original requisition forms, they discovered major 

discrepancies between the requisition forms and the final list. As it turned out, 

in every case where thiocyanate excretions had increased, the people had been 

given NATS injections, but the column recording the number of injections 

indicated ózeroô. It was also discovered that many non-MIC victims, belonging 

to the ócontrolô groups, had been given NATS injections. Such fraudulent 

registration of data would have disqualified a researcher for life in any 

respectable academic community. 

However, the same doctor, who has called the Indian Council on Medical 

Research a ónational fraudô, was now directing an Indian Council on Medical 

Research research project on thiocyanate excretion, the results of which the 

entire medical community knew beforehand. (APPEN, 1985, pp. 9-10) 

The reasons for denying the possibility of cyanide poisoning are obvious. 

Anand Grover of the Bombay Lawyersô Collective charged: óThere was a 

deliberately engineered controversy by Union Carbide so as to ensure that 

cyanide would be out of the picture entirely so that any kind of liability, which 
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would be criminal, would not arise at allô (Jackson et al., 1985, p. 6)., Dr Mira 

Sadgopal explained to the Sunday Times: 

It matters in the litigation for compensation. Union Carbideôs lawyers will 

obviously try to reduce liability as much as possible. An important part of their 

strategy will be to demonstrate that the industrial slums of India are endemic 

with tuberculosis and that doctors canôt differentiate between tuberculosis 

damage and gas damage. But cyanide toxicity can ôthe explained away in terms 

of an Indian epidemic. It will unambiguously establish the relationship 

between the gas leak and the thousands who suffered. (1 December 1985) 

The criminal aspect is also important. Officials of Film Recovery Systems in the 

USA were recently convicted of murder after the death of a worker poisoned 

by cyanide: óThe cyanide issue may make an out-of-court settlement legally 

impossible if careless handling of a cyanide-related substance is considered to 

be murderô (Dakin, 1985, p. 11). According to Bombay Lawyersô Collective 

member Anand Grover, óIf you have knowledge that a person can die with the 

type of system that youôre working with, in India, and in most common law 

countries, it is culpable homicide not amounting to murder. So it is a very 

serious criminal actô (Jackson et al., 1985, p. 6). 

PEOPLEôS HEALTH CLINIC INITIATIVE  

The struggle concerning medical treatment of the gas victims continued to 

centre on sodium thiosulphate. In February 1985 the ICMR had 

recommended the use of sodium thiosulphate for three-quarters of the exposed 

population. It stated: 

The toxicological studies carried out so far . . . have clearly shown that, at least 

in the survivors, there is evidence of chronic cyanide poisoning operating as a 

result of either inhalation of hydrocyanic acid or more probably subsequent 

generation of cyanide radical from the cyanogen pool in gas- affected victims. 

The changes in urinary thiocyanate and in blood gas before and after this 

thiosulphate treatment substantiated the above findings. 

Yet the Madhya Pradesh government made no attempt to make treatment 

available. On 17 and 18 February 1985, the Morcha organized an all-India 

convention in Bhopal on óPeopleôs Right to Know and Peopleôs Right to a Safe 

Environmentô. The convention called for mass detoxification, provision of 
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abortion, contraception and information to the gas-affected people. Still the 

Madhya Pradesh government did not act. Organizations working with the gas 

victims only realized in March 1985 the importance of sodium thiosulphate 

and began to demand its administration. On 24 March 1985, the Delhi 

womenôs group Saheli organized a demonstration by 150 women at the Deputy 

Inspector-General Hospital in Bhopal, demanding proper treatment, including 

administration of sodium thiosulphate. 

Hitavada (25 March 1985) reported that Dr Nagu, Madhya Pradesh director 

of health services, ódid not give an assurance about sodium thiosulphate 

treatment, saying he had not received any communication to that effect from 

[the] Indian Council on Medical Research. He said he would make available 

sodium thiosulphate ampoules as soon as he received instructions from the 

Indian Council on Medical Research.ô Only at the end of May did the 

government make sodium thiosulphate available to non-governmental 

organizations operating in Bhopal, such as the Red Cross, the Indian Medical 

Association and the J ana Swaasthya Kendra. Even then, sodium thiosulphate 

was provided only for óselected patientsô rather than as a ómass detoxificationô 

programme. 

The Jana Swaasthya Kendra (Peopleôs Health Clinic) was a joint initiative of 

the two activist groups already mentioned, the Morcha and the Nagrik Rahat 

aur Punarwas Committee. It was also supported by the Union Carbide 

Karmachari Sangh, the Bhopal union not affiliated to Rajiv 

Gandhiôs party, and the Trade Union Relief Fund. The Jana Swaasthya Kendra 

(JSK) was opened on the tennis court inside the UCIL plant. It was seen as an 

example of what the government should be doing, as the voluntary groups had 

realized that the scale of the disaster was such that only the government had 

enough resources to tackle the problem. In contrast to government clinics, the 

JSK provided information to people and listened to peopleôs problems and 

experiences. By the end of three weeks, 1,000 people had been injected with 

sodium thiosulphate. The JSK and its constitutent organizations also 

emphasized the need for gas-affected people to organize to demand their rights 

from the government. 

That the JSK clinic was a successful initiative was shown by the resulting 

government repression. In a midnight raid on 24 June, the police arrested 

doctors and paramedics of the JSK and confiscated JSK equipment and records. 

The doctors and activists were óarrested on blatantly false and trumped-up 
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charges like 307 [attempt to murder], rioting and inciting people to riot, etc.ô 

Eight activists were kept in Bhopal central gaol until as late as 6 July. That 

harassment was the main aim of this police operation was shown by the old 

tactic of continuing to fabricate new charges to keep activists in gaol: óWhen 

bails were obtained by sympathizers for the existing charges, the bail-amount 

was increased by the new ones, which were equally false. This was with a clear 

intention of harassing the people . . . Some basti [slum] people, including 

women with infants, were in gaol more than ten days after the arrestsô (Bombay 

Daily, 21 July 1985). 

This repression was effective in diverting energy from organizational and 

relief work. óAll of our energies were absorbed in legal and civil liberty type 

work for the past five or six weeks. It is only after having spent a great deal of 

energy and money of the country that we are able to function again and look 

beyond our immediate problems,ô the Morcha wrote on 6 August 1985, 

explaining why the most recent meeting of the National Campaign Committee 

had had to be postponed. 

There were two responses to this harassment. First, on 25 June a large 

demonstration of 5,000 people was organized by the Morcha; police responded 

to it with clubs and arrested some 400 demonstrators. Second, on the legal 

front, the Bombay Lawyersô Collective took a case to the Indian Supreme Court, 

which directed the Madhya Pradesh government to make sodium thiosulphate 

available to the JSK, to appoint a 

commissioner to oversee medical relief measures and to set up a ótime- boundô 

detoxification programme. 

When the doctors returned to the J SK premises to reopen the clinic, they 

found it was locked. The Central Bureau of Investigation claimed UCIL had 

locked it. UCIL claimed the Central Bureau of Investigation had locked it. The 

doctors were afraid to reopen the clinic for fear of being charged with yet 

another crime. The police kept important medical records and lists of activists 

when they returned the clinic equipment and records to the doctors. 

On 7 July 1985 a newJSK clinic was set up outside the UCIL premises. This 

was run as a general clinic, as the state government refused to continue 

supplying it with sodium thiosulphate. Dr Ishwar Dasss told the J SKôs Dr Vora 

that he was refusing to supply the JSK with sodium thiosulphate as the clinic 

was ónot up to standardô. The basis for this objection seems to have been that 

the clinic walls were not painted and the clinic itself was not spacious enough. 
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Sodium thiosulphate was supplied to the J SK from 9 September 1985, after the 

Supreme Court had instructed the Madhya Pradesh state to do so. The clinic 

was run in rooms provided by the Nagrik Rahat aur Punarwas Committee. 

Disagreements arose over continuation of the clinic in the Nagrik Rahat aur 

Punarwas Committee premises, with the committee throwing doubt on the 

efficacy of sodium thiosulphate and eventually asking the clinic to shift from 

its premises. While the committee agreed to make its premises available until 

other arrangements could be made, it did not honour this agreement. 

According to a statement by the two doctors involved (APPEN, pp. 106-7), 

they then decided to shift the clinic equipment from the committeeôs offices. 

The committee then reported the shifting of the clinicôs materials to the police 

as robbery. Thus the joint initiative among the activist groups on the issue of 

health care for the gas victims came to an unfortunate end. 

No BENEFIT OF THE DOUBT 

A final point needs to be stressed in relation to the medical aspects of the 

Bhopal killing, a point which is of no small importance to future disasters and 

present anti-toxic campaigns. In times of crisis, the roles played by 

various groups become more pronounced and obvious. Bhopal showed the role 

of government scientists and other experts to be primarily one of reassurance 

rather than scientific examination of a problem. Thus those medical authorities 

that were cautious in predicting ill-effects, following the old habit of many 

toxicologists, especially those in industry and government, of giving the 

chemical the benefit of the doubt, were incorrect. Those who expected the worst 

after the disaster, and who were thereby dismissed as alarmists and extremists, 

have been shown to be factually correct. On the basis of the Bhopal experience, 

little trust can be placed in the assurances and reassurances of even supposedly 

neutral medical institutions and doctors. 

Without labouring the point, it is important to document some of the areas 

where the reassuring experts were wrong. On the general health effects, the 

New York Times reported a year after the killing: 

According to new medical information the two-hour exposure to gas escaping 

from the Union Carbide factory in Bhopal caused long-term damage to the 

lungs, eyes, nervous system, kidney, liver, blood and female reproductive 

organs. This information contradicts statements in the days after the accident by 
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some prominent Indian and American medical authorities who asserted that 

there would be few long-term health problems. (1 December 1985) 

Assurance about MICôs mode of action also proved to be baseless. The experts 

said MIC quickly breaks down into non-toxic substances on contact with 

moisture or water. 

One interesting chemical finding [of the ICMR April 1986 summary report] was 

that MIC was shown to take more than an hour to completely hydrolyse in 

water. The implication of that finding is that after the leak MI C probably 

persisted in an unaltered highly toxic form much longer than had been 

thoughtpossible. Normally it degrades on contact with moisture to relatively 

harmless methylamine. (Chemical and Engineering News, 14 April 1986, p. 6) 

The experts also said MIC could not enter the body through the skin nor could it 

enter the bloodstream directly. ICMR studies found MIC was potent enough to 

enter the body through the skin and can enter the 
bloodstream directly (Chemical and Engineering News, 14 April 1986, 

p. 6). 

In a similar vein, the reassurers claimed there was no possibility of MIC 

affecting the immune system. Meryl H. Carol told a meeting of the American 

Chemical Society in September 1985 that MIC injures the immune system 

(Chemical and Engineering News, 16 September 1985, p. 5). The Indian 

Toxicology Research Centre reported that 55 percent of the 1,109 victims it 

studied showed a reduction in the immune response (:Chemical Week, 4 

December 1985, p. 12). 

While the reassurance experts claimed there was no evidence that MIC 

would have adverse reproductive or genetic effects, the ICMR found that 366 

pregnant women studied suffered óspontaneousô abortions - 26.7 percent in all, 

four times the normal rate. To this it must be added that between 35 and 50 

percent of affected newborn children were underweight. Also of relevance 

here is the result of Doctors Bang and Sadgopalôs studies, which found an 

epidemic of gynaecological diseases. As for the fifty unfortunate mice given 

sublethal doses of MIC in animal tests, according to Dr Y. C. Alarie of the 

University of Pittsburgh, all suffered spontaneous abortions. Michael D. Shelby 

of the U S National Institute of Environmental Health Science told Chemical 

and Engineering News (3 March 1986, p. 4) that chromosome aberration tests 
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show óMIC, a breakdown product or a metabolite is capable of producing 

chromosome damage when applied to cells in cultureô. This experimental 

evidence was confirmed when the Indian Toxicology Research Centre found 

an abnormally high incidence of chromosome breaks in 31 percent of the gas 

victims they studied (Chemical Week, 4 December 1985, p. 12). Finally, in its 

suit filed against UCC in Bhopal in September 1986, the Indian government 

said it is óreasonably certainô that Bhopal residents were genetically damaged 

by the gas leak {Wall Street Journal Europe, 8 September 1986, p. 7). 

The medical cover-up following the killing was based on giving MIC the 

benefit of the doubt. The studies mentioned above have shown how baseless 

this was. A conservative desire to limit the health crisis found a strong weapon 

in the industrial and medical bureaucracyôs long history of giving toxic 

chemicals the benefit of the doubt. Such epidemiological and toxicological 

research as was undertaken after the killing was generally of questionable or 

academic value, deliberately biased or kept secret: actual 

treatment and rehabilitation of the victims was dire. The international medical 

bureaucracy allied itself with UCC and the Indian state in limiting the crisis. 

The local medical bureaucracy was split. Concern for the victims was the top 

priority only of dissident medical and political groups. These groups, which 

saw the medical cover-up as entangled with the political cover-up, were 

repressed and marginalized: the state closed down an independent medical 

treatment centre operated by these groups. All of these tactics had been used 

before by both state and medical bureaucracies to deal with toxic crises and 

issues. Bhopal saw perhaps the worst use of these tactics so far.





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4 THE PRICE 
OF 
CORPORATE KILLING 

óThe victims are the only innocent people around this case. ô - Jacky 

Hof finger, court-appointed liaison between the plaintiffsô lawyers 

in the US Bhopal cases (Wall Street Journal Europe, 

9 May 1986) 

óIf we fail to organize here in India, the safety standards that do 

exist will probably decline because the ability of a corporation like 

Union Carbide to weather an incident of this magnitude will set a 

precedent - a benchmark -for quantifying the risk that companies 

undertaking these kinds of enterprises are exposed to. 

óIf theyôre able to cut a deal - say, $1 billion - and if theyôre able to 

raise the money from banks and insurance, and if itôs a settlement 

that they can live with - where they can still make profits - itôs likely 

that the whole community of businesses that deal with these kinds of 

toxic materials will be encouraged to spend less money on safety 

because they will be able to quantify their exposure. They will see 

that they really donôt have to guard against the worst because this 

was the worst, and if Union Carbide is able to survive intact, then 

companies donôt have much to worry about. 

óBut, if justice is done in this case it will amount to the demise of 

Union Carbide - the transfer of ownership to the victims. If that were 

to happen it would send a real message to all the companies that are 

working with these kinds of toxic materials. If something goes 

wrong, they stand to lose their corporation and likely the
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personal fortunes of their managers and directors. That will send a real 

message and encourage an historic change in the way business is done.ô 

- Robert Hager (Multinational Monitor, 31 July 1985) 

óONLY THE V ICTIMS LACK A STRATEGYô 

Along with the media and chemical warfare researchers, another flock of 

vultures soon arrived in Bhopal - US lawyers. Smelling the possibility of the 

largest legal settlement in US court history, US liability lawyers such as John 

Coale and Melvin Belli descended on Bhopal to sign up clients and then quickly 

returned to the US A to file billion-dollar claims against U CC. Residents of some 

areas said US lawyers had offered them 100 rupees to sign up with them. Some of 

these lawyers got their clients to sign agreements giving lawyers 40 percent of 

awards, or 50 percent if the case is appealed, with others topping their 40 

percent contingency fee with the requirement to pay costs as well. Many of 

these agreements were in English only, though many of those who signed them 

are barely literate in Hindi. In some cases US lawyers were reported to have held 

on to death certificates which they obtained from their clients, thus preventing 

them from receiving immediate relief from the Indian state and showing the 

same callousness towards their clients as UCC had previously. One lawyer, John 

Coale, who persuaded the Bhopal municipality to avail itself of his services, 

announced to the Indian Press that he had just begun negotiations with UCC 

looking for $1 billion. The Indian state moved in a hurry also: the Madhya 

Pradesh government formed a three-person committee to begin negotiations 

with UCC on 5 December. 

There were immediate calls to avoid litigation, with environmental mediation 

specialists and others calling for the question of compensation to be separated 

from that of punishment. Thus Robert E. Stein of Environmental Mediation 

International called for immediate attention to be placed not on who was 

responsible for the killing, but on the formation of a just compensation scheme. 

óWhat is important is not to apportion blame but to make monetary relief and 

restitution available.ô 

While the humanitarian leanings of some of those who made these calls 

cannot be doubted, it is worth noting that their position was shared by UCC, 

which also called for an immediate settlement that would be both 

ócompassionate and reasonableô. Such a settlement would of course be in UCCôs 

interest, for several reasons. It would spare UCC the harassing experience of 
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fightin g a long, drawn-out court case, with the attendant publicity and 

exposure of UCCôs negligence. It would also remove the problem of huge legal 

costs. Such a settlement would also ensure that UCCôs full culpability in the 

killing would be covered up. UCC was also motivated to settle immediately to 

maintain the image it was projecting as a caring company. And it could instead 

concentrate on its most recent restructuring plans. 

For the Indian government, as well, an out-of-court settlement would have 

been satisfactory, as it had no desire to see its complicity exposed and 

documented.1 Furthermore, there was UCCôs threat that the Indian 

government itself was partially liable for the killing, given that 23 percent of 

UCIL was held by Indian government trusts. Bud G. Flolman, UCCôs chief 

counsel,2 said that, if the claims were litigated, the Indian government would 

probably become a defendant as it bore partial responsibility for the accident: 

óThat raises thorny questions that can be avoided by early resolution.ô Thus 

UCC nudged the Indian government to settle out of court. Another major 

factor affecting the Indian government position was its desire not to alienate 

multinational capital and thus compromise Rajivôs pro-high-tech policy. It was 

essential for the Indian state to be businesslike in its dealings with UCC and not 

overzealous in attacking the corporate monster, as the Indian state was about 

to undertake a major attempt to lure multinational capital to its shores. In a 

situation where óIndia probably has made more changes favourable to business 

this year [1985] than in the past twenty-five yearsô (Walter Wapel, General 

Electricôs regional manager for Asia, quoted in Fortune), hunting UCC too 

strenuously would have gone against the tide. 

Thus both sides agreed on the need to keep the liability question away from 

open examination and contestation in court. All that remained at issue 

between them was the price of maintaining silence. One little side-issue 

needed to be cleared up first: the US lawyers had to be dispatched. This was 

done in March 1985 when the Indian parliament passed the Bhopal Gas Leak 

Disaster (Processing of Claims) Act, 1985, a law which named the Indian 

government as the only recognized legal representative of the gas victims. 

While the US lawyers have been justly criticized for their 

greed, their intervention was crucial in beginning legal cases against UCC. 

óWithout pressure from the Americans, and the possibility of a multibillion 

dollar judgement in New York, Union Carbide would have little to fear from 

any court. It was first the American attorneys who seemed to be conscious 
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about claims and who rushed to the [shanty towns] to take cases,ô says Bhopal 

lawyer N. M. Khan, who assisted Chicago plaintiffsô lawyer Marshall Teichner. 

óNo other organization or government moved forward for taking claims cases. 

Several observers note that legal officials didnôt get involved until American 

lawyers embarrassed them into playing a roleô, Stephen J. Adler reported from 

Bhopal (.American Lawyer, April 1985, p. 133). Adler concluded by quoting 

Marc Galanter, an Indian-law specialist at the University of Wisconsin in the 

USA: óNothing would have happened if it wasnôt for the American plaintiffsô 

lawyers, whatever you think of them. If they hadnôt come, the people would 

have been just left to die, as in so many situations.ô 

Similarly, while these lawyersô reported cut of 40-60 percent of any eventual 

damage award is incredibly greedy, at least the victims would eventually 

receive something. There is little likelihood of the victims receiving much if a 

deal was made between UCC and the Indian state. One senior lecturer at an 

Indian law institute told Chemical Week (6 March 1985), óWith the Indian 

government acting in the name of all the victims without any intention of 

rendering information public, there is a real problem now of how the 

surviving victims will actually get the money . . . They have no way of 

controlling the governmentô; so the government ócan totally hoodwink the 

peopleô. Later in the year Dr Misra of Gandhi Medical College told Business 

Week that the government had undertaken no systematic survey of the 

victims because óthe government wants the whole compensation to themselves 

to distribute as they likeô. 

The Indian government also had local reasons for pursuing the Bhopal case 

in the US courts. The major one was the desire to avoid establishing a legal 

precedent in India which would badly affect Indian private and state capital in 

future chemical accidents. In an interview with APPEN Mr Panjwani, a senior 

advocate practising at the Indian Supreme Court, emphasized this point: 

Because the pressure of Indian industry is so great on the Government that 

if we really set up a tribunal and they set up the principles of awarding 

compensation on the lines of American law, then the entire Indian law of torts 

changes. Therefore in every subsequent case it will change. So it will have 

far-reaching consequences for which the Indian industry and Indian 

government were not prepared. (1985, p. 40) 

Similarly, the passing of the Bhopal Gas Leak Disaster (Processing of Claims) 
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Act also prevented independent legal groups in India from intervening in the 

cases in the Indian courts. The Act also authorized the Indian government to 

enter into a compromise on behalf of and in the interests of the gas victims. 

With the US lawyers safely out of the way, the major question then became 

the price. The Rand Corporation had recently done a very handy study. 

According to them, a US life is worth about $500,000. With the appropriate 

discount, this meant an Indianôs life is worth about $8,500. Multiplied by 1,700 

deaths, this came to $14.5 million. The 200,000 injured suffered various 

injuries. US payment to asbestos victims with similarly varied injuries 

averaged out at $64,000. Adjusted for India this came to $1,100 per person, 

leading to a total $220 million (Wall Street Journal Europe, 20 May 1985). 

(Another aspect of these cases needs to be pointed out: in asbestos cases from 

1980 to 1982, only 37 percent of the awards actually got to the victims, with 

legal fees and other expenses swallowing 63 percent of awards.) 

The major debate became whether payment was to be at American or the 

discounted Indian values. UCC said the Indian values should be adhered to, 

while India said US standards of payment should rule. Thus while UCC and the 

Indian state haggled over the price, the victims and the walking wounded 

languished. In June 1985, UCILôs Vijay Gokhale said the level of compensation 

would be ósomewhere between Indian and American standardsô (Financial 

Times, 10 June 1985). 

As well as haggling over the price, UCC quibbled with the body count. In 

April 1985, Bud Holman, UCCôs counsel, said that the Indian governmentôs 

figure for deaths was substantially inflated, citing a report to the Indian 

parliament placing the official death toll at 1,408. Holman also considered the 

figure of 200,000 injured to be ódefinitely on the high sideô. Holman told the 

Washington Post: óSomeone in Bhopal that might have 

smelled gas and felt bad was not significantly affected. There were people who 

fled their homes; there were people who were upset that night. There may 

have been people who went to first aid because they had felt nausea or felt ill 

and then leftô (Everest, 1985, p. 86, emphasis added). By the end of 1985, some 

490,000 people in Bhopal had signed up with the Indian goverment as having 

been injured in some way by the gas leak. 

As UCC toughed out the bargaining stage, its public statements became less 

full of the milk of human kindness. Their first story was: óEvery effort will be 

made to mitigate against the deep sorrow of the people of Bhopalô (December 
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1984). Then: óThe key is to find a way of recompensing . . . that would be 

compassionate and reasonable. I would hope this could be done in a relatively 

short period of timeô (J anuary 1985). Then: óWeôve said right from the start 

that the proper answer for the people, if you have any compassion for them at 

all, is not to go through a litigation of liability. We will fight right to the endô 

(any effort to prove UCC negligent in Bhopal) (February 1985). Then: 

óStockholders should not take our strong interest in achieving a settlement as 

an admission of legal liability. The corporation did nothing that either caused 

or contributed to the accident, and if it comes to litigation we will vigorously 

defend that positionô (April 1985). By November 1985 Warren Anderson (UCC 

chief executive officer) was saying, óMaybe they, early on, thought weôd give 

the store away. (Now) weôre in a litigation mode. Iôm not going to roll over and 

play deadô (Business Week, 25 November 1985, p. 66). 

While UCC was prolific in its verbal assurances of its desire to aid the 

killingôs victims, they were in no hurry to put their money where their mouth 

was. When the case first came to court in the USA, Reagan- appointed Judge 

Keenan suggested - as a gesture of fundamental human decency, without 

prejudice to the question of liability - that UCC make an immediate payment 

of $5-10 million. UCCôs response to this request was hardly compassionate. 

Holman [U CCôs chief counsel] responded by plugging the disaster relief the 

company had offered already. But he went on to make a curious argument ð 

that to provide further interim relief, Carbide needed specific information 

about the precise extent of the damage. óWe need to know precisely how many 

people were killed in this tragedy, how many people were seriously 

affected, how many people were hospitalized for an extended period, if any, 

how many were hospitalized overnight, how many were affected by just going 

to first aid stations. . . The government of India has this information and we 

need it.ô (American Lawyer, November 1985,p. 57) 

UCC thus turned a request for a basic humanitarian gesture into a fishing 

expedition for information. 

UCC returned to court two days later offering the minimum figure Judge 

Keenan had requested, $5 million, but again demanding detailed information. 

The Indian government refused this offer on the grounds that UCC required 

detailed reports on each individual receiving portions of the money. The 

Indian government claimed administrative costs would eat up half the $5 
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million offered and that report writing would tie up half the working hours of 

doctors attending the victims. An Indian government spokesperson said, 

óUnion Carbide just wanted to spend $5 million to buy data [on the number 

and extent of injuries] from the governmentô (American Lawyer, November 

1985, p. 57). 

Agreement on the interim relief was finally reached just before the first 

anniversary of the killing. The money from UCC was to go through the US Red 

Cross - of which Warren Anderson is a board member - to the Indian Red 

Cross.3 The money was to be subject to International Red Cross rules for 

disaster relief accounting and reporting. However, in a motion by the 

individual US plaintiff lawyers, filed before Judge Keenan on 21 May 1986, it 

was alleged: óTo date, only $2 million of this amount has been transferred to 

the Indian Red Cross and there is no record as to how much has been utilized 

and for what purposeô (BARC Briefing Paper No. 2, 1986b,p. 3). 

When India finally sued in the USA it went the whole hog. Indiaôs Bhopal 

suit included an unprecedented legal claim - multinational- enterprise liability 

- that ócould strip many multinationals of the insulation that they now have 

from liabilities of their foreign subsidiariesô, according to Business Week. The 

magazine quoted Mark B. Feldman, specialist in international law at Donovan 

Leisure Newton & Irvine, to the effect that if the claim was accepted óit would 

be a major obstacle to international trade and investment as we know itô. If 

UCC were sued successfully in the US A with the result that US-type damages 

were awarded, it would be a vitally 

important precedent that would wipe out the cost advantages of hazard export 

and become a major handicap for US toxic capital internationally. 

Nevertheless, this claim may be seen as one more nudge to UCC to settle out of 

court at a higher figure: US lawyers said that, while India had sued in the USA, 

it still hoped to arrange a settlement that would avoid the intense scrutiny of 

evidence and disclosure of documents that would accompany a US suit. 

UCCôs first offer - reportedly $100 million - was refused. UCC said it ówould 

be enough to pay heirs of each decedent the equivalent of more than one 

hundred years annual income and each of the reported serious injuries 

approximately twenty years annual income in Bhopalô. With Belli and Coale 

talking of $5 billion damages, this offer was sure to be rejected. Despite its 

protestations of concern and its desire to resolve the settlement by J uly, UCCôs 

opening offer was extremely low, less than half its estimated insurance cover. 
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In June the Wall Street Journal Europe quoted Asoke Sen, Indianôs Minister of 

Law and J ustice, as saying that UCCôs offer on Bhopal was only about $100 

million. He called media reports of it as $200 million óhighly misleadingô, as the 

higher figure represented the value of the offer under a long-term payment 

plan. Sen rightly rejected the offer as a ófleabagô. UCCôs conditions with the 

offer included that it would become valid only if all cases against the company 

were dismissed. UCC was reported in June to have formally offered $230 

million, while Indian officials  privately said they wanted $1.5 billion. The 

general consensus reported was that UCCôs offer could not rise above $300 

million, while for political reasons India could not accept much less than $1 

billion.  

Robert Hager suggested in the Multinational Monit or (31J uly 1985) that 

there was a structural limit of about $800 million, above which UCC could not 

go. This figure is made up of UCCôs insurance and what could be raised by way 

of bank loans. Going higher would require the management to erode the 

corporationôs assets: óThe management would then expose themselves to 

shareholder derivative suits against them personally for negligent activity by 

the subsidiary in India, and that means the personal assets of the directors and 

managers would be in jeopardy.ô This would be of particular concern, as there 

were reports that UCC had been unable to renew their directorsô and officersô 

liability insurance. 

At the same time, in April 1985 at the first hearing before Judge Keenan, 

UCC made it clear that they had no intention of abandoning one of their 

strongest legal tactics: óIf the cases are going to be litigated,ô said Holman, óthey 

belong in India.ô UCC was trying to have it both ways, as usual. While UCC 

argued in the USA that claims should be filed in India, it responded to some of 

the suits filed in India by individual plaintiffsô lawyers by arguing that only the 

Indian government could legally represent the victims. 

In April 1985, the American Lawyer reported that some 2,000 suits had been 

filed against UCC in Indian courts, mainly seeking interim relief. UCIL was 

reported to be opposing all these cases: óCarbide . . . has put together a team of a 

dozen Indian lawyers - a legal army in a city where almost all lawyers practise 

solo - to contest every point in the complaints.ô Many of the claims were 

opposed on technicalities such as the plaintiffsô illiteracy: óThe plaintiffs are 

illiterate and do not understand the contents of the affidavits on which they 

have placed their thumb prints. Therefore . . . the complaints must be thrown 
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out. ô 

Lawyers for UCIL were also denying that the Indian company was under the 

control of UCC, thus denying UCC was in any way liable. They also argued that 

UCIL was not liable. UCILôs chief lawyer was quoted: óAccording to the 

company, there was no negligence. It was false that Indian engineers did not 

take care properly. It is absurd to suggest that the machinery was not handled 

properlyô (American Lawyer, April 1985, p. 130). UCC was thus fighting every 

inch of the way in India as well. 

UCCôs defence that litigation belonged in India could have tied up the US 

litigation for years. In December 1984 some lawyers predicted that the US suits 

could take up to five years before the question of compensation was even 

considered. These predictions undermined one major argument against taking 

cases against UCC in India: that Indian cases take so long to resolve that many 

of the Bhopal victims would be dead before the tortuous pace of Indian 

litigation would come to a final decision. Others - for example, the Bombay 

Lawyersô Collective, a public-interest law group 

ð argued that the case should be tried in India to create a precedent for future 

mass-disaster cases. 

The two major reasons for filing the suits in the US A were the possibility of 

higher damages being awarded in the USA and the contention that UCC 

- rather than UCIL - was the major responsible party. By filing in the 

USA, damages could be awarded out of the total assets of UCC, which were 

large enough to cover even the most optimistic demands. Similarly, by filing in 

the USA, the lawyers for the Indian government and the individual plantiffsô 

lawyers could use the discovery process, which allows parties involved in 

lawsuits access to documents held by each other on the subject of the suit; thus 

they might obtain material which related to UCCôs control of UCIL. 

In August 1985 UCC filed for dismissal of the suits in the USA on the 

grounds that it was an inappropriate forum for the litigation. Since the event 

occurred in India, most of the material evidence was in India, and the 

witnesses and the victims were in India, it argued that the litigation should 

take place in India. UCC further argued that the US plaintiff lawyers did not 

have proper authority to represent the Bhopal victims. In what seemed an 

uncharacteristic move for a Reagan-appointed judge, J udge Keenan allowed 

partial discovery of documents before the forum issue was resolved. Material 

obtained under this process strengthened the Indian governmentôs claim that 
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major decisions relating to the Bhopal plant were taken by the US parent rather 

than the local Indian company. 

Meanwhile, the negotiations for an out-of-court settlement continued. By 

August 1985, most US analysts were predicting the maximum settlement 

would be less that $500 million. What seemed certain was that UCC was 

unlikely to offer an adequate premium for early settlement of the court case 

until punitive damages seemed probable. The question of punitive damages, as 

well as the desire not to pay US-style damages for death and injury, was central 

to UCCôs desire to have the cases heard in India. 

Punitive damages are those, above and beyond damages relating to injury 

and death, which US juries may award in cases of gross corporate negligence or 

recklessness. Victor Schwartz, a Washington product-liability lawyer, 

explained the function of punitive damages in the New York Times (11 

December 1984) in the following way: óSince we donôt have a simple, workable 

set of criminal procedures that would deter executives from dangerous 

behaviour that hurts others, we are using punitive damages as a deterrent to 

protect people. It really should be handled through criminal law, not through 

the tort system.ô It was the threat of punitive damages, rather than the 

compensatory awards themselves, that forced two major US corporate 

criminals-the asbestos giant Johns Manville and the Daikon 

Shield contraceptive maker A. H. Robins - to seek protection under Chapter 11 

of the US bankruptcy code. Should the Bhopal cases proceed to trial by jury in 

the USA, UCCôs continued existence as a profitable corporation would be 

under a dire threat. 

In the out-of-court negotiations, UCCôs delaying tactics were certainly 

successful. By September 1986 the likely price predicted by the US business 

press was $600-$800 million, a major climbdown from the original estimates of 

$10 billion (admittedly optimistic, but also possible, given Texacoôs recent 

shock). When the battle for control of UCC between the present UCC 

managment and the GAF Corporation (see pages 134-5 below) was in full 

swing in December 1985, settlement of the Bhopal suits was reckoned to be no 

major threat to UCCôs continued viability. This devaluation was aided by the 

stated readiness of lawyers for both the Indian government and the Bhopal 

victims to settle in a short time, rather than confront UCC over a long march 

with consequent exposure of the full causes of, and various complicities in, the 

killing. As Robert Hager told the Multinational Monitor , óBhopal lawyers are 
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less confrontational and more settlement- orientated, questioning whether a 

strategy of seeking control of Union Carbideôs assets is in the best interests of 

their clients.ô Certainly their readiness to deal brought down the price. 

UCC was in no rush to complete a deal. At an early December 1985 meeting 

UCC repeated a settlement bid similar to the $240 million which had been 

rejected earlier: this offer hardly raised itself to near half of what the Indian 

govenment eventually expected to get as a minimum payment. The Wall 

Street Journal Europe (9 May 1986) said India had demanded $630 million 

earlier in 1986. By way of comparison, the Financial Times (14 May 1986) cited 

Indiaôs minimum demand as $1 billion. This offer was made when it seemed 

most opportune f or UC C management to have a fait accompli on the Bhopal 

issue to present to its shareholders during its battle with the GAF Corporation. 

Of course the crisis of Bhopal was, in UCC managementôs opinion, 

successfully handled months before this, before being put on the back burner: 

it no longer figured as a crisis of the same magnitude, especially when the 

takeover battle with GAF began to heat up. The slowness of the legal system 

was obviously in UCCôs favour. And UCC intended to utilize this slowness and 

all the various avenues of appeal to the utmost. In 

November 1985 Warren Anderson, UCC chief executive officer, said UCC 

would take the case all the way to the Supreme Court: óThis could drag on for 

five or more years,ô he noted. Bud Holman, UCCôs legal counsel, threatened 

that UCC would fight each individual case, if the need arose. óWe can litigate 

100,000 or 200,000 [separate damage trials] if we want to ... If weôre going to 

defend ourselves - and we are - if there are 200,000 claimants, the 200,000 

claimants are going to have to appear in courtô (American Lawyer, November 

1985, p. 62). 

Nevertheless, in early February 1986, UCC made a last-ditch settlement 

offer before Judge Keenanôs ruling on the forum issue, i.e. on which countryôs 

courts were to try the cases. UCC offered $350 million, a 46 percent increase 

on its previous offer. A meeting between the Indian governmentôs lawyers and 

the individual US lawyers agreed to press UCC for more. 

Four and a half weeks later, UCCôs offer was secretly accepted by Stanley 

Chesley and F. Lee Bailey, two of the most prominent lawyers among the 

individual US lawyers. The intended plan was for Chesley and Bailey to 

abandon the plaintiffsô management committee, the committee composed of 

representatives of the US lawyers and the Indian government lawyers, and file 
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a class action suit. This would have given Chesley and Bailey full control of the 

case against UCC, as well as a large measure of control over and claim on the 

legal fees incidental to the settlement. Bailey and Chesleyôs controlling 

position was jolted slightly when UCC forced them to include in their new 

panel two Philadelphia lawyers who were bringing cases against UCC in the 

state courts: UCC insisted on this as it wished to end all state, as well as federal, 

court cases against the company in the USA. US chemical industry analysts 

were surprised by the low settlerftent figure when it was announced. Most had 

expected it to be in óthe $500 million to $700 million rangeô (New York Times, 

24 March 1986, p. Dl).  

Reaction to the announcement of the deal was swift. The Indian 

governmentôs US lawyer denounced it as a sell-out. Stanley Chesley publicly 

praised it. Two US lawyers, John Coale and Arthur Lowy, placed an 

advertisement in a Bhopal newspaper informing the readers the plan would 

result in the payment of around $25,000ð$66,000 per death claim. The 

settlement was denounced by the Indian government. Keenan 

dismissed the settlement on the basis that any valid settlement would require 

the involvement of the Indian government. In May 1986, Judge Keenan finally 

announced his judgement: the cases were to be transferred back to India. 

GETTING THE CAPITAL OUT 

One major criticism of Judge Keenanôs decision was made by US public- 

interest lawyer Robert Hager: óIf Judge Keenan was going to decide this, he 

didnôt have to wait over a year to do it. He gave Union Carbide time to divest 

itself of its assets.ô Thus UCC was able to get its capital out while the court case 

was in progress in the USA. In December 1985 UCC set out a major 

restructuring programme which led to a massive reduction in the assets UCC 

possessed from which to pay the Bhopal claims. While this restructuring was 

finally forced on UCC by its battle for management control with the GAF 

Corporation, the net result was the same. A large part of UCCôs capital base was 

sold off, major assets such as the consumer products division were divested and 

the proceeds distributed as a special dividend to the UCC shareholders; UCC 

also bought back stock from its shareholders. 

óI was surprised that the courts let Union Carbide go through with this 

reorganizationô, Paul Christopherson, chemical industry analyst with 

investment brokers Bear Stearns & Co., told Environment Action 
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(September/October 1986, p. 10). Christopherson cited the example of the A. 

H. Robins company, the maker of the Daikon Shield IUD contraceptive, which 

also faced potentially ruinous claims against it and which was under strict 

orders not to divest itself of any of its assets. Christophersonôs analogy is 

inappropriate, however, as the critical difference between UCC and A. H. 

Robins is that A. H. Robins filed for the protection of the US courts under 

Chapter 11 of the US bankruptcy code. This allows A. H. Robins the protection 

of the court while it makes reorganization plans and plans to meet the 

avalanche of claims against it. While the Chapter 11 filing allows Robins 

protection from court cases until its reorganization plan is completed, it also 

means control of the company passes to the courts. 

UCC had not placed itself under the protection and control of the US courts. 

While Judge Keenan may be criticized for allowing UCC to 

restructure by selling off a major part of its asset base, the blame for allowing 

the restructuring to proceed unchallenged lies with the US lawyers and the 

Indian government. Both the lawyers and the Indian government are much 

more open to criticism than is J udge Keenan, as neither filed to block UCCôs 

restructuring, though threats to do so were made once or twice. In the case of 

the individual US lawyers, this is no major surprise. Their conciliatory and 

co-operative approach to UCC, on the basis that the only way they would get 

their fees was through a negotiated agreement with UCC, meant that they 

could not threaten UCC in this manner. Similarly, the Indian government did 

not challenge UCCôs restructuring for the same reasons it had not attacked 

UCC too strenuously: it feared the effect on its recent policy of inviting 

multinational capital into India. 

While UCC planned a major restructuring after Bhopal, it was the battle for 

management control with the GAF Corporation in December 1985/January 

1986 that forced it into the major restructuring it finally undertook. This 

take-over bid and the jockeying for control of UC C added a bitter twist to an 

already bitter story. It provided us with a sickening example of the vile 

perversity of the owners and controllers of toxic capital in the USA. While two 

vultures fought over the carcass of UCC, one was playing tough in its 

negotiations with the Indian state over Bhopal and the other had no 

compunction about using the Bhopal issue as part of its takeover strategy. Thus 

Samuel Heyman, the chief executive officer of GAF who spearheaded the 

take-over bid for UCC, held up to UCC shareholders the illusory scenario that 
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he would move quickly to resolve the Bhopal suits as part of his take-over 

strategy. Though Heyman was reported to have put a high priority on settling 

the Bhopal suits, he had previously shown himself to be an extremely tough 

litigator. In December 1983, GAF had 12,000 asbestos-related suits pending 

against it. T. W. Henderson, who had fought GAF in asbestos-related court 

cases, noted that, óGAF fights to the bitter end.ô Business Week pointed out, óIt 

would be to Heymanôs advantage to have Carbideôs shareholders think he 

would move towards settlement more quickly than current management. ô 

During the battle with GAF, UCC handed out golden parachutes to its 

golden boys far more lavishly than it gave relief to the Bhopal victims. UCC 

directors had allowed, in the event of a successful hostile take-over $28 million 

for some forty-two top executives, $8.7 million of which was 

for its top five officials. Neither result of the battle boded well for the victims 

of Bhopal: Heyman intended funding his bid with high-risk junk bonds and 

intended selling off choice assets to pay for the take-over. UCC finally defeated 

Heyman by pursuing his strategy themselves, announcing their intention to 

sell their consumer-products division, which accounted for $1.9 billion of 

UCCôs $9.5 billion 1984 sales - a particularly profitable part of total sales. The 

cost of compensating the victims of Bhopal pales compared with the debts 

incurred in fighting the take-over, the legal and banking fees and golden 

parachutes. 

Beating off GAF doubled UCCôs debt to $4.5 billion and slashed its equity 

value to a quarter of what it had been. The new, highly leveraged, UCC was 

reliant on óhighly cyclical industrial businessesô with a ólow- growth mix of 

industrial gases, chemicals, and plasticsô. GAF came out of the battle with a 

gain of $200 million. After the battle, GAFôs merchant bankers and lawyers 

were owed $60 million. UCCôs bankers took at least $14 million, while 

Anderson complained, óWall Street is becoming a casino rather than an 

investment organization. ô UCC was forced into taking these moves by the 

changing composition of its shareholders: by December 1985, an estimated 30 

percent of UCC stock was in the hands of take-over speculators and 

arbitrageurs (institutions, according to Forbes magazine, recently described as 

the óhouse magazine of the richô, that would sell their mother if the price was 

right). Ownership by banks and other financial institutions sank to 35 percent 

from 60 percent in late 1984. 

The result of UCCôs restructuring was a company whose base had been 
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drastically curbed. R. S. Wishart, UCCôs vice-president for public affairs, said 

in August 1986 that UCCôs divestitures for 1984 to 1986 would reduce sales 

over 20 percent to $6.8 billion, while cutting assets by 27 percent and staff by 

roughly 50 percent. Business Week (2 June 1986, p. 52) estimated UCCôs assets 

had been cut from $4.9 billion at the end of 1984 to $697 million at the end of 

1985. At the end of March 1986, UCCôs debt was $5.5 billion, eight times its 

equity. Some $2.5 billion of this was in the form of debt paying high interest, 

varying from 13.5 to 15 percent over periods of seven to twenty years. In the 

first nine months of 1986, UCCôs interest bill reached $410 million, double the 

interest for the same period in the previous year (Business Week, 17 November 

1986, p. 49). This nine- monthsô interest bill was higher than the highest offer 

UCC had made to 

settle the Bhopal suits. The obscenity of these calculations is beyond comment. 

BACK TO I NDIA  

In May 1986 Judge Keenan finally settled the forum issue by sending the 

Bhopal cases back to India. He justified his decision on unusual grounds: any 

other decision, he said, ówould be yet another example of imperialismô and 

would órevive a history of subservience and subjugation from which India has 

emergedô. He attached three significant conditions to his judgement: UCG 

must agree to submit to the Indian courtsô jurisdiction; UCC must pay any 

damages awarded by the Indian courts; UCC must agree to participate in 

pre-trial discovery proceedings under US procedures, which are much broader 

than similar Indian legal procedures. 

Both sides claimed the judgement represented a victory for them. Indiaôs US 

lawyer, Michael Ciresi, told the New York Times (13 May 1986, p. D1), óThese 

conditions are the primary reasons why we came to the United States courts. 

We wanted to be sure Union Carbideôs assets were subject to any judgement we 

got and that the company submit to pre-trial discovery proceedings.ô In fact the 

judgement represented a partial victory for both sides. UCC got its wish to have 

the cases heard in India, though under more onerous conditions than it would 

have wished for. Having originally sought to have the cases heard in India, 

UCC were in a bad position to refuse the conditions Judge Keenan had 

imposed. Nevertheless, UCC requested sixty days to decide whether to accept 

Judge Keenanôs ruling. UCC was supported in this by the individual US 












































































































































































































































































































